UNIVERSIDADE ESTADUAL DE MARINGÁ CENTRO DE CIÊNCIAS AGRÁRIAS

β -mannanase on top of extruded diets for Nile Tilapia

Autor: Thaís Pereira da Cruz Orientador: Prof. Dr. Wilson Massamitu Furuya Coorientador: Prof. Dr. Férenc Istvan Bánkuti

> MARINGÁ Estado do Paraná Março - 2023

β -MANNANASE ON TOP OF EXTRUDED DIETS FOR NILE TILAPIA

Autor: Thaís Pereira da Cruz Orientador: Prof. Dr. Wilson Massamitu Furuya Coorientador: Prof. Dr. Férenc Istvan Bánkuti

> "Tese apresentada, como parte das exigências para obtenção do título de DOUTOR EM ZOOTECNIA, no Programa de Pós-Graduação em Zootecnia da Universidade Estadual de Maringá - Área de Concentração Produção Animal".

MARINGÁ Estado do Paraná Março - 2023

Dados Internacionais de Catalogação-na-Publicação (CIP)		
(Biblioteca Central - UEM, Maringá - PR, Brasil)		
Cruz, Thaís Pereira da		
ß-mannanase on top of extruded diets for nile tilapia / Thaís Pereira da Cruz		

C957m

Maringá, PR, 2023. 147 f.: il. color., figs., tabs.	
Orientador: Prof. Dr. Wilson Massamitu Furuya. Coorientador: Prof. Dr. Férenc Istvan Bánkuti. Tese (Doutorado) - Universidade Estadual de Maringá, Centro de Ciências Agrárias, Departamento de Zootecnia, Programa de Pós-Graduação em Zootecnia, 2023.	
 Oreochromis niloticus (Tilápia do Nilo). ß-mananase. Microbiota. Carboidrase. Furuya, Wilson Massamitu, orient. Bánkuti, Férenc Istvan, coorient. Universidade Estadual de Maringá. Centro de Ciências Agrárias. Departamento de Zootecnia. Programa de Pós-Graduação em Zootecnia. IV. Título. 	
CDD 23.ed 639.3774	(



UNIVERSIDADE ESTADUAL DE MARINGÁ CENTRO DE CIÊNCIAS AGRÁRIAS

β-MANNANASE IN EXTRUDED DIETS FOR NILE TILAPIA (Oreochromis niloticus)

Autora: Thais Pereira da Cruz Orientador: Prof. Dr. Wilson Massamitu Furuya

TITULAÇÃO: Doutora em Zootecnia - Área de Concentração Produção Animal

APROVADA em 24 de março de 2023.

Prof^a Dr^a Claudia Aragão



Prof. Dr. Luiz Vitor Oliveira Vidal



Prof^a Dr^a Lilian Dena dos Santos

Maniana Micheloto

Dr^a Mariana Michelato Kawakami

Documento assinado digitalmente WILSON MASSAMITU FURUYA Data: 25/03/2023 09:16:25-0300 Verifique em https://validar.iti.gov.br

Prof. Dr. Wilson Massamitu Furuya Orientador Que a força do medo que tenho, não me impeça de ver o que anseio Que a morte de tudo em que acredito, não me tape os ouvidos e a boca Pois metade de mim é o que eu grito; a outra metade é silêncio Que a música que ouço ao longe, seja linda ainda que tristeza Que o homem que amo seja pra sempre amado, mesmo que distante Pois metade de mim é partida, a outra metade é saudade Que as palavras que falo, não sejam ouvidas como prece, nem repetidas com fervor Apenas respeitadas, como a única coisa que resta a um homem inundado de sentimentos

Pois metade de mim é o que ouço, a outra metade é o que calo Que a minha vontade de ir embora, se transforme na calma e paz que mereço Que a tensão que me corrói por dentro, seja um dia recompensada Porque metade de mim é o que penso, a outra metade um vulcão Que o medo da solidão se afaste, e o convívio comigo mesmo se torne ao menos suportável

Que o espelho reflita meu rosto num doce sorriso, que me lembro ter dado na infância Pois metade de mim é a lembrança do que fui, a outra metade não sei Que não seja preciso mais do que uma simples alegria, pra me fazer aquietar o espírito E que o seu silêncio me fale cada vez mais, pois metade de mim é abrigo, a outra metade é cansaço Que a minha loucura seja perdoada Pois metade de mim é amor, e a outra metade também

Oswaldo Montenegro

A minha família, John Wesley Nazar da Cruz, Mirian Margarete Pereira Brisola, Diogo Machado, Ester Pereira e Anésia Nazar da Cruz[†], João Cipriano[†], por todo o amor, carinho, confiança e incentivo que foram fundamentais para que essa importante etapa da minha vida fosse concluída com sucesso. A vocês meu muito obrigado por estarem sempre comigo incentivando, ensinando, confiando e acima de tudo amando. A vocês pertence o meu amor, carinho, admiração e respeito incondicional. Serei eternamente grata por tudo que já fizeram, fazem e sei que ainda irão fazer pelo meu sucesso.

DEDICO

AGRADECIMENTOS

A Deus, por ter concedido saúde, força e sabedoria para a realização desse sonho; Ao meu orientador, Prof. Dr. Wilson Massamitu Furuya. Tenho muitas razões para acreditar que um dos grandes acontecimentos da minha vida foi exatamente esse. Poderia ter tido outros orientadores, mas não é disso que se trata, não é uma questão quantitativa. É simplesmente o fato de ter te conhecido, e nada mais, isso mudou minha vida completamente. Agradeço pela orientação, por ter sido tanto, por ter sido guia, amigo, quem incentiva a pensar antes de falar, por ter paciência para se manter em um país difícil para pesquisa, por ser um pilar da sociedade. Não é a toa que ser professor, é sinônimo de mestre. E depois de 11 anos de orientação, digo com o coração cheio de gratidão que, tu és toda minha sorte, minha loteria em forma de gente, obrigada;

Aos meus familiares, pais, marido, avós, avô e irmão, John Wesley Nazar da Cruz, Mirian Margarete Pereira Brisola, Diogo Machado, Ester Pereira, Anésia Nazar da Cruz[†], João Cipriano[†], e Wesley Pereira da Cruz por todo incentivo para estudar e finalizar essa fase;

Às mulheres da minha vida, hoje encontrei pedaços de mim, em mulheres gigantescas, que cruzaram meu caminho, estou mais inteira, graças a elas, ô sorte de têlas em minha vida, Mariana Michelato, Ana Lúcia Salaro, Helena Peres, Valéria R. B. Furuya, Patricia Thays e tantas outras que estiveram presentes em minha vida, obrigada por serem inspiração;

À BASF S.A., pela parceria, pelo fornecimento das enzimas utilizados na execução do experimento e pelo auxilio na realização das análises laboratoriais, agradecimento especial ao Sr. Bruno Wernick, consultor de serviços técnico da BASF S.A. *Nutrição animal* Maringá, Paraná.

Ao Coorientador Prof. Dr. Férenc Istvan Bánkuti, pela disponibilidade e colaborações;

Ao Dr. Giovani Sampaio Gonçalves, por todo auxílio com a preparação e extrusão das rações utilizados no experimento;

Ao Sérgio Malavazi (Alisul – Supra, Maringá, PR, Brasil), pela doação da ração utilizada no período de aclimatação dos peixes;

À Dra. Adriana Koga, por todo auxílio e apoio com análises laboratoriais, sua ajuda foi essencial para o desenvolvimento dessa pesquisa;

Ao eletricista Douglas, que sempre se fez disponível, nos auxiliando com o sistema de recirculação utilizado para o desenvolvimento da presente pesquisa;

Ao Programa de Pós-Graduação em Zootecnia da Universidade Estadual de Maringá – UEM;

À todos os professores do Programa de Pós-graduação em Zootecnia da Universidade Estadual de Maringá – UEM, por todos os ensinamentos repassados e pelas contribuições profissionais e pessoais compartilhadas;

Aos técnicos de laboratório do departamento de Zootecnia da Universidade Estadual de Ponta Grossa – UEPG Valquiria Nanuncio Choclel e Antônio do Espírito Santo Prado, pela disponibilidade, pelo apoio e por toda ajuda na realização das análises laboratoriais.

À CAPES, pela concessão de bolsa de doutorado.

À todos os colegas e amigos da Universidade Estadual de Ponta Grossa-UEPG.

BIOGRAFIA

THAÍS PEREIRA DA CRUZ, filha de John Wesley Nazar da Cruz e Mirian Margarete Pereira Brisola, nasceu em Ponta Grossa, no estado do Paraná, em 1994.

Em fevereiro de 2012 ingressou no curso de Zootecnia na Universidade Estadual do Ponta Grossa - UEPG, onde desde o dia 06 de fevereiro de 2012 esteve sob orientação do professor Dr. Wilson Massamitu Furuya realizando iniciação científica, e em agosto de 2017 obteve o título de ZOOTECNISTA.

No mês de setembro de 2017 ingressou no programa de Pós-graduação em Zootecnia na Universidade Estadual de Ponta Grossa, em nível de Mestrado, área de produção e nutrição de animais Não Ruminantes, sendo titulada como MESTRE EM ZOOTECNIA em fevereiro de 2020.

Iniciou os estudos em nível de doutorado no mês de março de 2020, no Programa de Pós-Graduação em Zootecnia, área de concentração Produção Animal, tendo como especialidade a área de aquicultura, na Universidade Estadual de Maringá - UEM, na cidade de Maringá, PR, em 22 de setembro de 2022, obteve a qualificação.

ÍNDICE

Página

TABLE	E LIST	ix
FIGUR	E LIST	xii
RESUN	4O	xvi
I –INTI	RODUCTION	1
1. LI	FERATURE REVIEW	1
1.1.	Tilapia production	1
1.2.	Non-starch polysaccharides in fish nutrition	2
1.3.	β-mannans	5
1.4.	Digesta viscosity	7
1.5.	Effects of β-mannans on nutrient utilization	
1.5	.2. Effect on glucose metabolism	9
1.5	.3. Effect on protein	9
1.5	.4. Effect on lipid	9
1.6.	Exogenous enzymes in fish nutrition	10
1.7.	β-mannanase	10
1.8.	Gut microbiome	14
1.8	.1 Factors affecting the microbiome in the gastrointestinal tract	16
1.8	.2. Physiological functions of the intestinal microbiota	17
1.9.	Short-Chain Fatty Acids	
1.10.	Intestinal morphology	23
1.11.	Considerations	24
REFER	RENCES	
2. OBJI	ECTIVES	
2.1. Spe	ecifc objectives	

plant-	based diet	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
A	BSTRACT:	
1.	Introduction	
2. M	aterial and methods	
2.	1. Ethics statement	
2.2	2. Diets	
2.1	3. Fish and Experimental Design	
2.4	4. Sample collection	
2.:	5 Chemical analysis	
2.	5 Calculations	
2.7	7. Digesta pH and viscosity	
2.3	8. Activity of digestive enzymes	
2.	9. Blood parameters	
2.	10. Short Chain Fatty Acids	
2.	11. Intestinal histology	
2.	12. Microbiome	
2.	13. Statistical analysis	
3. R	esults	
3.	1. Growth performance	
3.2	2. Whole-body composition	
3.	3. Activity of digestive enzymes	
3.4	4. Blood parameters	
3.:	5. Short chain fatty acids, viscosity, and pH of feces	
3.	5. Gut morphometry	
3.	7. Gut microbiota population characteristics	
4. D	iscussion	
5. C	onclusions	
REFE	RENCES	
СНАР	TER III	••••••
Article	e II - Effects of β -mannanase on fecal viscosity, dig	estibility of nutrients, a
uigesti tilania	ble energy and protein contents in soydean meal-ric	in allets lea to juvenile f
1.	Introduction	
2.	1. Ethics statement	
2.1	2. Diets	

APPENDICES	
CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS	
REFERENCES	
5. Conclusions	
4. Discussion	
3.5. Principal component analysis	
3.4. Digestible energy and protein	
3.3. Digestibility of amino acids	
3.2. Digestibility of energy and nutrients	
3.1. Fecal pH and viscosity	
3. Results	
2.7. Statistical analysis	
2.6. Fecal pH and viscosity	97
2.5. Digestibility measurements	96
2.4. Chemical composition	96
2.3. Fish and Experimental Design	

TABLE LIST

Table 1. Classification of non-starch polysaccharides
Table 2. Factors responsible for anti-nutritive effects of non-starch polysaccharides4
Article I - Effect of dietary β-mannanase on growth performance, digesta viscosity,
short-chain fatty acid, gut morphology, and microbiome of juvenile Nile tilapia fed
plant-based diet41
Table 1. Ingredients composition of the experimental diets (g kg ⁻¹ diet)46
Table 2. Analyzed composition of the basal diet (g kg ⁻¹ dry matter basis)48
Table 3. Growth performance of juvenile Nile tilapia fed diets with graded levels of β - mannanase for 8 weeks ¹
Table 4 Whole-body composition ($g kg^{-1}$) of juvenile Nile tilania fed diets with graded
levels of β -mannanase for 8 weeks ¹ 58
Table 5. Blood parameters of juvenile Nile tilapia fed diets with graded levels of β -
mannanase for 8 weeks ¹
Table 6. Digestive enzymes in the gut of juvenile Nile tilapia fed diets with graded levels
of β -mannanase for 8 weeks ¹
Table 7. Summary of the sequences used in taxonomic classification
Table 8. Top 20 bacterial genera abundance of juvenile Nile tilapia fed diets with graded
levels of β-mannanase for 8 weeks ¹ 67
Table 9. Intestinal morphology of juvenile Nile tilapia fed diets with graded levels of β -
mannanase for 8 weeks ¹
Table 10. Short-chain fatty acids, viscosity, and gut pH of juvenile Nile tilapia fed diets
with graded levels of β -mannanase for 8 weeks ¹ 74
Article II - Effect of β -mannanase in soybean meal-rich diets on digesta viscosity,
digestible energy, and amino acid digestibility in juvenile Nile tilapia88
Table 1. Ingredients composition of the experimental diets $(g kg^{-1} diet)$
Table 2. Analyzed composition of the basal diet ($g kg^{-1} dry matter basis$)
Table 3. Effect of graded levels of β -mannanase on the apparent digestibility coefficients
of gross energy and nutrients in juvenile Nile tilapia101
Table 4. Effect of graded levels of β -mannanase on the apparent digestibility coefficients
of essential amino acids in juvenile Nile tilapia ¹ 103

FIGURE LIST

I - LITERATURE REVIEW
Figure 1. General structure of the main classes of β-mannan5
Figure 2. Primary structure of galactomannans
Figure 3. Primary structure of glucomannans
Figure 4. Sources of mannans
Figure 5. Representation of viscosity dynamics in different liquids
Figure 6. Natupulse [®] TS is an NSPs enzyme. As an endo-1,4-β-D-mannanase, it
hydrolyzes β-mannans into smaller particles11
Figure 7. Natupulse [®] TS reducing the viscosity of digesta
Figure 8. Natupulse® TS supports an increase in permeability of intact soybean cell
walls
Figure 9. Natupulse® TS cleaves ß-mannans resulting in mannan-oligosaccharides
(MOS)14
Figure 10. Intrinsic (red box) and extrinsic factors (yellow box) can alter the gut
microbiota (green box) and its downstream effects on the fish host15
Figure 11. Schematic representation of the gut-associated lymphoid tissue17
Figure 12. Factors influencing the diversity and function of the gut microbiome of
fish18
Figure 13. Overview of the gut-microbiota-brain axis in feeding and digestion19
Figure 14. Synthesis pathways of SCFAs and the primary role in carbohydrate and lipid
metabolism21
Figure 15. Overview of the production of acetate, propionate, and butyrate by microbial
fermentation in the intestine
Figure 16. Potential mechanisms of action of MOS in pathogen colonization
inhibition24
Article I - Effect of dietary β -mannanase on growth performance, digesta viscosity,
short-chain fatty acid, gut morphology, and microbiome of juvenile Nile tilapia fed
plant-based diet41
Figure 1. Feed efficiency ratio of juvenile Nile tilapia fed diets with graded levels of β -
mannanase. Each dot triangle represents mean value of 21 fish as replicate aquarium.
Orthogonal polynomials were used to evaluate quadratic responses to the levels of β -

mannanase. Means with asterisks superscripts differ significantly from control diet (β-Figure 2. Villus height (VH), villus width (VW), and villus:width relation (VWR) of the medium intestine wall of juvenile Nile tilapia fed either diet control, not supplemented (control) or supplemented with β -mannanase 4800 TMU kg⁻¹. Objective: 40×. Staining: Figure 3. General view of the taxonomic composition of the bacterial community of juvenile Nile tilapia fed diets with graded levels of β -mannanase at the phylum level using a stacked plot. Data represent the means of four replicate cages of 21 fish each......71 Figure 4. Principal component analysis (PCA) of the phylum of the gut bacterial communities of Nile tilapia diets with graded levels of β -mannanase. The figure was constructed using the Bray-Curtis distance method and represents the phylogenetic distance between samples, a summary of the bacterial composition. Each point represents the entire microbiota in four replicate cages. Distant points indicate more different microbiotas......72 Figure 5. Box plot comparing the differences between the main phylum observed in the gut of juvenile Nile tilapia fed diets with graded levels of β -mannanase. (A) Proteobacteria; (B) Fusobacteria; (C) Bacteroidetes; (D) Firmicutes; (E) Actinobacteria; (F) Others phylum. The black lozenge dot on the boxplot's right side indicate each treatment's mean values, while the boxplots show the lower, median, and upper quartiles. Means not sharing a common letter differs significantly by Kruskall-Wallis test Article II - Effect of β-mannanase in soybean meal-rich diets on digesta viscosity, Figure 1. Fitted orthogonal polynomial contrast for quadratic and linear plots of digesta pH (A; quadratic) and viscosity (B; linear) content as a function of the level of supplemented β-mannanase on top of diets fed to juvenile Nile tilapia. Each dot point **Figure 2.** Effect of graded levels of β -mannanase on the digestible energy (DE) and digestible protein (DP) content of diets fed to juvenile Nile tilapia. Each dot point represents mean value of 21 fish as replicate. Orthogonal polynomials were used to evaluate quadratic responses to the levels of β -mannanase. Means within a row with asterisks superscripts differ significantly from control diet (β -mannanase = 0 TMU kg⁻¹ Figure 3. Principal component analysis (PCA) of the main effects affecting the apparent digestibility coefficients of Nile tilapia-fed diets with graded levels of β -mannanase. The figure was constructed using the Bray-Curtis distance method and represents the distance between samples, a summary of the main effects composition. Each point represents the entire treatment in four replicate cages. Distant points indicate more different APPENDICES......121 Appendix A. Illustration n of the experimental recirculation aquaculture system – RAS (A), fish utilized (B), and extruded diet (C) employed in the growth and digestibility

APPENDICES LIST

Appendix A. Illustration n of the experimental recirculation aquaculture system – RAS (A), fish utilized (B), and extruded diet (C) employed in the growth and digestibility Appendix B. Illustration of the feeding allowance (A) and feces collection management (B; C) management employed in the growth and digestibility assay......122 **Appendix C.** Illustration of the digesta viscosity in fish fed the control diet without (A1) or with 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ β -mannanase (A2), centrifugation of feces to obtain the supernatant for determining the digesta viscosity (B, C), and the viscosity analysis performed using a Brookfield Digital Viscometer (D), in the growth and digestibility assay......123 Appendix D. Illustrations showing the fish dissection (A), the collection of visceral fat and liver contents (B), and an overview of the sample collection process (C) of visceral Appendix E. Illustrations showing the collection of digesta for short-chain fatty acids and microbiome analysis (A), the collection of a middle intestine portion for morphological analysis (B), and the preservation of samples for short-chain fatty acids and microbiome analysis by freezing in liquid nitrogen (C).....124

RESUMO

RESUMO: Dois experimentos foram conduzidos para avaliar os efeitos da suplementação de níveis crescentes de β -mananase no desempenho, saúde intestinal, microbioma e coeficientes de digestibilidade aparente (CDA) em juvenis de tilápia do Nilo (Oreochromis niloticus) alimentados com dietas à base de ingredientes de origem vegetal. O primeiro experimento teve como objetivo avaliar os efeitos dos níveis crescentes de βmananase no desempenho, composição corporal, viscosidade e pH da digesta, atividade das enzimas digestivas, parâmetros sanguíneos, teor de ácidos graxos de cadeia curta da digesta, morfologia intestinal e microbioma. Os peixes (n = 504; peso corporal 7,0 ± 0,43 g) foram distribuídos aleatoriamente em 24 aquários de 70 L cada, em sistema de aquicultura de recirculação, em delineamento inteiramente casualizado com seis tratamentos e quatro repetições de 21 peixes por aquário. Os peixes foram alimentados com dietas com níveis crescentes de β -mananase de (0 (controle); 1600; 3200; 4800; 6400; 8000 TMU kg⁻¹) e alimentados manualmente 12 vezes ao dia, durante oito semanas. Peixes alimentados com dieta com 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ de β -mananase apresentaram menor viscosidade da digesta (-25,8%) e maior atividade das enzimas amilase (+61,2%), protease (+25,4%) e lipase (+47,7%), e aumentou o ganho de peso (+5,4%) e a taxa de eficiência alimentar (+12,1%) do que os peixes alimentados com a dieta controle. A β -mananase na dieta de 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ aumentou o teor de ácido butírico (+63,3%) e baixou o pH intestinal (-8,2%), enquanto aumentou a altura total das vilosidades (+40,4%) dos peixes em relação aos peixes alimentados com a dieta controle.

Peixes alimentados com dieta com 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ de β -mananase apresentaram maior abundância de bactérias benéficas, Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria e Firmicutes. Além disso, reduziu significativamente a população de bactérias potencialmente nocivas (*Escherichia*). Concluiu-se que a β -mananase na dieta de 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ reduz a viscosidade da digesta, aumenta a atividade das enzimas digestivas e, consequentemente, melhora a digestibilidade e o desempenho, bem como aumenta a produção de ácidos graxos de cadeia curta, a morfologia intestinal e modula positivamente a microbiota intestina. O segundo estudo foi realizado com o objetivo de determinar a viscosidade e o pH das fezes e, posteriormente, os efeitos no CDA de energia e nutrientes, incluindo aminoácidos em juvenis de tilápia do Nilo alimentados com dietas com níveis crescentes de β -mananase na dieta. Os peixes (n = 504; peso corporal 7,0 ± 0,43 g) foram distribuídos aleatoriamente em aquários de 24 com 70 L em sistema de recirculação, em delineamento inteiramente casualizado com seis tratamentos e quatro repetições de 21 peixes por aquário. Os peixes foram alimentados com dietas com níveis crescentes de β-mananase (0; 1600; 3200; 4800; 6400; 8000 TMU kg⁻¹) e alimentados manualmente 12 vezes ao dia durante oito semanas. O óxido de cromo foi usado como um marcador indigerível. Peixes alimentados com a dieta com β -mananase a 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ apresentaram redução da viscosidade fecal (-77,1%) e pH (-11,1%), além da otimização da energia bruta CDA (+7,2%), proteína bruta (+3,5%), lípideo bruto (+1,2%), cinzas (+19,7%), aminoácido essencial (+4,0%) e aminoácido não essencial (+3,4%). Além disso, aumentou a energia digestível (+7,23%) e a proteína digestível (+3,54%). A análise dos componentes principais mostra que a viscosidade e o pH das fezes têm uma correlação forte e negativa no CDA de matéria seca, energia bruta, lipídeo bruto, proteína bruta, cinzas, EAA e NEAA. Concluiu-se que a β -mananase no nível de 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ na dieta melhora a digestibilidade da energia e nutrientes, incluindo aminoácidos, reduzindo a viscosidade da digesta. No geral, nossos resultados sugerem que a dieta de 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ de β mananase melhora a digestibilidade, o desempenho de crescimento e a saúde intestinal de juvenis de tilápia do Nilo. O uso de β-mananase pode contribuir para a aplicação do conceito de nutrição de precisão mais eficiente, sustentável e econômica.

Palavras-chave: carboidrases, digestibilidade de aminoácidos, saúde intestinal, microbiota, *Oreochromis niloticus*, polissacarídeos não amiláceos, viscosidade da digesta.

ABSTRACT

ABSTRACT: Two experiments were carried out to evaluate the effects of graded β mannanase supplementation on growth performance, gut health, microbiome, and apparent digestibility coefficients (ADC) in juvenile Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus) fed plant-based diets. The first experiment aimed to evaluate the effects of graded β mannanase levels on growth performance, whole-body composition, digesta viscosity, and pH, the activity of digestive enzymes, blood parameters, digesta short-chain fatty acid content, and gut morphology and microbiome. Fish (n = 504; body weight 7.0 ± 0.43 g) were randomly distributed in 24 aquaria of 70 L each, in a recirculation aquaculture system, in a completely randomized design with six treatments and four replicates of 21 fish per aquarium. Fish were fed diets with graded β -mannanase levels of (0, 1600; 3200; 4800; 6400; 8000 TMU kg⁻¹) and hand-fed 12 times a day for eight weeks. Fish fed diet with a 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ β -mannanase showed lower digesta viscosity (-25.8%), and higher activity of amylase (+61.2%), protease (+25.4%) and lipase (+47.7%) enzymes, and increased weight gain (+5.4%) and feed efficiency ratio (+12.1%) than fish fed fed diet control. β -mannanase at 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ diet increased butyric acid content (+63.3%) and lowered gut pH (-8.2%), while increased total villus height (+40.4%) of fish relative to that fed diet control. Fish fed diet with 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ β -mannanase showed higher abundance of beneficial bacteria, Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria, and Firmicutes. In addition, it significantly reduced the population of potential harmful bacteria (*Escherichia*). It was concluded that β -mannanase at 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ diet reduces

viscosity, and activity of digestive enzymes and consequently improves growth digestibility and growth performance, as well increases production of short-chain fatty acids, intestinal morphology and positively modulates the intestinal microbiota population. The second study was carried out with the objective of determining the digesta viscosity and pH and subsequently effects on ADC of energy and nutrientes, including amino acids in juvenile Nile tilapia fed diets with graded levels of β -mannanase in the diet. Fish (n = 504; body weight 7.0 \pm 0.43 g) were randomly distributed in 24-70 L aquaria in water recirculation system, in a completely randomized design with six treatments and four replications of 21 fish per aquarium. Fish were fed diets with increasing levels of β -mannanase (0; 1600; 3200; 4800; 6400; 8000 TMU kg⁻¹) and handfed 12 times a day for eight weeks. Chromium oxide was used as an indigestible marker. Fish fed a diet with β -mannanase at 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ showed reduced fecal viscosity (-77.1%) and pH (-11.1%), while optimized gross energy ADC (+7.2%), crude protein (+3.5%), crude lipid (+1.2%), ash (+19.7%), essential amino acid (+4.0%) and nonessential amino acid (+3.4%). In addition, increased digestible energy (+7.2%) and digestible protein (+ 3.5%). The PCA analysis shows that viscosity and pH of feces have a strong and negative correlation within ADC of dry matter, gross energy, crude lipid, crude protein, ash, and EAA and NEAA. It was concluded that β -mannanase at the level of 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ in the diet improves digestibility of energy, and nutrients, including amino acids, by reducing digesta viscosity. Overall, these suggested that β -mannanase 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ diet improves digestibility, growth performance and gut health of juvenile Nile tilapia. The use of β -mannanase can lead to contributing to the application of the concept of precision nutrition for more efficient, sustainable, and economical tilapia farming.

Keywords: carbohydrases, amino acid digestibility, gut health, microbiota, *Oreochromis niloticus*, non-starch polysaccharides, digesta viscosity.

I-INTRODUCTION

According to the United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization, the world population is projected to reach 9.7 billion in 2050, representing a 25% increase from 2020 (FAO, 2022). This projected population growth highlights the need for both increased productivity and sustainable practices to meet future food demand (Valenti et al., 2018). In this regard, Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus) ranks second in the world's most cultured freshwater fish species, with Brazil being the fourth largest producer (FAO, 2022). One of the significant challenges for all research in this field is that the intensification of tilapia farming raises a critical issue: more meaningful use of plant ingredients, focusing on the use of ingredients that do not compete with human food (Souza et al., 2021; Valenti et al., 2018). This approach has several limitations, as plantderived ingredients possess a wide range of anti-nutritional factors, including phytin, protease inhibitors, and non-starch polysaccharides (NSPs) (Jiang et al., 2021). Notably, soybean meal, one of the most commonly used vegetable ingredients in aquafeeds, contains substantial amounts of NSPs (Faustino et al., 2021; Khalifa et al., 2018). It is well known that NSPs such as β -mannans cause several adverse effects on nutrient utilization, mainly by increasing digesta viscosity. Thus, tools are needed to minimize such adverse effects (Castillo and Gatlin, 2015; Chen et al., 2016; Sinha et al., 2011).

Exogenous enzymes are promising to improve the sustainability of industrialscale tilapia culture by reducing the impact of non-retained nutrients, besides the antinutritional factors present in aquafeeds (Nguyen et al., 2020; Staessen et al., 2020). Particularly, β -mannanase may be helpful to elaborate environmentally sustainable diets for fish farming following sustainability principles (Castillo and Gatlin, 2015). Therefore, this study involved evaluations of viscosity and pH of digesta, growth performance, digestibility, digestive enzymes levels, short-chain fatty acids (SCFA) production, gut morphometry, and microbiome modulation by supplementing graded levels effects of β mannanase on-top of vegetable-based diet fed to Nile tilapia.

1. LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1. Tilapia production

Tilapia is the second most widely farmed fish species globally, thus, it is a subject of particular importance in the production chain (FAO, 2022). According to the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO, 2022), global tilapia

2

production increased by 2% in 2021, reaching approximately 6.25 million tons. Additionally, Indonesia produced 1.4 million tons in 2022, followed by Egypt, which for the first time, surpassed 1 million tons. Brazil, in fourth place, produced 534,000 tons in 2021 (FAO, 2022).

Brazilian fish farming increased by 5.93% in 2020 compared to 2019, with tilapia leading such growth (FAO, 2022). There are approximately 70 species of tilapia, but only 10 of them are cultivated around the world (FAO, 2022). Noteworthy, Nile tilapia, Mozambique tilapia (*O. mossambicus*), Blue tilapia (*O. aureus*), Mango tilapia (*Sarotherodon galilaeus galilaeus*), Blackchin tilapia (*S. melanotheron*), Longfin tilapia (*O. macrochir macrochir*), Redbelly tilapia (*Tilapia zilli*), Redbreast tilapia (*Tilapia rendalli*), Sabaki tilapia (*O. spirulus spirulus*) and Three spotted tilapia (*O. andersonii*) are among top ten most cultured tilapia fish species (Zimmermann, Fitzsimmons, 2004). The first fish specimens were brought to Brazil in 1971, and the rapid expansion of aquaculture, was the catalyst for the growth of the tilapia industry around the world (Valenti et al., 2021).

Nile tilapia is the second most farmed freshwater fish species due to its adaptability to a wide range of culture systems and environments, ranging from extensive low-input pond culture to intensive recirculating systems (Carneiro et al., 2022). Alternative feed ingredients at reasonable prices have been proposed to maintain stable costs of fish farming and promote sustainable tilapia aquaculture (Doan et al., 2020; El-Sayed, 2020). Nile tilapia is a fish species that possess omnivorous feeding habit, accepts artificial food from the larval stage, exhibits rapid growth, and lean meat (Schader et al., 2015). This fish species can partially digest soluble carbohydrates and convert them into energy that benefits fish's growth performance (NRC, 2011; Van Doan et al., 2019). However, further studies are needed to evaluate the potential of exogenous carbohydrases in Nile tilapia diets to promote more economically and environmentally sustainable fish farming.

1.2.Non-starch polysaccharides in fish nutrition

NSPs encompass a wide variety of polysaccharide molecules, excluding α glucans (starch) (Thitipraphunkul et al., 2003). They are primarily comprise of linked monomers of hexoses and pentoses such as galactose, glucose, arabinose, xylose, and mannose (van Barneveld, 1999). Historically, the classification of NSPs was based on the methodology used to extract and isolate polysaccharides (Choct, 1997). In 1973, a more precise classification of NSPs into three main groups was proposed: cellulose, non-cellulosic polymers, and polysaccharides. Arabinoxylans, mixed-linked β -glucans, mannans, and xyloglucan fall into the category of non-cellulosic polymers (Bailey and Hunt, 1973), as shown in Table 1.

Category	Monomeric residue	Linkage	Sources
Cellulose	Glucose	β-(1 → 4)	Most cereals
			and legumes
Non-cellulosic poly	mers		
Arabinoxylans	Arabinose and Xylose	β -(1 \rightarrow 4)-linked	Wheat, rye,
		xylose units	barley, oat,
			rice,
			sorghum
Mixed-linked β-	Glucose	β -(1 \rightarrow 3) and β -	Oat and
glucans		(1→4)	barley
Mannans	Mannose	β-(1 → 4)	Coffee seed
Galactomannans	Galactose and	β -(1 \rightarrow 4)-linking	Locust bean
	mannans	mannan chains with	gum ad guar
		α -(1 \rightarrow 6)-linked	gum
		galactosyl side	
		groups	
Glucomannans	Glucose and mannans	β -(1 \rightarrow 4)-linked	Sugar-beet
		mannan chain with	pulp, lilies,
		interspersed glucose	irises
		residues in the main	
		chain	

Table 1. Classification of non-starch polysaccharides.

Adapted: (Sinha et al., 2011).

NSPs are an integrated part of the cell wall of plant ingredients and in a purified soluble form (Liu et al., 2022). In general, NSPs fraction such as β -glucans, β -xylans, and β -mannans remains undigested by fish (Castillo and Gatlin, 2015). The adverse effect is associated with various physiological and morphological factors affecting digesta viscosity, digestibility, growth performance, digestive enzymes activity, blood parameters, SCFA production, gut morphology and intestinal microbiota (Table 2).

Factors	Effects	References
Changes in	• Reduced mixing of digestive	(Amirkolaie et al.,
digesta	enzymes and substrates	2005; Choct et al.,
viscosity	• Hindered effective interaction	1996; Hossain et al.,
	of digestive enzyme at the intestinal	2003; Ikegami et al.,
	mucosal surface	1990; Leenhouwers et
	• Increased residence time of	al., 2007b, 2007a)
	the digesta	
	• Impaired nutrient digestion	
	and absorption	
	• Reduced animal performance	
Alteration in the	• Reduced rate of gastric	(Angkanaporn et al.,
gastric	emptying	1994; Bach Knudsen,
emptying and	• Delayed intestinal absorption	2001; Choct et al.,
rate of passage	of glucose.	1996; Hossain et al.,
	• Reduced plasma cholesterol	2003; Leenhouwers et
	and glucose levels	al., 2007b, 2007a;
	C .	Potkins et al., 1991;
		Rainbird and Low,
		1986; Refstie et al.,
		1999)
Alteration in the	• Decreased size and length of	(Iii et al 2001: Iin et
gut morphology	digestive organs	al. 1994: Leenhouwers
gut morphology	Reduced concentrations of	et al., 2006: Nabuurs.
	DNA in jejunum ileum and liver	1998)
	indicating programmed cell death	,
	• Reduced villi length	
	• Increased depth of intestinal	
	crypts in jejunum and ileum	
Alteration in the	• Enhanced short-chain fatty	(Amirkolaie et al
native gut	acids, such as acetic acid. propionic	2006; Leenhouwers et
microflora	and butyric acids, production	al., 2007a, 2007b)
	• Lower pH of intestinal tract:	
	in long term may disturb the normal	
	microbiota prevailing in gut	
	• Decreased oxygen tension.	
	favoring development of anaerobic	
	microbiota	

Table 2. Factors responsible for anti-nutritive effects of non-starch polysaccharides.

Adapted: (Sinha et al., 2011).

Of note, NSPs are considered to have low nutritional value for fish because of their low digestibility and anti-nutritional characteristics (Kabir et al., 2020). Previous studies have shown that the type of NSPs can affect fish performance differently (Jiang et al., 2021; Wang et al., 2022). Although previous researches have made much effort,

the underlying mechanisms of NSPs on nutrient digestibility, including amino acids, still not fully understood.

1.3. β-mannans

 β -mannans are long-chain NSPs mainly composed of mannose residues found in the most diverse sources, such as vegetables and microorganisms, that remain unchanged after heat treatments, such as drying or roasting grains (Tester and Al-Ghazzewi, 2013). In plants, mannans and heteromannans are essential components of the hemicellulose family and are classified into four subfamilies according to their monosaccharide composition: pure mannans (containing only mannose); glucomannans; galactomannans and galactoglucomannans (Singh et al., 2018), as shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1. General structure of the main classes of β -mannan (La Rosa et al., 2019).

Galactomannans are composed of mannan chains linked to β -(1,4) with α -(1,6) galactosyl side groups (McCleary, 1986) (Figure 2). Galactomannans are reserve polysaccharides in the endosperm of legume seeds that possess the characteristic of water solubility and the ability to absorb water, thus providing water retention in the grains

(Reid, 1985). The mannose-galactose ratio, which can range from 1 to 5, may affect galactomannans' solubility and viscosity properties (Daas et al., 2000).



Figure 2. Primary structure of galactomannans (Ebringerová, 2005; Sinha et al., 2011).

Glucomannans are in smaller amounts in cereal grains (Fincher and Stone, 1986) and are polysaccharides found in seeds, mainly of annual cycle plants (Meier and Reid, 1982). Additionally, glucomannans are found in many bulbs, roots, and tubers of many other plants. A previous study has evidenced that galactomannans are soluble in water and are composed of a mannan chain linked to β -(1,4) with glucose residues interspersed in the main chain (Sinha et al., 2011) (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Primary structure of glucomannans (Ebringerová, 2005; Sinha et al., 2011).

The content of soluble β -mannans in different ingredients varies by more than 5% (Faustino et al., 2021). Of note, the β -mannans content is relatively high (in soybean and sunflower meal (~0.6%) and up to 7% in palm kernel meal, as shown in Figure 4.



Figure 4. Sources of mannans in vegetable ingredients and microorganisms (Faustino et al., 2021; Olaniyi and Omotere, 2013; Singh et al., 2018).

Previous studies in broilers, pigs, and other monogastric animals have indicated that β -mannan can promote increased digesta viscosity, reduce nutrient digestibility, and negatively impact gut microbiota, SCFAs production, and gut health (Browne et al., 2019; Rainbird et al., 1986). These findings suggest that exogenous β -mannan may not be beneficial for improving digestibility and growth performance in fish.

1.4.Digesta viscosity

Digesta viscosity is influenced by the chemical structure and association of NSPs with cell wall components (Figure 5). The physical effect of high viscosity has deleterious effects on nutrient digestion and absorption (Sternemalm et al., 2008).



Figure 5. Representation of viscosity dynamics in different liquids (Prasad and Srikant, 2013).

Previous reports confirmed that NSPs from cereals could increase digesta viscosity impair digestibility in Nile tilapia and African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) (Leenhouwers et al., 2007b, 2007a). Similarly, early work evidenced that common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) fed galactomannan-rich diets showed increased gut digesta viscosity, compromising digestion and absorption of nutrients (Hossain et al., 2003).

1.5. Effects of β -mannans on nutrient utilization

1.5.1. Digestibility of nutrients

 β -mannans increase digesta viscosity and reduce nutrient digestibility, and the deleterious effects may vary according to fish species, size, and diet composition (Dawood and Shi, 2022; Sinha et al., 2011). Increasing the digesta viscosity of the liquid phase acts as a barrier to the availability of nutrients and increases the rate of passage of digesta through the digestive tract (Bach Knudsen, 2001). Noteworthy, increased digesta viscosity reduces activity of digestive enzymes in a viscous solution and nutrient flux in the mucous layer (Balasubramanian et al., 2018). Increased endogenous nutrient losses and increased thickness of the layer of unstirred water adjacent to the mucosa also lead to decreased digestion and absorption of nutrients (Lange, 2000; Leenhouwers et al., 2007b). These suggested that increased digesta viscosity may reduce nutrient digestion and absorption.

1.5.2. Effect on glucose metabolism

The presence of β -mannans in the diet of monogastric animals, including fish, has been reported to delay intestinal absorption of glucose (Sinha et al., 2011). For example, African catfish fed diets containing 400 g kg⁻¹ rye showed decreased plasma glucose levels than fish fed diets without rye inclusion (Leenhouwers et al., 2007a). Previous work evidenced that inclusion of guar galactomannans and alginates as sources of NSPs, reduced glucose availability in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) compared to fish diets without guar gum and alginates inclusion (Storebakken et al., 1998).

1.5.3. Effect on protein

The presence of non-starch polysaccharides (NSPs), such as β -mannans, in fish diets has been shown to negatively impact protein and amino acid digestibility. Leenhouwers et al. (2006) investigated the effects of guar gum, an NSPs-rich ingredient, on digestibility in fish. The study found that inclusion of guar gum at levels of 40 and 80 g kg⁻¹ diet increased digesta viscosity and a corresponding decrease in the apparent digestibility coefficient of protein. Previous research also observed reduced protein digestibility in trout fed diets containing guar gum, a high-mannan feed ingredient (Morken et al., 2011). Another study reported that African catfish fed a diet containing high-viscosity rye had a more significant protein digestibility reduction than those fed low-viscosity wheat (Leenhouwers et al., 2006). These findings suggest that the viscosity of digesta can directly impact protein and amino acid digestibility. Further research is needed to understand the effects of different levels of NSPs-rich ingredients and different fish species on digestibility of protein and amino acids.

1.5.4. Effect on lipid

In addition to increased intestinal viscosity, β -mannans modify intestinal functions, impairing endogenous secretion of water, proteins, electrolytes, and lipids (Angkanaporn et al., 1994). NSPs can increase bile acid secretion and result in a significant loss of bile acids in the feces (Ikegami et al., 1990). This can result in increased hepatic synthesis of bile acids from cholesterol to restore homeostasis, influencing absorption of lipids and cholesterol in the intestine, thereby dropping blood cholesterol levels (Hossain et al., 2003). Additionally, β -mannans can influence lipid metabolism in the intestine through binding with bile salts, lipids, and cholesterol

(Ouwehand et al., 2009). β -mannans can trap bile salts, thus reducing their efficiency in fat solubilization and, consequently, impairing lipid absorption (Ebihara and Schneeman, 1989). Besides that, the increased digesta viscosity caused by β -mannans negatively affects lipid emulsification and consequently promotes reduced lipolysis (Pasquier et al., 1996).

1.6. Exogenous enzymes in fish nutrition

The use of exogenous enzymes or enzyme complexes in fish nutrition, can improve growth performance, increase digestibility, and contribute to the reduction of nutrient excretion in the aquatic environment, positively impacting the water quality of production systems (Magalhães et al., 2016). Carbohydrases encompass all enzymes that catalyze a reduction in the molecular weight of polymeric carbohydrates, with over 80% of the global carbohydrase market being accounted for by two dominant proteins, xylanase and glucanases (Castillo and Gatlin, 2015). Despite this, the use of carbohydrases in aquaculture has not been widespread, despite its positive effects (Castillo and Gatlin, 2015). Studies that have been conducted with the use of carbohydrates in aquatic species have shown that supplementation of exogenous carbohydrase in fish fed plant-based diets improves nutrient digestibility and reduces nutrient excretion (Kiarie et al., 2021). Although some fish species are generally known for their inefficient metabolism of glucose, the use of carbohydrases can have positive effects not only on carbohydrate digestibility but also on protein and lipid digestibility of plant-based foods (Sinha et al., 2011). Based on promising results and opportunities found in aquaculture fish species, further attention should be devoted to this matter as it could be a tool to increase the use of plant-based feeds and ensure aquaculture sustainability.

1.7. β -mannanase

Endo-1,4- β -mannanase is a crucial carbohydrase for the depolymerization of mannans, glucomannans, galactomannans, and galactoglucomannans. This enzyme catalyzes through the random hydrolysis of β -1,4-mannan bonds in the mannan backbone (Stålbrand et al., 1993). Endo-1,4- β -mannanase releases linear and branched chains of mannan oligosaccharides or mannan oligosaccharides of various lengths, and these are hydrolyzed to β -mannosidase and α -galactosidase monomers. Its action causes

a rapid decrease in the viscosity of polysaccharide solutions, increasing the polymer accessibility with other enzymes (Kremnický and Biely, 1997) (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Natupulse[®] TS is an NSPs enzyme. As an endo-1,4- β -mannanase, it hydrolyzes β -mannans into smaller particles (Choct et al., 2010; Hsiao et al., 2006; Knudsen, 2014; Shastak et al., 2015; Slominski, 2011).

Natupulse[®] TS is a carbohydrase, more specifically, an endo-1,4- β -mannanase, developed by BASF, and it hydrolyzes β -mannans into smaller particles. This β -mannanase has various effects on viscosity, growth pergormance, digestibility, intestinal microbiota, SCFAs production, and intestinal health in distinct species, such as poultry, turkey, swine, and fish (Kiarie et al., 2021). The main mechanism of action of β -mannanase is:

• Reduction of digesta viscosity:

Studies on monogastric animals have shown that reduced digesta viscosity due to NSPs-degrading enzyme supplementation is the main factor responsible for the observed enhanced performance response on feeding plant materials rich in NSPs (Latham et al., 2015; Leenhouwers et al., 2007a, 2006; Zhang et al., 2021). In this sense, by reducing viscosity, the digesta can flow more easily through the gut, allowing for greater contact between digestive enzymes, thereby increasing nutrient absorption (Sinha et al., 2011). Additionally, reducing viscosity can promote beneficial gut microbes' growth, which are essential for optimal gut health and overall animal performance (Wang et al., 2022). A schematic representation of digesta viscosity and the access of digestive enzymes is presented in Figure 7.



Figure 7. Natupulse[®] TS reducing the viscosity of digesta (Choct et al., 2010; Hsiao et al., 2006; Knudsen, 2014; Shastak et al., 2015; Slominski, 2011).

• Disruption of cell wall integrity:

The cell wall in cereals and legumes consists mainly of cellulose, hemicellulose, and arabinoxylan (Ebringerová, 2005). The activity of β -mannanase degrades mannans and creates "holes" in the cell wall (Karina and Garcia, 2018). This allows hydration with water and pancreatic enzyme action, allowing better digestion of nutrients (Jiang et al., 2022). A schematic representation of the increased cell wall permeability caused by the addition of β -mannanase is presented in Figure 8.



Figure 8. Natupulse[®] TS supports an increase in permeability of intact soybean cell walls (Choct et al., 2010; Hsiao et al., 2006; Knudsen, 2014; Shastak et al., 2015; Slominski, 2011).

• Stimulation of bacterial population:

 β -mannanase breaks down β -mannans and reduces chain length, producing smaller polymers and oligomers (Ma et al., 2022). These fragments further become small enough to act as a substrate for gut microbiota fermentation, modulating the profile of SCFAs production, which reduces gut pH and retro-influence the gut microbiota (Xu et al., 2020). However, care must be taken with the levels of enzyme used, once, overdosed can reduce the size of the oligosaccharides to monosaccharides. If excess monosaccharides are produced, it may result in osmotic diarrhea and/or poor performance (Schutte, 1990). A schematic representation of how microbiota is influenced by β -mannanase addition is presented in Figure 9.



Figure 9. Natupulse[®] TS cleaves β-mannans resulting in mannan-oligosaccharides (MOS) (Choct et al., 2010; Hsiao et al., 2006; Knudsen, 2014; Shastak et al., 2015; Slominski, 2011).

The effects of β -mannanase supplementation of β -mannanase in fish feed have been proven to improve feed efficiency and increase growth performance rate, leading to a more cost-effective and sustainable aquaculture industry. Although there is a need for more attention to understanding the effects of β -mannanase in Nile tilapia diets (Castillo and Gatlin, 2015; Chen et al., 2016; Sinha et al., 2011).

1.8. Gut microbiome

Gut microbiota comprises the community of microbes (e.g., Archaea, bacteria, fungi, protozoa, yeast) that live in the gastrointestinal tract. The microbiome, although often used synonymously with the microbiota, represents the genome of the microbiota (Burokas et al., 2015). The function of the microbiota and the physiological responses of the host depend on several intrinsic and extrinsic factors, such as the composition of the microbiota present in the gastrointestinal tract (Figure 10) (Vigneri, 2014). Although there is a significant variation in the composition of the intestinal microbiota of fish between species and individuals, some phyla demonstrate to be dominant, such as

Proteobacteria, Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes, Actinobacteria, and *Fusobacteria* (Eichmiller et al., 2016).



Figure 10. Intrinsic (red box) and extrinsic factors (yellow box) can alter the gut microbiota (green box) and its downstream effects on the fish host (Butt and Volkoff, 2019).

Sequencing data analysis revealed a peculiarly low phylogenetic diversity in fish gut, with *Proteobacteria*, *Firmicutes*, and *Bacteroidetes* representing up to 90% of the intestinal microbiome of fish of distinct species (Ghanbari et al., 2015). *Actinobacter*, *Acinetobacter*, *Aeromonas*, *Flavobacterium*, *Lactococcus* and *Pseudomonas* are obligate anaerobic bacteria predominantly found in the intestine of freshwater species, in addition to genera such as *Bacteroidetes*, *Clostridium*, *Fusobacterium* and *Enterobacteriaceae*
(Cahill, 1990). The presence and diversity of gut microbiota are influenced by several factors (Gallo et al., 2020).

1.8.1 Factors affecting the microbiome in the gastrointestinal tract

• Genetic

Genetics has already been shown to be a factor that influences the intestinal microbiota, and intra and interspecific variations in the microbiota have been demonstrated (Li et al., 2012). To date, host genetics have been considered the most influential in the formation of the microbiota in fish (Butt and Volkoff, 2019). In contrast, in a study carried out with channel catfish (*Ictalurus punctatus*) and blue catfish (*Ictalurus furcatus*), reared under the same environmental conditions, they showed similar microbiomes, suggesting that a shared environment can overcome the genetic differences of the host (Bledsoe et al., 2018).

• Environment and fish size

Research in zebrafish has revealed distinctions in gut microbiota between juvenile and sexually mature individuals, with juveniles exhibiting greater bacterial diversity in their intestinal microbiota compared to adults. This can be attributed to the variations in circulating hormones present in sexually mature fish and their impact on the microbiota (Cantas et al., 2012). Furthermore, gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) may interact differently with the gut microbiota in juveniles and adults, as this system is not fully developed in juveniles (Figure 11).



Figure 11. Schematic representation of the gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) (Spahn and Kucharzik, 2004; Zgair et al., 2016).

• <u>Diet/Eating habits</u>

Dietary habits can directly influence intestinal microbiota composition (Vatsos, 2017). Intestinal microbiota diversity is lower in carnivorous < omnivores < herbivores fish (Wang et al., 2018). Extreme dietary changes, such as fasting, or ingredient changes, also shape the gut microbiota of fish. Such differences may explain the fact that during extended periods of fasting, morphological changes occur due to reduced nutrient absorption (Bruce et al., 2018).

The effect of food intake on intestinal flora is not restricted to nutritional composition but also to the source of nutrients. A study carried out with common carp shows that an increase in fiber consumption causes an increase in cellulolytic bacteria, such as *Aeromonas*, *Enterobacter*, *Enterococcus*, *Citrobacter*, *Bacillus*, *Raoultella*, *Klebsiella*, *Hydrotalea*, *Pseudomonas*, *Brevibacillus* (Li et al., 2014). Plant-derived proteins have been associated with a significantly reduced diversity of microorganisms, with relative abundances of *Lactobacillales*, *Bacillales*, and *Pseudomonadales*, while animal-derived proteins nourish more *Bacteroidetes*, *Clostridiales*, *Vibrionales*, *Fusobacteriales* and *Alteromonadales* (Michl et al., 2017).

1.8.2. Physiological functions of the intestinal microbiota

Recent studies suggest that the gut microbiota is involved in body homeostasis, consumption, digestive, metabolic, and immune processes (Gonçalves and Gallardo-Escárate, 2017; Mayer et al., 2015). However, the gut microbiota influences the braingut axis, affecting both the gut and the brain, thus helping to maintain homeostasis, as exemplified in Figure 12 (Cryan and Dinan, 2012; Vigneri, 2014).



Figure 12. Factors influencing the diversity and function of the gut microbiome of fish (Talwar et al., 2018).

Research with germ-free mice, therefore, without gut microbiota, are leaner than mice with established microbiota, even though they consume fewer calories than germ-free mice (Duca et al., 2012). In addition, such mice have lower appetite-regulating hormones, such as leptin and ghrelin, demonstrating that the intestinal microbiota is directly involved in regulating appetite and metabolism (Figure 13) (Han et al., 2021).



Figure 13. Overview of the gut-microbiota-brain axis in feeding and digestion (Butt and Volkoff, 2019).

Some of the metabolites produced by the intestinal microbiota can act on enterocytes and regulate their intestinal barrier function and nutrient absorption capacity (Ghosh et al., 2021). Also, in enterocytes, intestinal microbiota metabolites can modify the secretory activity of enterocytes, affecting their production of intestinal peptides that modulate intestinal motility and enzyme secretion (Agustí et al., 2018; Franchini et al., 2014; Venkatesh et al., 2014). Once enzyme activity is altered in the intestine, there are significant impacts of its influence on the metabolism of nutrients such as carbohydrates and lipids (Cani and Knauf, 2016; Tolhurst et al., 2012).

Metabolic secretions of microbiota include specific metabolites such as propionic, acetic, and butyric acids, which affect digestive and metabolic processes (Tolhurst et al., 2012). Although there are many other metabolic secretions from the intestinal microbiota, a representative part of such secretions is SCFAs. In addition, it has several more effects, such as effects on pH and gut morphological changes (Zhang and Davies, 2016).

1.9.Short-Chain Fatty Acids

Short-chain fatty acids are carboxylic acids with aliphatic tails and have linear and branched conformations, including acetic, propionic, butyric, valeric, isobutyric, and isovaleric acids (Cook and Sellin, 1998). Among them, acetic acid (C2), propionic acid (C3), and butyric acid (C4) are the most abundant (95%), with an average molar ratio of 60:20:20, respectively (Cummings et al., 1987).

Acetic acid is produced from pyruvate by acetyl-coenzyme A or the Wood-Ljungdahl pathway (Ragsdale and Pierce, 2008). The propionic acid is the primary fermentation metabolite of *Bacteroidetes*. It is generated from the conversion of succinate to methyl malonyl-CoA via the succinate pathway or produced from the acrylate pathway via lactate as a precursor (Hetzel et al., 2003). Also, deoxyhexoses like fucose and rhamnose can be used as substrates for propionic acid synthesis via propanediol (Koh et al., 2016). Butyric acid is the primary *Firmicutes* metabolite and is formed by the condensation of molecules of acetyl-CoA, reduced to butyryl-CoA, and converted to butyric acid by butyric acid phosphotransferase and butyrate kinase (Ait-Belgnaoui et al., 2014; Ragsdale and Pierce, 2008). Butyryl-CoA is also converted to butyrate via acetyl-CoA via transferase, and some microorganisms in the intestine use lactate and acetate to synthesize butyrate, thus preventing lactate accumulation and stabilizing the intestinal environment, as shown in Figure 14 (Ma et al., 2022).



Figure 14. Synthesis pathways of SCFAs and the primary role in carbohydrate and lipid metabolism. PST: phosphotransacetylase; AK: acetokinase; W-L: Wood-Ljungdahl; ME-COA: methyl malonyl-CoA; PO: pyruvic oxidase; PT: phosphotransferase; BK: butyrate kinase; TCA: tricarboxylic acid cycle; MVA: mevalonic acid; β -HBA: β -hydroxybutyric acid; HMG-CoA: β -hydroxy- β -methyl glutaryl-coenzyme A (Hetzel et al., 2003; Ma et al., 2022; Ragsdale and Pierce, 2008).

Studies show that the chemical composition of SCFAs is mainly dictated by the substrate's chemical structure and microbiota activity (Flint et al., 2014). Dietary fiber is the main food component that affects the production of SCFAs, derived mainly from ingredients of plant origin and NSPs fractions. Also, the amount and type of fiber consumed directly influence the type and amount of SCFAs produced by the microbiota 2016). Total SCFAs concentrations in (Ríos-Covián et al., grass carp (*Ctenopharyngodon idella*) gut decreased by almost 50% with dietary changes, and a positive correlation was observed between acetate levels and bacterial counts, thus demonstrating the effects of fiber type on SCFAs composition and production by the microbiota (Flint et al., 2014; Hao et al., 2017a). The pH profoundly influences SCFAs from the lumen to the colonocytes and the growth of SCFAs-producing bacteria (Cook and Sellin, 1998). Other factors such as environment, intestinal morphology and region, rate of passage, and microbiota composition influence SCFAs production (Canfora et al., 2015; Clements et al., 2014; Hao et al., 2017b; Wu et al., 2015). Microbial



metabolism involved in the fermentation of indigestible carbohydrate are shown in Figure 15 (Piazzon et al., 2017).

Figure 15. Overview of the production of acetate, propionate and butyrate by microbial fermentation in the intestine (Louis et al., 2014; Reichardt et al., 2018; Tran et al., 2020).

About 95 to 99% of SCFAs produced in the intestine are rapidly absorbed in the hindgut in monogastric animals (Den Besten et al., 2013). In tilapia, SCFAs absorption is driven mainly by anion exchange with bicarbonate (ratio of 1:4) between intestinal lumen and the blood (Titus and Ahearn, 1992). Once absorbed, colonocytes use about 98% of the butyrate, and the remainder of the SCFAs is transported to the liver (Den Besten et al., 2013; Morrison and Preston, 2016; Ríos-Covián et al., 2016). The remaining butyrate and acetate are destined for lipogenesis, while propionic acid is used for hepatic gluconeogenesis are excreted (Morrison and Preston, 2016; Ríos-Covián et al., 2016). The effects of SCFAs on host metabolism have been evaluated with several fish species, including performance improvements, feed efficiency, immune response, survival, glucose metabolism, lipid metabolism (Byrne et al., 2015; Corrêa-Oliveira et al., 2016; Hoseinifar et al., 2017; Koh et al., 2016; Louis et al., 2014). Additionally, a special attention is driven to effects to butiric acid, Butyrate, salt of butyric acid, is considered an important nutrient for integrity of the epithelium along the gastrointestinal tract, where it has several effects in cells, influencing their maturation and differentiation, promoting an increase in cell proliferation and helping to maintain intestinal integrity (Morrison and Preston, 2016; Natarajan and Pluznick, 2014; Tan et al., 2014).

1.10. Intestinal morphology

Intestinal morphology represents a barrier of the organism against pathogens, including mechanical, chemical, immune and microbial barriers (Dawood, 2021). Disruption of the integrity of any of these barriers would lead to metabolic dysfunction of the body and affect the health of the intestine, which in turn results in a compromising of animal production performance and health (Camilleri et al., 2012).

Several histological dynamics in the intestine, such as crypt cell proliferation, cell migration along the crypt-villus axis, and cell extrusion from the apex of the villus via apoptosis, are all part of the control of cell desquamation and a dynamic renewal process in small intestine cell (Rombout Jan et al., 2011). The high viscosity of digesta in the lumen can increase the rate of villous cell loss, leading to villous atrophy, a phenomenon associated with increased production of crypt cells and, generally, with an increased crypt depth (Montagne et al., 2003).

Additionally, between the effects of β -mannanase in the diets, are the releasing of mannan oligosaccharides (MOS). The MOS are non-digestible oligosaccharides derived via partial hydrolysis of the mannans polysaccharide (Tester and Al-Ghazzewi, 2013). It is a prebiotic widely used in aquaculture due to its positive effects on growth, which can be generally divided into two main groups: α - and β -MOS (Lu et al., 2019). While α -MOS are obtained by cleavage of α -(1,6) bonds from yeast cell wall mannans, β -MOS are commonly obtained from mannans-rich plants through cleavage of β -(1,4)glycosidic bonds (Yamabhai et al., 2016). Dietary MOS supplementation improved fish growth performance and gut health, and the results showed that appropriate dietary MOS supplementation could improve intestinal microbiota and increase the concentration of propionic acid and butyrate, suggesting that dietary MOS supplements were beneficial for fish gut health (Figure 16) (Liu and Huang, 2018).



Figure 16. Mechanisms action of mannan oligosaccharides pathogen colonization inhibition (Faustino et al., 2021).

The MOS protected the intestinal morphology, which may be due to some aspects, such as the inhibition of the colonization of pathogenic bacteria on the intestinal surface. In addition to reducing excess reactive oxygen species, which can cause stomach injuries (Liu and Huang, 2018). Although some effects of MOS in fish organisms are known, more studies are still needed to evaluate the effects of the addition of β -mannanase on the release and use of MOS.

1.11. Considerations

The use of plant ingredients in aquafeeds has been increasing due to their relative availability and lower cost. However, plant-based diets also increase NSPs contents, particularly mannans, in fish feeds. Currently, there needs to be more information on the effects of mannans on fish physiology and nutrition. β -mannans are known to affect the viscosity of fish digesta, delaying gastric emptying and decreasing nutrient availability, which can negatively impact fish growth performance. The impact of mannans on the intestinal ecosystem is also unclear, with some studies suggesting that they may have adverse effects on fish growth and health. Supplementing fish diets

with exogenous enzymes, such as carbohydrases, can help improve nutrient utilization in fish fed plant-based diets. More research is needed to fully understand the effects of mannans, including their potential use as immunostimulants in Nile tilapia, and to create environmentally sustainable diets for fish farming that comply with sustainability principles. Furthermore, it is important to consider the economic dimension of the aquaculture system when assessing the use of enzymes such as β -mannanase. These suggest that β -mannanase is responsible for breaking down β -mannan, a complex carbohydrate found in plant-based feed ingredients.

REFERENCES

- Agustí, A., García-Pardo, M.P., López-Almela, I., Campillo, I., Maes, M., Romaní-Pérez, M., Sanz, Y., 2018. Interplay between the gut-brain axis, obesity and cognitive function. Front. Neurosci. 12, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2018.00155
- Ait-Belgnaoui, A., Colom, A., Braniste, V., Ramalho, L., Marrot, A., Cartier, C., Houdeau, E., Theodorou, V., Tompkins, T., 2014. Probiotic gut effect prevents the chronic psychological stress-induced brain activity abnormality in mice. Neurogastroenterol. Motil. 26, 510–520. https://doi.org/10.1111/nmo.12295
- Amirkolaie, A.K., Leenhouwers, J.I., Verreth, J.A.J., Schrama, J.W., 2005. Type of dietary fibre (soluble versus insoluble) influences digestion, faeces characteristics and faecal waste production in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus* L.). Aquac. Res. 36, 1157–1166. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2109.2005.01330.x
- Amirkolaie, A.K., Verreth, J.A.J., Schrama, J.W., 2006. Effect of gelatinization degree and inclusion level of dietary starch on the characteristics of digesta and faeces in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*(L.)). Aquaculture 260, 194–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2006.06.039
- Angkanaporn, K., Choct, M., Bryden, W.L., Annison, E.F., Annison, G., 1994. Effects of wheat pentosans on endogenous amino acid losses in chickens. J. Sci. Food Agric. 66, 399–404. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.2740660319
- Bach Knudsen, K.E., 2001. The nutritional significance of "dietary fibre" analysis. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 90, 3–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0377-8401(01)00193-6
- Bailey, R.W., Hunt, W.F., 1973. Structural carbohydrate levels in kikuyu grass and ryegrass grown under identical conditions. New Zeal. J. Agric. Res. 16, 203–205. https://doi.org/10.1080/00288233.1973.10421137
- Balasubramanian, B., Ingale, S.L., Park, J.H., Rathi, P.C., Shanmugam, S., Kim, I.H., 2018. Inclusion of dietary β-mannanase improves performance and ileal digestibility and reduces ileal digesta viscosity of broilers fed corn-soybean meal based diet. Poult. Sci. 97, 3097–3101. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps/pey157
- Bledsoe, J.W., Waldbieser, G.C., Swanson, K.S., Peterson, B.C., Small, B.C., 2018. Comparison of channel catfish and blue catfish gut microbiota assemblages shows minimal effects of host genetics on microbial structure and inferred function. Front. Microbiol. 9, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.01073
- Browne, N., Traynor, A., Horgan, K.A., 2019. Mannan rich fraction from yeast modulates inflammatory responses in intestinal cells (HT-29) exposed to *Escherichia coli*. J. Appl. Anim. Nutr. 7. https://doi.org/10.1017/jan.2019.5
- Bruce, T.J., Neiger, R.D., Brown, M.L., 2018. Gut histology, immunology and the intestinal microbiota of rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum), fed process variants of soybean meal. Aquac. Res. 49, 492–504. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.13480
- Burokas, A., Moloney, R.D., Dinan, T.G., Cryan, J.F., 2015. Microbiota regulation of the mammalian gut-brain axis, Advances in Applied Microbiology. Elsevier Ltd.

https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aambs.2015.02.001

- Butt, R.L., Volkoff, H., 2019. Gut microbiota and energy homeostasis in fish. Front. Endocrinol. (Lausanne). 10, 6–8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2019.00009
- Byrne, C.S., Chambers, E.S., Morrison, D.J., Frost, G., 2015. The role of short chain fatty acids in appetite regulation and energy homeostasis. Int. J. Obes. 39, 1331–1338. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2015.84
- Cahill, M. M., 1990. Bacterial Flora of Fishes: A Review. Microbial Ecology, 19, 21-41.
- Camilleri, M., Madsen, K., Spiller, R., Van Meerveld, B.G., Verne, G.N., 2012. Intestinal barrier function in health and gastrointestinal disease. Neurogastroenterol. Motil. 24, 503–512. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2982.2012.01921.x
- Canfora, E.E., Jocken, J.W., Blaak, E.E., 2015. Short-chain fatty acids in control of body weight and insulin sensitivity. Nat. Rev. Endocrinol. 11, 577–591. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2015.128
- Cani, P.D., Knauf, C., 2016. How gut microbes talk to organs: The role of endocrine and nervous routes. Mol. Metab. 5, 743–752. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2016.05.011
- Cantas, L., Sørby, J.R.T., Aleström, P., Sørum, H., 2012. Culturable gut microbiota diversity in zebrafish. Zebrafish 9, 26–37. https://doi.org/10.1089/zeb.2011.0712
- Carneiro, C.J., Luís Brum, A., José Thesing, N., Ariel Prochnow, D., 2022. Cadeia produtiva da piscicultura: um olhar para a evolução da tilapicultura no Brasil. Rev. Perspect. 46, 25–34. https://doi.org/10.31512/persp.v.46.n.175.2022.223.p.25-34
- Castillo, S., Gatlin, D.M., 2015. Dietary supplementation of exogenous carbohydrase enzymes in fish nutrition: A review. Aquaculture 435, 286–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2014.10.011
- Chen, W., Lin, S., Li, F., Mao, S., 2016. Effects of dietary mannanase on growth, metabolism and non-specific immunity of Tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Aquac. Res. 47, 2835–2843. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.12733
- Choct, M., 1997. Feed Non-Starch Polysaccharides: Chemical Structures and Nutritional Significance. Feed Milling Int. 1–10.
- Choct, M., Dersjant-Li, Y., McLeish, J., Peisker, M., 2010. Soy oligosaccharides and soluble non-starch polysaccharides: A review of digestion, nutritive and antinutritive effects in pigs and poultry. Asian-Australasian J. Anim. Sci. 23, 1386– 1398. https://doi.org/10.5713/ajas.2010.90222
- Choct, M., Hughes, R.J., Wang, J., Bedford, M.R., Morgan, A.J., Annison, G., 1996. Increased small intestinal fermentation is partly responsible for the anti-nutritive activity of non-starch polysaccharides in chickens. Br. Poult. Sci. 37, 609–621. https://doi.org/10.1080/00071669608417891
- Clements, K.D., Angert, E.R., Montgomery, W.L., Choat, J.H., 2014. Intestinal microbiota in fishes: What's known and what's not. Mol. Ecol. 23, 1891–1898. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.12699

- Cook, S.I., Sellin, J.H., 1998. Review article: Short chain fatty acids in health and disease. Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther. 12, 499–507. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2036.1998.00337.x
- Corrêa-Oliveira, R., Fachi, J.L., Vieira, A., Sato, F.T., Vinolo, M.A.R., 2016. Regulation of immune cell function by short-chain fatty acids. Clin. Transl. Immunol. 5, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/cti.2016.17
- Cryan, J.F., Dinan, T.G., 2012. Mind-altering microorganisms: The impact of the gut microbiota on brain and behaviour. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 13, 701–712. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3346
- Cummings, J.H., Pomare, E.W., Branch, H.W.J., Naylor, C.P.E., MacFarlane, G.T., 1987. Short chain fatty acids in human large intestine, portal, hepatic and venous blood. Gut 28, 1221–1227. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.28.10.1221
- Daas, P.J.H., Schols, H.A., De Jongh, H.H.J., 2000. On the galactosyl distribution of commercial galactomannans. Carbohydr. Res. 329, 609–619. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0008-6215(00)00209-3
- Dawood, A., Shi, W., 2022. Effect of dietary β-mannanase supplementation on growth performance, digestibility, and gene expression levels of *Cyprinus carpio* (Linnaeus) fingerlings fed a plant protein-rich diet. Front. Vet. Sci. 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2022.956054
- Dawood, A., Zuberi, A., Shi, W., 2022. Plant-based β-mannanase supplemented diet modulates the gut microbiota and up-regulates the expression of immunity and digestion-related genes in *Cyprinus carpio*. J. Appl. Anim. Res. 50, 21–30. https://doi.org/10.1080/09712119.2021.2018327
- Dawood, M.A.O., 2021. Nutritional immunity of fish intestines: important insights for sustainable aquaculture. Rev. Aquac. 13, 642–663. https://doi.org/10.1111/raq.12492
- Den Besten, G., Van Eunen, K., Groen, A.K., Venema, K., Reijngoud, D.J., Bakker, B.M., 2013. The role of short-chain fatty acids in the interplay between diet, gut microbiota, and host energy metabolism. J. Lipid Res. 54, 2325–2340. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.R036012
- Doan, H. Van, Lumsangkul, C., Hoseinifar, S.H., Hung, T.Q., Stejskal, V., Ringø, E., Dawood, M.A.O., Esteban, M.Á., 2020. Administration of watermelon rind powder to Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) culture under biofloc system: Effect on growth performance, innate immune response, and disease resistance. Aquaculture 528, 735574. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735574
- Dong, B., Liu, S., Wang, C., Cao, Y., 2018. Effects of xylanase supplementation to wheat-based diets on growth performance, nutrient digestibility and gut microbes in weanling pigs. Asian-Australasian J. Anim. Sci. 31, 1491–1499. https://doi.org/10.5713/ajas.17.0867
- Duca, F.A., Swartz, T.D., Sakar, Y., Covasa, M., 2012. Increased oral detection, but decreased intestinal signaling for fats in mice lacking gut microbiota. PLoS One 7. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0039748
- Ebihara, K., Schneeman, B.O., 1989. Interaction of bile acids, phospholipids,

cholesterol and triglyceride with dietary fibers in the small intestine of rats. J. Nutr. 119, 1100–1106. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/119.8.1100

- Ebringerová, A., 2005. Structural diversity and application potential of hemicelluloses. Macromol. Symp. 232, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1002/masy.200551401
- Eichmiller, J.J., Hamilton, M.J., Staley, C., Sadowsky, M.J., Sorensen, P.W., 2016. Environment shapes the fecal microbiome of invasive carp species. Microbiome 4, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-016-0190-1
- El-Sayed, A.F.M., 2020. Copyright. Tilapia Cult. iv. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-816509-6.12001-4
- FAO, 2022. The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture. FAO Yearbook. Fishery and Aquaculture Statistics 2021/FAO annuaire. https://doi.org/10.4060/cb7874t
- Faustino, M., Durão, J., Pereira, C.F., Pintado, M.E., Carvalho, A.P., 2021. Mannans and mannan oligosaccharides (MOS) from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* – A sustainable source of functional ingredients. Carbohydr. Polym. 272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2021.118467
- Fincher, G. B; Stone, B.A., 1986. Cell walls and their components in cereal grain technology. Adv. Cereal Sci. Technol. 207.
- Flint, H.J., Duncan, S.H., Scott, K.P., Louis, P., 2014. Links between diet, gut microbiota composition and gut metabolism. Proc. Nutr. Soc. 760, 13–22. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0029665114001463
- Franchini, P., Fruciano, C., Frickey, T., Jones, J.C., Meyer, A., 2014. The gut microbial community of Midas cichlid fish in repeatedly evolved limnetic-benthic species Pairs. PLoS One 9. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0095027
- Gallo, B.D., Farrell, J.M., Leydet, B.F., 2020. Fish Gut Microbiome: A Primer to an Emerging Discipline in the Fisheries Sciences. Fisheries 45, 271–282. https://doi.org/10.1002/fsh.10379
- Ghanbari, M., Kneifel, W., Domig, K.J., 2015. A new view of the fish gut microbiome: Advances from next-generation sequencing. Aquaculture 448, 464–475. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2015.06.033
- Ghosh, S., Whitley, C.S., Haribabu, B., Jala, V.R., 2021. Regulation of Intestinal Barrier Function by Microbial Metabolites. Cmgh 11, 1463–1482. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcmgh.2021.02.007
- Gonçalves, A.T., Gallardo-Escárate, C., 2017. Microbiome dynamic modulation through functional diets based on pre- and probiotics (mannan-oligosaccharides and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*) in juvenile rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*).
 J. Appl. Microbiol. 122, 1333–1347. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.13437
- Han, H., Yi, B., Zhong, R., Wang, M., Zhang, S., Ma, J., Yin, Y., Yin, J., Chen, L., Zhang, H., 2021. From gut microbiota to host appetite: gut microbiota-derived metabolites as key regulators. Microbiome 9, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-021-01093-y
- Hao, Y.T., Wu, S.G., Xiong, F., Tran, N.T., Jakovlić, I., Zou, H., Li, W.X., Wang, G.T., 2017a. Succession and fermentation products of grass carp (*Ctenopharyngodon*

idellus) hindgut microbiota in response to an extreme dietary shift. Front. Microbiol. 8, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.01585

- Hao, Y.T., Wu, S.G., Xiong, F., Tran, N.T., Jakovlić, I., Zou, H., Li, W.X., Wang, G.T., 2017b. Succession and fermentation products of grass carp (*Ctenopharyngodon idellus*) hindgut microbiota in response to an extreme dietary shift. Front. Microbiol. 8, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.01585
- Hetzel, M., Brock, M., Selmer, T., Pierik, A.J., Golding, B.T., Buckel, W., 2003. Acryloyl-CoA reductase from *Clostridium propionicum*: An enzyme complex of propionyl-CoA dehydrogenase and electron-transferring flavoprotein. Eur. J. Biochem. 270, 902–910. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1432-1033.2003.03450.x
- Hoseinifar, S.H., Sun, Y.Z., Caipang, C.M., 2017. Short-chain fatty acids as feed supplements for sustainable aquaculture: an updated view. Aquac. Res. 48, 1380– 1391. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.13239
- Hossain, M.A., Focken, U., Becker, K., 2003. Antinutritive effects of galactomannanrich endosperm of Sesbania (*Sesbania aculeata*) seeds on growth and feed utilization in tilapia, *Oreochromis niloticus*. Aquac. Res. 34, 1171–1179. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2109.2003.00924.x
- Hsiao, H.Y., Anderson, D.M., Dale, N.M., 2006. Levels of β-mannan in soybean meal. Poult. Sci. 85, 1430–1432. https://doi.org/10.1093/ps/85.8.1430
- Huang, Y., Shi, Xing, Li, Z., Shen, Y., Shi, Xinxin, Wang, L., Li, G., Yuan, Y., Wang, J., Zhang, Y., Zhao, L., Zhang, M., Kang, Y., Liang, Y., 2018. Possible association of firmicutes in the gut microbiota of patients with major depressive disorder. Neuropsychiatr. Dis. Treat. 14, 3329–3337. https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S188340
- Iji, P.A., Saki, A.A., Tivey, D.R., 2001. Intestinal development and body growth of broiler chicks on diets supplemented with non-starch polysaccharides. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 89, 175–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0377-8401(00)00223-6
- Ikegami, S., Tsuchihashi, F., Harada, H., Tsuchihashi, N., Nishide, E., Innami, S., 1990. Effect of viscous indigestible polysaccharides on pancreatic-biliary secretion and digestive organs in rats. J. Nutr. 120, 353–360. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/120.4.353
- Jeon, S.M., Hosseindoust, A., Choi, Y.H., Kim, M.J., Kim, K.Y., Lee, J.H., Kil, D.Y., Kim, B.G., Chae, B.J., 2019. Comparative standardized ileal amino acid digestibility and metabolizable energy contents of main feed ingredients for growing pigs when adding dietary β-mannanase. Anim. Nutr. 5, 359–365. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aninu.2019.07.001
- Jiang, Q., Wu, W., Wan, Y., Wei, Y., Kawamura, Y., Li, J., Guo, Y., Ban, Z., Zhang, B., 2022. Energy values evaluation and improvement of soybean meal in broiler chickens through supplemental mutienzyme. Poult. Sci. 101, 101978. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psj.2022.101978
- Jiang, Y., Li, L., He, F., Yan, W., Tang, Y., Yang, R., Zhao, W., 2021. Highly effective inactivation of anti-nutritional factors (lipoxygenase, urease and trypsin inhibitor) in soybean by radio frequency treatment. Int. J. Food Sci. Technol. 56, 93–102. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijfs.14605

- Jin, L., Reynolds, L.P., Redmer, D.A., Caton, J.S., Crenshaw, J.D., 1994. Effects of dietary fiber on intestinal growth, cell proliferation, and morphology in growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 72, 2270–2278. https://doi.org/10.2527/1994.7292270x
- Kabir, K.A., Verdegem, M.C.J., Verreth, J.A.J., Phillips, M.J., Schrama, J.W., 2020. Dietary non-starch polysaccharides influenced natural food web and fish production in semi-intensive pond culture of Nile tilapia. Aquaculture 528, 735506. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735506
- Karina, A., Garcia, A., 2018. Use of Enzyme Supplementation in Practical Diets for Nile Tilapia.
- Khalifa, N.S.A., Belal, I.E.H., El-Tarabily, K.A., Tariq, S., Kassab, A.A., 2018. Evaluation of replacing fish meal with corn protein concentrate in Nile tilapia *Oreochromis niloticus* fingerlings commercial diet. Aquac. Nutr. 24, 143–152. https://doi.org/10.1111/anu.12542
- Kiarie, E.G., Steelman, S., Martinez, M., Livingston, K., 2021. Significance of single βmannanase supplementation on performance and energy utilization in broiler chickens, laying hens, turkeys, sows, and nursery-finish pigs: A meta-analysis and systematic review. Transl. Anim. Sci. 5, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1093/tas/txab160
- Kihara, M., Sakata, T., 1997. Fermentation of dietary carbohydrates to short-chain fatty acids by gut microbes and its influence on intestinal morphology of a detritivorous teleost tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. - A Physiol. 118, 1201–1207. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0300-9629(97)00052-2
- Kim, H.J., Nam, S.O., Jeong, J.H., Fang, L.H., Yoo, H.B., Yoo, S.H., Hong, J.S., Son, S.W., Ha, S.H., Kim, Y.Y., 2017. Various levels of copra meal supplementation with β-Mannanase on growth performance, blood profile, nutrient digestibility, pork quality and economical analysis in growing-finishing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. Technol. 59, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40781-017-0144-6
- Knudsen, K.E.B., 2014. Fiber and nonstarch polysaccharide content and variation in common crops used in broiler diets. Poult. Sci. 93, 2380–2393. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.2014-03902
- Koh, A., De Vadder, F., Kovatcheva-Datchary, P., Bäckhed, F., 2016. From dietary fiber to host physiology: Short-chain fatty acids as key bacterial metabolites. Cell 165, 1332–1345. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.05.041
- Kremnický, L., Biely, P., 1997. β-Mannanolytic system of *Aureobasidium pullulans*. Arch. Microbiol. 167, 350–355. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002030050454
- La Rosa, S.L., Leth, M.L., Michalak, L., Hansen, M.E., Pudlo, N.A., Glowacki, R., Pereira, G., Workman, C.T., Arntzen, M., Pope, P.B., Martens, E.C., Hachem, M.A., Westereng, B., 2019. The human gut Firmicute *Roseburia intestinalis* is a primary degrader of dietary β-mannans. Nat. Commun. 10, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-08812-y
- Lange, C.F.M. de, 2000. Characterisation of the non-starch polysaccharides., in: Moughan, P. J.; Verstegen, M. W. A.; Visser-Reyneveld, M.I. (Ed.), Feed Evaluation Principles and Practice. pp. 77–92.

Latham, R.E., Williams, M., Smith, K., Stringfellow, K., Clemente, S., Brister, R., Lee,

J.T., 2015. Effect of β -mannanase inclusion on growth performance, ileal digestible energy, and intestinal viscosity of male broilers fed a reduced-energy diet. J. Appl. Poult. Res. 25, 40–47. https://doi.org/10.3382/japr/pfv059

- Leenhouwers, J.I., Adjei-Boateng, D., Verreth, J.A.J., Schrama, J.W., 2006. Digesta viscosity, nutrient digestibility and organ weights in African catfish (*Clarias* gariepinus) fed diets supplemented with different levels of a soluble non-starch polysaccharide. Aquac. Nutr. 12, 111–116. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2095.2006.00389.x
- Leenhouwers, J.I., Ortega, R.C., Verreth, J.A.J., Schrama, J.W., 2007a. Digesta characteristics in relation to nutrient digestibility and mineral absorption in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus* L.) fed cereal grains of increasing viscosity. Aquaculture 273, 556–565. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2007.10.044
- Leenhouwers, J.I., ter Veld, M., Verreth, J.A.J., Schrama, J.W., 2007b. Digesta characteristiscs and performance of African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) fed cereal grains that differ in viscosity. Aquaculture 264, 330–341. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2007.01.003
- Li, X., Yu, Y., Feng, W., Yan, Q., Gong, Y., 2012. Host species as a strong determinant of the intestinal microbiota of fish larvae. J. Microbiol. 50, 29–37. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12275-012-1340-1
- Li, X.M., Zhu, Y.J., Yan, Q.Y., Ringø, E., Yang, D.G., 2014. Do the intestinal microbiotas differ between paddlefish (*Polyodon spathala*) and bighead carp (*Aristichthys nobilis*) reared in the same pond? J. Appl. Microbiol. 117, 1245– 1252. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.12626
- Liu, Y., Huang, G., 2018. The derivatization and antioxidant activities of yeast mannan. Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 107, 755–761. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2017.09.055
- Liu, Y., Huang, H., Fan, J., Zhou, H., Zhang, Y., Cao, Y., Jiang, W., Zhang, W., Deng, J., Tan, B., 2022. Effects of dietary non-starch polysaccharides level on the growth, intestinal flora and intestinal health of juvenile largemouth bass *Micropterus salmoides*. Aquaculture 557, 738343. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2022.738343
- Louis, P., Hold, G.L., Flint, H.J., 2014. The gut microbiota, bacterial metabolites and colorectal cancer. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 12, 661–672. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro3344
- Lu, J., Qi, C., Limbu, S.M., Han, F., Yang, L., Wang, X., Qin, J.G., Chen, L., 2019. Dietary mannan oligosaccharide (MOS) improves growth performance, antioxidant capacity, non-specific immunity and intestinal histology of juvenile Chinese mitten crabs (*Eriocheir sinensis*). Aquaculture 510, 337–346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.05.048
- Ma, J., Piao, X., Mahfuz, S., Long, S., Wang, J., 2022. The interaction among gut microbes, the intestinal barrier and short chain fatty acids. Anim. Nutr. 9, 159–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aninu.2021.09.012
- Magalhães, R., Lopes, T., Martins, N., Díaz-Rosales, P., Couto, A., Pousão-Ferreira, P., Oliva-Teles, A., Peres, H., 2016. Carbohydrases supplementation increased

nutrient utilization in white seabream (*Diplodus sargus*) juveniles fed high soybean meal diets. Aquaculture 463, 43–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2016.05.019

- Mayer, E.A., Tillisch, K., Gupta, A., 2015. Gut/brain axis and the microbiota. J. Clin. Invest. 125, 926–938. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI76304
- McCleary, B. V., 1986. A soluble chromogenic substrate for the assay of $(1 \rightarrow 3)(1 \rightarrow 4)$ - β -d-glucanase (lichenase). Carbohydr. Polym. 6, 307–318. https://doi.org/10.1016/0144-8617(86)90034-2
- Meier, H., Reid, J.S.G., 1982. Reserve Polysaccharides Other Than Starch in Higher Plants. Plant Carbohydrates I i, 418–471. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-68275-9_11
- Michl, S.C., Ratten, J.M., Beyer, M., Hasler, M., La Roche, J., Schulz, C., 2017. The malleable gut microbiome of juvenile rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*): Dietdependent shifts of bacterial community structures. PLoS One 12, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0177735
- Montagne, L., Pluske, J.R., Hampson, D.J., 2003. A review of interactions between dietary fibre and the intestinal mucosa, and their consequences on digestive health in young non-ruminant animals. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 108, 95–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0377-8401(03)00163-9
- Morken, T., Kraugerud, O.F., Barrows, F.T., Sørensen, M., Storebakken, T., Øverland, M., 2011. Sodium diformate and extrusion temperature affect nutrient digestibility and physical quality of diets with fish meal and barley protein concentrate for rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Aquaculture 317, 138–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2011.04.020
- Morrison, D.J., Preston, T., 2016. Formation of short chain fatty acids by the gut microbiota and their impact on human metabolism. Gut Microbes 7, 189–200. https://doi.org/10.1080/19490976.2015.1134082
- Nabuurs, M.J.A., 1998. Weaning piglets as a model for studying pathophysiology of diarrhea. Vet. Q. 20, 42–45. https://doi.org/10.1080/01652176.1998.9694967
- Natarajan, N., Pluznick, J.L., 2014. From microbe to man: The role of microbial short chain fatty acid metabolites in host cell biology. Am. J. Physiol. - Cell Physiol. 307, C979–C985. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00228.2014
- Nation, United, 2022. In Brief to The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2022, In Brief to The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2022. https://doi.org/10.4060/cc0463en
- Nguyen, L., Salem, S.M.R., Salze, G.P., Dinh, H., Davis, D.A., 2020. Optimizing amino acid balance in diets for Nile tilapia *Oreochromis niloticus*. Aquaculture 515, 734566. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.734566
- NRC National Research Council, 2011. Nutrient requirements of fish and shrimp. ., Washington.
- Olaniyi, O., Omotere, I.F., 2013. Optimization studies on mannanase production by *Trichosporonoides oedocephalis* in submerged state fermentation. E3 J. Biotechnol. Pharm. Res.

- Ouwehand, A.C., Tiihonen, K., Mäkelainen, H., Rautonen, N., Hasselwander, O., Sworn, G., 2009. Non-starch polysaccharides in the gastrointestinal tract, Designing Functional Foods: Measuring and Controlling Food Structure Breakdown and Nutrient Absorption. Woodhead Publishing Limited. https://doi.org/10.1533/9781845696603.1.126
- Pasquier, B., Armand, M., Castelain, C., Guillon, F., Borel, P., Lafont, H., Lairon, D., 1996. Emulsification and lipolysis of triacylglycerols are altered by viscous soluble dietary fibres in acidic gastric medium in vitro. Biochem. J. 314, 269–275. https://doi.org/10.1042/bj3140269
- Pelczar, M.J., Chan, E.C.S., Krieg, N.R., 1996. Microbiologia: Volume 1: Conceitos e Aplicações.
- Petry, A.L., Patience, J.F., Koester, L.R., Huntley, N.F., Bedford, M.R., Schmitz-Esser, S., 2021. Xylanase modulates the microbiota of ileal mucosa and digesta of pigs fed corn-based arabinoxylans likely through both a stimbiotic and prebiotic mechanism. PLoS One 16. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0246144
- Pezzato, L.E., Miranda, E.C. De, Barros, M.M., Gabriel, L., Pinto, Q., Furuya, W.M., Pezzato, A.C., 2002. Digestibilidade Aparente de Ingredientes pela Tilápia do Nilo (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Rev. Bras. Zootec. 21, 1595–1604.
- Piazzon, M.C., Calduch-Giner, J.A., Fouz, B., Estensoro, I., Simó-Mirabet, P., Puyalto, M., Karalazos, V., Palenzuela, O., Sitjà-Bobadilla, A., Pérez-Sánchez, J., 2017. Under control: how a dietary additive can restore the gut microbiome and proteomic profile, and improve disease resilience in a marine teleostean fish fed vegetable diets. Microbiome 5, 164. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-017-0390-3
- Potkins, Z. V., Lawrence, T.L.J., Thomlinson, J.R., 1991. Effects of structural and nonstructural polysaccharides in the diet of the growing pig on gastric emptying rate and rate of passage of digesta to the terminal ileum and through the total gastrointestinal tract. Br. J. Nutr. 65, 391–413. https://doi.org/10.1079/bjn19910100
- Prasad, M. M. S., Srikant, R.R., 2013. Performance Evaluation of Nano Graphite Inclusions in Cutting Fluids With Mql Technique in Turning of Aisi 1040 Steel. Int. J. Res. Eng. Technol. 02, 381–393. https://doi.org/10.15623/ijret.2013.0211058
- Ragsdale, S.W., Pierce, E., 2008. Acetogenesis and the Wood-Ljungdahl pathway of CO2 fixation. Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Proteins Proteomics 1784, 1873–1898. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbapap.2008.08.012
- Rainbird, A.L., Low, A.G., 1986. Effect of various types of dietary fibre on gastric emptying in growing pigs. Br. J. Nutr. 55, 111–121. https://doi.org/10.1079/bjn19860015
- Refstie, S., Svihus, B., Shearer, K.D., Storebakken, T., 1999. Nutrient digestibility in Atlantic salmon and broiler chickens related to viscosity and non-starch polysaccharide content in different soyabean products. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 79, 331–345. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0377-8401(99)00026-7
- Reichardt, N., Vollmer, M., Holtrop, G., Farquharson, F.M., Wefers, D., Bunzel, M., Duncan, S.H., Drew, J.E., Williams, L.M., Milligan, G., Preston, T., Morrison, D.,

Flint, H.J., Louis, P., 2018. Specific substrate-driven changes in human faecal microbiota composition contrast with functional redundancy in short-chain fatty acid production. ISME J. 12, 610–622. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2017.196

- Reid, J.S.G., 1985. Galactomannans, in: Biochemistry of Storage Carbohydrates in Green Plants. London: Academic Press, pp. 265–288.
- Ríos-Covián, D., Ruas-Madiedo, P., Margolles, A., Gueimonde, M., De los Reyes-Gavilán, C.G., Salazar, N., 2016. Intestinal short chain fatty acids and their link with diet and human health. Front. Microbiol. 7, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00185
- Robles, R., Lozano, A.B., Sevilla, A., Márquez, L., Nuez-Ortín, W., Moyano, F.J., 2013. Effect of partially protected butyrate used as feed additive on growth and intestinal metabolism in sea bream (*Sparus aurata*). Fish Physiol. Biochem. 39, 1567–1580. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-013-9809-3
- Rombout Jan, J.H.W.M., Abelli, L., Picchietti, S., Scapigliati, G., Kiron, V., 2011. Teleost intestinal immunology. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 31, 616–626. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2010.09.001
- Schader, C., Muller, A., El-Hage Scialabba, N., Hecht, J., Isensee, A., Erb, K.H., Smith, P., Makkar, H.P.S., Klocke, P., Leiber, F., Schwegler, P., Stolze, M., Niggli, U., 2015. Impacts of feeding less food-competing feedstuffs to livestock on global food system sustainability. J. R. Soc. Interface 12. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2015.0891
- Schutte, J.B., 1990. Nutritional implications and metabolizable energy value of Dxylose and L-arabinose in chicks. Poult. Sci. 69, 1724–1730. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.0691724
- Shastak, Y., Ader, P., Feuerstein, D., Ruehle, R., Matuschek, M., 2015. β-Mannan and mannanase in poultry nutrition. Worlds. Poult. Sci. J. 71, 161–173. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0043933915000136
- Singh, A.K., Kim, W.K., 2021. Effects of dietary fiber on nutrients utilization and gut health of poultry: A review of challenges and opportunities. Animals 11, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11010181
- Singh, S., Singh, G., Arya, S.K., 2018. Mannans: An overview of properties and application in food products. Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 119, 79–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2018.07.130
- Sinha, A.K., Kumar, V., Makkar, H.P.S., De Boeck, G., Becker, K., 2011. Non-starch polysaccharides and their role in fish nutrition - A review. Food Chem. 127, 1409– 1426. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2011.02.042
- Slominski, B.A., 2011. Recent advances in research on enzymes for poultry diets. Poult. Sci. 90, 2013–2023. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.2011-01372
- Souza, M.L.R. de, Goes, E.S. dos R., Kronka, S. do N., Castagnolli, N., 2021. Sistemas de aeração e densidades de estocagem na qualidade da água e produção de tilápia do Nilo. Res. Soc. Dev. 10, e48010817238. https://doi.org/10.33448/rsdv10i8.17238

Spahn, T.W., Kucharzik, T., 2004. Modulating the intestinal immune system: The role

of lymphotoxin and GALT organs. Gut 53, 456–465. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.2003.023671

- Staessen, T.W.O., Verdegem, M.C.J., Koletsi, P., Schrama, J.W., 2020. The effect of dietary protein source (fishmeal vs. plant protein) and non-starch polysaccharide level on fat digestibility and faecal bile acid loss in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Aquac. Res. 51, 1170–1181. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.14467
- Stålbrand, H., Siika-aho, M., Viikari, L., 1993. Purification and characterization of pectinesterase and polygalacturonase from *Trichoderma reesei*. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 27, 267–271. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.1985.tb00680.x
- Sternemalm, E., Höije, A., Gatenholm, P., 2008. Effect of arabinose substitution on the material properties of arabinoxylan films. Carbohydr. Res. 343, 753–757. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carres.2007.11.027
- Storebakken, T., Shearer, K.D., Roem, A.J., 1998. Availability of protein, phosphorus and other elements in fish meal, soy-protein concentrate and phytase-treated soyprotein-concentrate-based diets to Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*. Aquaculture 161, 365–379. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(97)00284-6
- Talwar, C., Nagar, S., Lal, R., Negi, R.K., 2018. Fish Gut Microbiome: Current Approaches and Future Perspectives. Indian J. Microbiol. 58, 397–414. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12088-018-0760-y
- Tan, J., McKenzie, C., Potamitis, M., Thorburn, A.N., Mackay, C.R., Macia, L., 2014. The Role of Short-Chain Fatty Acids in Health and Disease, 1st ed, Advances in Immunology. Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-800100-4.00003-9
- Tester, R.F., Al-Ghazzewi, F.H., 2013. Mannans and health, with a special focus on glucomannans. Food Res. Int. 50, 384–391. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2012.10.037
- Thitipraphunkul, K., Uttapap, D., Piyachomkwan, K., Takeda, Y., 2003. A comparative study of edible canna (*Canna edulis*) starch from different cultivars. Part II. Molecular structure of amylose and amylopectin. Carbohydr. Polym. 54, 489–498. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2003.08.003
- Titus, E., Ahearn, G.A., 1992. Vertebrate gastrointestinal fermentation: Transport mechanisms for volatile fatty acids. Am. J. Physiol. - Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 262. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.1992.262.4.r547
- Tolhurst, G., Heffron, H., Lam, Y.S., Parker, H.E., Habib, A.M., Diakogiannaki, E., Cameron, J., Grosse, J., Reimann, F., Gribble, F.M., 2012. Short-chain fatty acids stimulate glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion via the G-protein-coupled receptor FFAR2. Diabetes 61, 364–371. https://doi.org/10.2337/db11-1019
- Tran, N.T., Li, Z., Wang, S., Zheng, H., Aweya, J.J., Wen, X., Li, S., 2020. Progress and perspectives of short-chain fatty acids in aquaculture. Rev. Aquac. 12, 283– 298. https://doi.org/10.1111/raq.12317
- Valenti, W.C., Barros, H.P., Moraes-Valenti, P., Bueno, G.W., Cavalli, R.O., 2021. Aquaculture in Brazil: past, present and future. Aquac. Reports 19, 100611. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aqrep.2021.100611

Valenti, W.C., Kimpara, J.M., Preto, B.L., Moraes-Valenti, P., 2018. Indicators of

sustainability to assess aquaculture systems. Ecol. Indic. 88, 402–413. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2017.12.068

- van Barneveld, R.J., 1999. Understanding the nutritional chemistry of lupin (*Lupinus* spp.) seed to improve livestock production efficiency. Nutr. Res. Rev. 12, 203–230. https://doi.org/10.1079/095442299108728938
- Van Doan, H., Hoseinifar, S.H., Naraballobh, W., Jaturasitha, S., Tongsiri, S., Chitmanat, C., Ringø, E., 2019. Dietary inclusion of Orange peels derived pectin and *Lactobacillus plantarum* for Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*)cultured under indoor biofloc systems. Aquaculture 508, 98–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.03.067
- Vatsos, I.N., 2017. Standardizing the microbiota of fish used in research. Lab. Anim. 51, 353–364. https://doi.org/10.1177/0023677216678825
- Venkatesh, M., Mukherjee, S., Wang, H., Li, H., Sun, K., Benechet, A.P., Qiu, Z., Maher, L., Redinbo, M.R., Phillips, R.S., Fleet, J.C., Kortagere, S., Mukherjee, P., Fasano, A., Le Ven, J., Nicholson, J.K., Dumas, M.E., Khanna, K.M., Mani, S., 2014. Symbiotic bacterial metabolites regulate gastrointestinal barrier function via the xenobiotic sensor PXR and toll-like receptor 4. Immunity 41, 296–310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2014.06.014
- Vigneri, S., 2014. The Brain-Gut Axis: From Pathophysiology to Possible Future Strategies of Treatment. Brain Disord. Ther. 03. https://doi.org/10.4172/2168-975x.1000137
- Wang, A.R., Ran, C., Ringø, E., Zhou, Z.G., 2018. Progress in fish gastrointestinal microbiota research. Rev. Aquac. 10, 626–640. https://doi.org/10.1111/raq.12191
- Wang, S., Xu, G., Zou, J., 2022. Soluble non-starch polysaccharides in fish feed: implications for fish metabolism. Fish Physiol. Biochem. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-022-01131-y
- Wu, S., Ren, Y., Peng, C., Hao, Y., Xiong, F., Wang, G., Li, W., Zou, H., Angert, E.R., 2015. Metatranscriptomic discovery of plant biomass-degrading capacity from grass carp intestinal microbiomes. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 91, 1–29. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fiv107
- Xu, Y., Huang, J., Li, W., Zheng, Y., Jiang, J., Ding, Z., 2020. Dietary supplementation of vitamin E and citric acid could significantly promote the relative expression of PPARα and aconitase genes, concentration of polyunsaturated fatty acids, antioxidant enzyme activities, and growth of juvenile cobia. Aquaculture 518, 734545. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.734545
- Yamabhai, M., Sak-Ubol, S., Srila, W., Haltrich, D., 2016. Mannan biotechnology: From biofuels to health. Crit. Rev. Biotechnol. 36, 32–42. https://doi.org/10.3109/07388551.2014.923372
- Zgair, A., Wong, J.C.M., Gershkovich, P., 2016. Neuro-immuno-gastroenterology. Neuro-Immuno-Gastroenterology 1–337. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-28609-9
- Zhang, H., Li, Z., Zhang, L., Lai, P.F.H., Tian, Y., Cui, S.W., Ai, L., 2021. Effects of soluble dietary fibers on the viscosity property and digestion kinetics of corn starch

digesta. Food Chem. 338, 127825. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2020.127825

- Zhang, L.S., Davies, S.S., 2016. Microbial metabolism of dietary components to bioactive metabolites: Opportunities for new therapeutic interventions. Genome Med. 8, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13073-016-0296-x
- Zimmermann, S., Fitzsimmons, K., 2004. Tilapicultura Intensiva. Tópicos Especiais em Piscic. Água Doce Trop. Intensiva 239–266.

2. OBJECTIVES

To evaluate the effects of graded β -mannanase levels on viscosity of digesta and feces, pH of digesta and feces, growth performance, digestibility, digestive enzymes activity, blood parameters, SCFA production, gut health, and microbiome modulation in juveniles of Nile tilapia.

2.1. Specifc objectives

- Evaluate how increasing levels of β-mannanase affect growth performance, body composition and blood parametters of juvenile Nile tilapia;
- To assess the effects of β-mannanase on digesta viscosity, activity of digestive enzymes and nutrient digestibility;
- Determine the effects of liquid β-mannanase on short-chain fatty acids, gut morphology and microbiome responses;
- Evaluate the effects of increasing levels of β-mannanase on digesta viscosity and apparent digestibility coefficients of energy and nutrients, including amino acids in juvenile Nile tilapia;
- To establish a comprehensive correlation between fecal viscosity and nutrient digestibility in Nile tilapia fed a fiber-rich diet, using multivariate analysis.

CHAPTER II

Article I - Effect of dietary β-mannanase on growth performance, digesta viscosity, short-chain fatty acid, gut morphology, and microbiome of juvenile Nile tilapia fed plant-based diet

ABSTRACT: This study aimed to evaluate graded levels of dietary β-mannanase supplementation on growth performance, digesta viscosity, activity of digestive enzymes, short-chain fatty acid production (SCFAs), gut morphology, and microbiome of juvenile Nile tilapia fed plant-based diets. Fish (n = 504; body weight 7.0 ± 0.43 g) were randomly distributed in 24 aquaria of 70 L each in a recirculation aquaculture system in a completely randomized design with six treatments and four replicates of 21 fish in each aquarium. Fish were fed diets with graded levels of β -mannanase at 0 (control), 1600, 3200, 4800, 6400, and 8000 TMU kg⁻¹, and hand-fed 12 times a day until apparent satiety for eight weeks. Fish fed diet with β -mannanase at 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ showed reduced digesta viscosity (-25.8%), body weight gain (+5.4%) and feed efficiency ratio (+12.1%), higher activity of amylase (+61.2%), protease (+25.4%) and lipase (+47.7%) enzymes, than fish fed control diet. Dietary β -mannanase at 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ increased butyric acid content (+63.3%), reduced gut pH (-8.2%), and increased total villus height (+40.4%) in relative to fish fed control diet. Analysis of the "core microbiota" revealed that dietary βmannanase modulated gut microbiota of juvenile Nile tilapia, and fish fed the diet with 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ dietary β -mannanase showed higher abundance of beneficial bacteria, Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria, Firmicutes, and reduced population of potential harmful bacteria (*Escheiria* sp.). Overall, it concluded that β -mannanase at level 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ in the diet enhances the growth performance of juvenile Nile tilapia by reducing digesta viscosity, enhancing digestive enzyme activity and short-chain fatty acid production, improving gut morphometry, by modulating gut microbiome. The use of liquid carbohydrates in diets based on alternative foods for tilapias emerges as an innovative tool to improve the productive performance of fish sustainably and at a lower production cost.

Keywords: β -mannans, β -mannanase, carbohydrase, *Oreochromis niloticus*, microbiome, non-starch polysaccharides

1. Introduction

Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus) is the second most reared freshwater fish species worldwide, with omnivorous eating habits, consequently able to take advantage of ingredients of plant origin (FAO, 2022). These characteristics are valuable when it arises to not competing with human food, which is seen as a great advantage, given the growing demand for quality and sustainable food (Schader et al., 2015). However, plantorigin ingredients contain several anti-nutritional factors, such as non-starch polysaccharides (NSPs), that limit their inclusion in aquafeeds (Castillo and Gatlin, 2015; Sinha et al., 2011). Soybean meal is a particularly NSP-rich feed ingredient, containing 1.3-2.7% of β -mannans, which are primarily composed of galactomannans and glucomannans, and β -mannans that are not digested by fish (Tester and Al-Ghazzewi, 2013; Tiwari et al., 2020). β -mannans cause an increase in digesta viscosity, causing impairments in the diffusion and contact of digestive enzymes with their respective substrates (Chen et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2022; Siti-Norita et al., 2015). Such impairments reduce the digestibility and absorption of nutrients, thereby decreasing fish's growth performance (Dawood and Shi, 2022). Thus, using β -mannanase effectively reduces the anti-nutritional effects caused by NSPs (Castillo and Gatlin, 2015; Chen et al., 2016; Dawood et al., 2020).

The β -mannanase enzyme can hydrolyze the mannan bonds present in food. Its primary mode of action is the reduction of digesta viscosity, allowing for greater diffusion and access of digestive enzymes to substrates. Thus, β -mannanase increases digestibility and utilization of nutrients, thereby improving growth performance in monogastric animals (Chen et al., 2016; Sallam et al., 2020; Yilmaz et al., 2007). Furthermore, the release of additional nutrients and mannans for digestion by the enzyme leads to increased carbohydrate fermentation by the intestinal microbiota, which has been shown to positively modulate the intestinal microbiota, stimulating beneficial bacteria production for the host's health and well-being (Guan et al., 2021; Tiwari et al., 2020). This modulation may also lead to a reduction in pathogenic organisms through changes in the short-chain fatty acid (SCFAs) production pattern, responsible for a decrease in intestinal pH (Dawood et al., 2022; Louis et al., 2014). SCFAs, a by-product of carbohydrate fermentation by intestinal microorganisms, can be used as an energy source and have been shown to stimulate intestinal health through an increase in the height and width of villi, as certain SCFAs, such as butyric acid, are utilized almost exclusively for the nutrition of intestinal absorptive cells (He et al., 2020; Kasubuchi et al., 2015; Tran et al., 2020). However, whether the β -mannanase regulates the underlying mechanism of gut health of Nile tilapia is largely unknown. Thus, the current research aimed to explore the effects of graded levels of exogenous β -mannanase supplementation on growth performance, blood parameters, digestive enzyme activity, SCFAs production, gut morphology, and microbiome composition in juvenile Nile tilapia fed extruded vegetablebased diets.

2. Material and methods

2.1. Ethics statement

All fish procedures were performed following the Guidelines for Care and Use of Laboratory Animals and approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of the State University of Ponta Grossa (Protocol: 22.000024303-4).

2.2. Diets

A basal diet contained 311.2 g kg⁻¹ of crude protein and 18.98 MJ kg⁻¹ of gross energy, without β -mannanase supplementation (control) was formulated based on

soybean meal, broken rice, wheat bran, corn, and poultry by-product meal as primary food ingredients, and formulated to meet the dietary requirements of Nile tilapia (NRC, 2011). From the basal diet, five other diets were elaborated by supplementing 1600, 3200, 4800, 6400 and 8000 TMU kg⁻¹ diet of β -mannanase. Exogenous β -mannanase enzyme inclusion replaced an equal silica amount, as shown in Tables 1 and 2.

Ingredients	g kg ⁻¹ (as-fed basis)
Broken rice ^a	80
Soybean meal ^b	440
Poultry by-product meal ^c	150
Wheat bran ^b	100
Corn ^b	165
Soybean oil ^d	20
Corn starch ^e	20
DL-methionine 99 ^f	2
L-lysine ^f	3
Dicalcium phosphate ^g	10
Mineral and vitamin mix ^h	8
Inert (Silica) ⁱ	1
$Cr_2O_3{}^j$	1

Table 1. Ingredients composition of the experimental diets ($g kg^{-1}$ diet).

^a Armazém São Vito, São Paulo, SP, Brazil.

^b Bunge, Ponta Grossa, PR, Brazil.

^c BRF, Toledo, PR, Brazil.

^d Coamo, PR, Brazil.

^e Yoki, São Bernardo do Campo, São Paulo, Brazil.

^fAjinomoto Animal Nutrition Division, SP, Brazil.

^g Sarfos, Goiás, Brazil.

^hCustomized premix (Composition per kilogram of feed (IU or mg kg⁻¹ of diet): vitamin A (retinyl acetate), 6,000 IU; vitamin D₃, (cholecalciferol), 1,000 IU; vitamin E (DL-α-tocopheryl acetate), 60 mg; vitamin K₃ (menadione Na-bisulphate), 12 mg; vitamin B₁ (thiamine HCl), 24 mg; vitamin B₂ (riboflavin), 24 mg; vitamin B₆ (pyridoxine HCl), 20 mg; vitamin B₁₂ (cyanocobalamin), 0.05 mg; folic acid, 6 mg; D-calcium pantothenate, 60 mg; ascorbic acid (ascorbyl polyphosphate), 350 mg; D-biotin, 0.24 mg; choline chloride, 800 mg; niacin, 120 mg; ferrous sulfate (FeSO₄.H₂O.7H₂O), 50 mg; copper sulfate (CuSO₄.7H₂O), 3 mg; manganese sulfate (MnSO₄.H₂O), 20 mg; zinc sulfate (CaSO₄.4H₂O), 0.25 mg; sodium selenite (Na₂SeO₃), = 0.1 mg, BHT, 200 mg; calcium propionate, 1000mg.

ⁱ Merck Company, Germany.

^j Sygma-Aldrich Brazil Ltda, 99.5%, São Paulo, SP, Brazil.

All diets were ground through a 0.8-mm screen in a centrifugal mill (Viera MC 680B, Tatuí, SP, Brazil). The extrusion process was performed through a 1.5-mm die diameter in a single screen extruder with die temperature set at 92°C (Exteec EX30, Ribeirão Preto, SP, Brazil), obtaining pellets with 2.5-mm of diameter and floatability rate higher than 99%. After that, the pellets were dried in a drying drum with rotary drier at 55°C (pellet temperature) for 10 min (Model E-62, Ferraz Máquinas e Engenharia LTDA, Ribeirão Preto, SP, Brazil).

Item	g kg ⁻¹ (as-dry matter basis)
Dry matter	932.1
Gross energy (MJ kg ⁻¹)	18.98
Crude protein	311.2
Crude fiber	38.24
Crude lipid	31.40
Ash	64.3
Amino acid	
Essential amino acid	
Arginine	1.910
Histidine	0.811
Isoleucine	1.149
Leucine	2.536
Lysine	1.796
Methionine	0.582
Phenylalanine	1.620
Threonine	1.409
Tryptophan	0.366
Valine	1.687
Non-essential amino acid	
Alanine	1.722
Aspartic acid	2.829
Cysteine	0.511
Glutamic acid	4.756
Glycine	1.892
Proline	0.000
Serine	1.807
Tyrosine	0.944

Table 2. Analyzed composition of the basal diet (g kg^{-1} dry matter basis).

_

Liquid β -mannanase (Natupulse[®] TS, BASF, Ludwigshafen am Rhein, Germany; 8000 TMU g⁻¹) were top-sprayed onto each kilogram of diet to supply 1600; 3200; 4800; 6400 and, 8000 TMU kg⁻¹ diet of endo-1,4- β -mannanase, being applied 0.2; 0.4; 0.6; 0.8 and 1.0 g kg⁻¹ of Natupulse. The same procedure was applied to unsupplemented diet to receive the same treatment, but without the commercial β -mannanase inclusion in soybean oil.

2.3. Fish and Experimental Design

The experiment was conducted at the Aquaculture Laboratory of the State University of Ponta Grossa, Ponta Grossa, PR, Brazil. All-male masculinized Nile tilapia fingerlings (n = 1500; 3.0 ± 0.5 g; Premium Aquabel strain) were obtained from Aquabel Fish Farm (Rolândia, PR, Brazil). Fish were acclimated for a 4-week period in a circular tank (500 L), with temperature and dissolved oxygen set at 28°C and 6 mg L^{-1} , respectively. Fish were hand-fed a commercial extruded diet (Supra, 1.0 mm Ø; Alisul Alimentos, Maringá, PR, Brazil), with 460 g kg⁻¹ of crude protein, six times daily for 21 days. Afterward, fish (n = 504; 7.0 \pm 0.43 g; mean \pm SD) were grouped-weighed and randomly distributed into 24 plastic aquaria (70 L each) equipped with a recirculating system composed of a decanter to remove solids, a mechanical filter with bio-balls, heater (3000W) and a central UV-light disinfection system (55W). The aeration system was comprised of a centrifugal 0.5-HP blower (Sulpesca, Toledo, PR, Brazil) fitted with silicone airline tubing, with a porous stone in each experimental aquarium. Each aquarium was siphoned daily to keep a renovation of 10% of the water volume and remove fish metabolites. Temperature was set at 28 ± 0.5 °C, dissolved oxygen was kept at 6.2 ± 0.2 mg L^{-1} , and water flow was kept at 1.2 L min⁻¹ per aquarium throughout the trial. Data of individual aquarium temperature and dissolved oxygen were monitored daily using YSI Multi-Parameter Water Quality Meter (YSI Incorporated, Ohio, USA). Water quality parameters were monitored weekly with a pH-meter (TEC-2, Piracicaba, SP, Brazil) and kept at 7.0 using calcium carbonate and phosphoric acid; ammonia, nitrite, and nitrate analysis were performed using commercial kits (Alfakit, Florianópolis, SC, Brazil), and were kept at 0.01; 0.02 and 0.01 mg L^{-1} , respectively. Fish were hand-fed from 8:00 to 18:00 h; 12 times daily until apparent satiety for 60 days.

2.4. Sample collection

At the beginning of the feeding trial, 50 fish with a 24-h period of fasting were randomly sampled for initial whole-body composition analysis. On day 59 of the experimental trial, all fish were staggered fed, and after 4 h, four fish from each aquarium were randomly sampled and euthanized with overdose of tricaine methanesulphonate (MS-222;800 mg L^{-1}), individually weighed, and samples of intestine and gut digesta activity of pH, digestive enzymes SCFAs and microbiome analysis. For histology analysis, the middle part of the intestine (1 cm) of four fish from each aquarium (16 fish per treatment) was collected and fixed in 10% buffered formalin for 24 h. Further, the mid-intestine content was aseptically collected for microbiome analysis. For this, the gut was gently squeezed, and 750 mg of digesta from each fish was collected with a 1,000 mL micropipette, pooled in a 2-mL cryogenic tube, snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored at -80°C. On day 60, fish were fasted for 24h and bulk weighed, and six fish from each aquarium were randomly sampled and euthanized with an overdose of MS-222 (Sigma-Aldrich; 800 mg L^{-1} water) for whole-body proximate composition analysis. In parallel, four fish from each aquarium were randomly collected, anesthetized for blood collection, and euthanized for liver and visceral fat weight measurements. A pooled 3 mL blood aliquot was collected from the caudal vein for biochemical analysis. Plasma was obtained by centrifugation at 3000 rpm for 10 min (Kasvi - SKU K14-1215, São José dos Pinhais, PR, Brazil). Feces samples were collected daily from days 50 to 58 of the feeding trial, 30 min. after feeding, kept in falcon tubes (50 mL), and frozen at -20° C for viscosity analysis.

2.5 Chemical analysis

The proximate composition of diets and whole-body fish samples were performed according to standard methods of Association of Official Analytical Chemists (AOAC, 2002). Moisture analysis was determined by oven-drying at 105°C until constant weight, while crude lipid analysis was performed by ether-extraction method (Folch et al., 1957). Crude protein (N × 6.25) analysis was performed using the macro Kjeldahl method (Tecnal, MA-036, Piracicaba, SP, Brazil) after acid hydrolysis. The analysis of ash was achieved by overnight combustion in a muffle furnace at 550°C (Tecnal, 2000B, Belo Horizonte, MG, Brazil). The crude fiber analysis was performed according to loss on ignition of dried lipid-free residues following digestion with 1.25% H₂SO₄ and 1.25% NaOH. The profile of dietary amino acids were determined by High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPCL) (Hitachi, Tokyo, Japan), at the Laboratory of Ajinomoto do Brasil Indústria e Comércio de Alimentos Ltda, Division of Animal Nutrition (São Paulo, SP, Brazil) (Rayner, 1985). Tryptophan was determined after alkaline hydroxylation of the sample with lithium hydroxide.

2.6 Calculations

Growth performance parameters were calculated as follows:

- Body weight gain (%) = [(final weight (g) initial weight (g)) / (initial weight (g))] × 100.
- Feed intake (% of body weight per day⁻¹) = [dry feed intake (g) / average fish weigh (g) / days fed] × 100.
- Feed efficiency ratio = [weight gain dry feed consumed (g) / dry feed consumed (g)].
- Protein efficiency ratio = (%) = [(protein gain (g) x protein intake (%))] x 100.
- Energy retention efficiency (%) = [(energy gain (MJ) / energy intake (MJ))] × 100.
- Hepatosomatic index (%) = [(liver weight (g) / body weight (g))] \times 100.
- Visceral fat ratio (%) = [(visceral fat weight (g) / visceral fat (g)] \times 100.
- Survival (%) = number of fish at the end of the experimental trial / number of fish at the beginning of the experimental trial x 100.

2.7. Digesta pH and viscosity

Digesta pH was measured using a pH-meter (Kasvi – ATC-K39-0014PA, São José dos Pinhais, PR, Brazil), placed directly in the gut digesta. Feces samples were centrifuged at 3000 rpm x g for 10 min (Kasvi – SKU K14-1215, São José dos Pinhais, PR, Brazil) to obtain the liquid phase. The supernatant obtained was placed in the viscometer (Brookfield Digital Viscometer, Model DV-II Version 2.0, Brookfield Engineering Laboratories Inc., Stoughton, MA), set at 28°C. The viscosity measurement was the average 50.0/s shear rate, and the viscosity values were recorded as apparent viscosity in centipoise (cP).

2.8. Activity of digestive enzymes

Intestinal tissues were homogenized in buffer (10 mM phosphate / 20 mM TrispH 7.0) for 1 minute (4°C) using Potter Dounce homogenizer. Then the samples were centrifuged at 5000 rpm for 5 minutes, and the supernatants were collected for enzymatic assays. Amylase and lipase activity were estimated using commercial kits (Kit Bioclin). The total non-specific proteolytic activity was measured using the casein hydrolysis method (Kunitz, 1946) with minor modifications (Walter, 1984). The enzymatic reaction consisted of 1% casein in water (0.25 mL), 0.1 M Tris HCl pH 7 (0.25 mL) and enzyme sample (0.1 mL), being incubated for 1 h at 3°C. The reaction was stopped by adding 0.6 ml of 8% trichloroacetic acid. After holding for 1 h at 2°C, samples were centrifuged at $1800 \times g$ for 10 min, and absorbance of the supernatant was recorded at 340 nm. Tyrosine was used as a standard, and one unit of enzyme activity was defined as the amount of enzyme required to catalyze the formation of 1 µg of tyrosine per minute.

2.9. Blood parameters

Blood parameters were analyzed by spectrometry in a semi-automatic biochemical analyzer (BIO-2000 IL, Barueri, SP, Brazil) using commercial kits (Bioclin – Quibasa, Belo Horizonte, MG, Brazil) to determine total protein (Cat. 90.019.00), triglycerides (Cat. 90.022.00), cholesterol (Cat. 90.021.00), and glucose (Cat. 90.017.00) contents. Additionally, the blood parameters of alanine aminotransferase (Cat. 90.013.00) and aspartate aminotransferase (Cat. 90.015.00) enzymes were analyzed using commercial kits.

2.10. Short Chain Fatty Acids

The concentrations of acetic, propionic and butyric acids in the samples were determined by gas chromatography using Shimadzu[©] GC-2010 Plus chromatograph equipped with AOC-20i automatic injector, Stabilwax-DATM capillary column (30m, 0.25mm ID, 0.25µm df, Restek[©]) and flame ionization detector (FID), after acidification

with 1 M o-phosphoric acid p.a. (Ref. 100573, Merck[©]) and fortification with a mixture of free volatile acids (Ref. 46975, Supelco[©]).

An aliquot of 1µL of each sample was injected with a split ratio of 40:1, using helium as carrier gas with a linear velocity of 42 cm.s⁻¹, obtaining the separation of the analytes in a chromatographic run of 11.5 minutes. The injector and detector temperatures were 250°C and 300°C, respectively, and the initial column temperature was 40°C. The column temperature ramp started with a gradient from 40 to 120°C at the rate of 40°C.min⁻¹, followed by a gradient from 120 to 180°C at the rate of 10°C.min⁻¹ and from 180 to 240°C at the rate of 120°C.min⁻¹, keeping the temperature at 240°C for another 3 min. For the quantification of analytes, a calibration of the method was performed with dilutions of WSFA-2 standard (Ref. 47056, Supelco[®]) and glacial acetic acid (Ref. 33209, Sigma-Aldrich[®]) analyzed under the conditions described above. The determination and integration of peaks were performed using the software GCsolution v. 2.42.00 (Shimadzu[®]).

2.11. Intestinal histology

The middle part of the intestines of four fish from each aquarium (16 fish per treatment) was sampled (1cm) and fixed in buffered formalin (10%) for 24 hours. Intestinal fragments were embedded in paraffin blocks (Prophet et al., 1992), using semi-serial 5 μ m cross-sectioned, and finally stained with hematoxylin-eosin (HE), according to previously described methodology (Dimitroglou et al., 2010). For the villous height measurement, 100 intact villi were measured per fish, totaling 1600 measures per treatment. The histological sections were examined under an optical microscope attached to a camera (Pro-Series from Media Cybertechniques, Olympus, Japan) to capture images. The total villus height (TVH), villus width (VW), and villus

epithelium thickness (VET) were measured using the Image-Pro Plus software (Image Pro Plus - version 5.2- Cyber Media).

2.12. Microbiome

Commercial kit GenElute[™] Soil DNA Isolation Kit (Sigma Aldrich[®]) was used to extract the DNA from the samples, following the protocol recommended by the manufacturer. The extracted DNA was quantified by spectrophotometry at 260nm. The integrity of the extracted DNA was checked by electrophoresis on a 1% agarose gel, stained with a 1% ethidium bromide solution, and visualized with ultraviolet light. A 250base segment of the hypervariable region V4 of the ribosomal 16S rRNA gene was amplified using universal primers 515F and 806R and the following PCR conditions: 94°C for 3 min, 18 cycles of 94°C for 45 sec, 50°C for 30 sec and 68°C for 60 sec, followed by 72°C for 10 min. The amplifiers were pooled and sequenced in Illumina[®] "MiSeq" sequencer (Degnan and Ochman, 2012). A summary of the sequences used in the taxonomic classification is furnished in Table 3.

Sample count / summary							
Number of samples	24						
Number of genera	23						
Number of readings	3,230,149						
Minimum number of readings per sample	32,924						
Maximum number of readings per sample	337,408						

Table 3. Summary of the sequences used in taxonomic classification.

Readings obtained in the sequencer were analyzed using the QIIME (Quantitative Insights Into Microbial Ecology) platform, followed by a workflow of removal of low-quality sequences and chimeras and taxonomic classification (Caporaso et al., 2011). The identity (> 97%) between the sequences was considered against a

database. An average of 140.441 readings per sample were used to generate the classification of bacterial communities, normalizing the data and not comparing samples with different readings, thus avoiding a taxonomy bias.

2.13. Statistical analysis

All results were described as least square means and pooled standard error of means (SEM). All data were tested for normality using Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, and homogeneity was tested using Levene's test. Data were analyzed as a two-way ANOVA using the General Linear Model (GLM) procedure. The dose-response effect of supplemental β -mannanase was determined using an orthogonal polynomial contrast for linear and quadratic effects (SAS, version 9.2). In addition, Dunnett's test procedure was used to compare data from each β -mannanase supplementation level with the nonsupplemented diet (control). The Welch test (P < 0.05) was applied for microbiome analysis, followed by the Bonferroni correction test. The analyses were performed using the statistical metagenomics program STAMP for statistical analysis of metagenomic profiles (Parks et al., 2014). The averages for biodiversity between treatments were compared using the number of observed OTUs and the Chao1 index by the Kruskal Wallis test (P < 0.05) once a non-parametric distribution was detected by the Shapiro-Wilk test. Multivariate analysis was employed to conduct principal component (PC) analysis, and the score and loading plot were utilized to ascertain the correlation among individual variables of the first two eigenvalues (PC 1 and 2). All data were analyzed according to the Proc GLM of the Statistical Analysis System (Version 9.0), and values were presented as mean \pm standard error.

3. Results

3.1. Growth performance

The effects of dietary β -mannanase supplementation on the growth performance of juvenile Nile tilapia are presented in Table 4. The final body weight (P < 0.001; $R^2 = 0.508$; $Y_{max.} = 4480$ TMU kg⁻¹ β -mannanase), body weight gain (P < 0.018; $R^2 = 0.248$; $Y_{max.} = 4320$ TMU kg⁻¹ β -mannanase), protein retention efficiency (P < 0.001; $R^2 = 0.752$; $Y_{max.} = 5360$ TMU kg⁻¹ β -mannanase) and energy retention efficiency (P < 0.001; $R^2 = 0.752$; $Y_{max.} = 5440$ TMU kg⁻¹ β -mannanase) tended to increase, while feed intake (P < 0.001; $R^2 = 0.752$; $Y_{max.} = 5520$ TMU kg⁻¹ β -mannanase) tended to decrease in a quadratic pattern by the polynomial regression analysis in fish fed graded levels of β mannanase.

		β-mar	nnanase ² (P-value				
Parameter	0	1600	3200	4800	6400	8000	SEM ³	L^4	Q^4	Dunnet ⁵
Initial body weight (g)	7.16	7.13	7.24	7.13	7.14	7.26	0.034	0.619	0.726	0.938
Final body weight (g)	118.21	119.02	121.57	123.94*	124.11*	118.09	0.509	0.185	< 0.001	< 0.001
Body weight gain (%)	1552.4	1570.4	1580.6	1637.0*	1638.3*	1530.1	9.024	0.583	0.018	0.049
Feed intake (% body weight day^{-1})	2.97	2.72*	2.67*	2.66*	2.60*	2.67*	0.020	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
Feed efficiency ratio	0.99	1.08*	1.10*	1.11*	1.14*	1.10*	0.011	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
Protein retention efficiency (%)	38.48	43.69*	46.12*	46.82*	46.05*	45.45*	0.52	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
Energy retention efficiency (%)	36.25	41.04*	42.42*	42.85*	42.03*	40.66*	0.36	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
Hepatosomatic index (%)	2.95	3.23	3.19	3.31	3.37	3.20	0.060	0.289	0.311	0.785
Visceral fat ratio (%)	2.14	1.83	1.67	1.99	2.18	1.95	0.044	0.720	0.173	0.067

Table 4. Growth performance of juvenile Nile tilapia fed the experimental diets¹.

¹ Values are means and standard error of the mean of four replicate cages of 21 fish each. ² Endo-1,4-β-mannanase (Natupulse TM[®], 8000 TMU kg⁻¹, BASF Corporation, Ludwigshafen, Germany).

³ Pooled standard error of the means.

⁴ Orthogonal polynomials were used to evaluate linear and quadratic responses to the levels of β -mannanase.

⁵Means within a row with different superscripts differ significantly from Control diet (β -mannanase = 0 TMU kg⁻¹) by Dunnet's test (P < 0.05).

The feed efficiency ratio (P < 0.001; $R^2 = 0.745$; $Y_{min.} = 5440$ TMU kg⁻¹ β -mannanase) increased quadratically in fish fed graded levels of dietary β -mannanase (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Feed efficiency ratio of juvenile Nile tilapia fed diets with graded levels of βmannanase. Each dot triangle represents mean value of 21 fish as replicate aquarium. Orthogonal polynomials were used to evaluate quadratic responses to the levels of βmannanase. Means with asterisks superscripts differ significantly from control diet (βmannanase = 0 TMU kg⁻¹ diet) by Dunnet's test (P < 0.05).

Based on Dunnet's test, final body weight (P < 0.001) and body weight gain (P < 0.049) were significantly higher in fish fed 4800 and 6400 TMU kg⁻¹ diet of β -mannanase than those fish fed control diet. Additionally, feed conversion ratio (P < 0.001), protein retention efficiency (P < 0.001), and energy retention efficiency (P < 0.001) were significantly higher in fish β mannanase-supplemented diets than fish fed control diet. There were no significant differences in hepatosomatic index, and the visceral fat ratio of fish fed experimental diets (P > 0.05), and no fish mortality was recorded during the feeding trial.

3.2. Whole-body composition

The effects of β -mannanase supplementation on whole-body composition of juvenile Nile tilapia are presented in Table 5. Whole-body crude protein (*P* = 0.007), crude lipids (*P* < 0.001), and ash (*P* = 0.008) contents increased linearly with increasing levels of dietary β -mannanase.

		β-m	annanase ²			P-value				
Parameter	0	1600	3200	4800	6400	8000	SEM ³	L^4	Q^4	Dunnet ⁵
Moisture	73.38	73.11	72.86	73.31	72.06	73.28	0.123	0.330	0.331	0.110
Crude protein	12.55	12.98	13.42*	13.18*	13.51	13.32	0.080	0.007	0.065	0.039
Crude lipid	9.75	10.39	10.58*	10.41	10.61*	12.17*	0.126	< 0.001	0.074	< 0.001
Ash	3.33	3.22	3.45	3.45	3.41	3.76	0.039	0.008	0.240	0.054
Gross energy (MJ kg ⁻¹)	6.48	6.54	6.61	6.66	6.74	6.55	0.039	0.347	0.289	0.745

Table 5. Whole-body composition $(g kg^{-1})$ of juvenile Nile tilapia fed the experimental diets¹.

¹ Values are means and standard error of the mean of four replicate cages of 21 fish each. ² Endo-1,4-β-mannanase (Natupulse $TM^{\text{®}}$, 8000 TMU kg⁻¹, BASF Corporation, Ludwigshafen, Germany).

³Pooled standard error of the means.

⁴ Orthogonal polynomials were used to evaluate linear and quadratic responses to the levels of β -mannanase.

⁵Means within a row with different superscripts differ significantly from Control diet (β -mannanase = 0 TMU kg⁻¹) by Dunnet's test (P < 0.05).

Additionally, Dunnet's test showed significant increases in whole-body crude protein, and crude lipid in fish fed diets with 3200 to 8000 TMU kg⁻¹ dietary β -mannanase than fish fed control diet. However, whole-body moisture and gross energy contents were not affected by adding different β -mannanase levels in the diet (*P* > 0.05).

3.3. Activity of digestive enzymes

The effects of dietary β -mannanase on the activity of digestive enzymes of Nile tilapia juveniles are summarized in Table 6. The amylase activity increased linearly (P < 0.001) according to increasing β -mannanase levels in the diets.

		β-m	annanase ²			P-value				
Parameter	0	1600	3200	4800	6400	8000	SEM ³	L^4	Q^4	Dunnet ⁵
Amylase (μ m g ⁻¹)	20.72	25.52*	33.86*	33.40*	40.41*	43.82*	1.356	< 0.001	0.152	< 0.001
Protease ($\mu m g^{-1}$)	26.94	28.83*	33.44*	33.79*	33.61*	33.85*	0.525	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
Lipase ($\mu m g^{-1}$)	3.25	3.78*	4.37*	4.80*	4.42*	3.90*	0.091	0.009	< 0.001	< 0.001

Table 6. Digestive enzymes in the gut of juvenile Nile tilapia fed the experimental diets¹.

¹ Values are means and standard error of the mean of four replicate cages of 21 fish each. ² Endo-1,4-β-mannanase (Natupulse $TM^{\text{(B)}}$, 8000 TMU kg⁻¹, BASF Corporation, Ludwigshafen, Germany).

³ Pooled standard error of the means.

⁴ Orthogonal polynomials were used to evaluate linear and quadratic responses to the levels of β -mannanase.

⁵Means within a row with different superscripts differ significantly from Control diet (β -mannanase = 0 TMU kg⁻¹) by Dunnet's test (P < 0.05).

Differently, protease (P < 0.001; $R^2 = 0.908$; $Y_{max.} = 6320$ TMU kg⁻¹ β -mannanase) and lipase (P < 0.001; $R^2 = 0.861$; $Y_{min.} = 4800$ TMU kg⁻¹ β -mannanase) activity tended to increase in a quadratic manner (P < 0.001) according to graded β -mannanase levels. According to Dunnet's test, the addition of β -mannanase promoted higher activity (P < 0.001) of digestive enzymes compared to fish fed control diet.

3.4. Blood parameters

The effects of dietary β -mannanase on blood parameters of juvenile Nile tilapia are shown in Table 7. Alanine aminotransferase activity (P < 0.001; $R^2 = 0.763$; $Y_{max.} = 4720$ TMU kg⁻¹ β -mannanase) and triglycerides contents (P < 0.001; $R^2 = 0.438$; $Y_{min.} = 4480$ TMU kg⁻¹ β -mannanase), tended to decrease in a quadratic manner (P < 0.001) according to dietary β mannanase increased in the diet. In contrast, blood glucose levels decreased linearly (P < 0.013) as dietary β -mannanase increased.

	β -mannanase ² (TMU kg ⁻¹ diet)							P-value		
Parameter	0	1600	3200	4800	6400	8000	SEM ³	L ⁴	Q^4	Dunnet ⁵
Aspartate aminotransferase (IU L ⁻¹)	32.30	32.30	39.29	36.09	33.18	37.98	1.345	0.452	0.705	0.817
Alanine aminotransferase (IU L^{-1})	65.60	54.24	22.88*	28.09*	34.65*	47.30*	2.796	0.031	< 0.001	< 0.001
Triglycerides (mg dl ⁻¹)	222.59	242.45	308.65*	311.09*	319.32*	230.47	9.154	0.263	0.001	0.010
Glucose (mg dl ⁻¹)	62.77	65.49	58.02	57.66	57.47	50.96	1.364	0.013	0.625	0.194
Total protein (g dl ⁻¹)	2.42	2.27	1.94	2.35	2.31	2.30	0.056	0.951	0.333	0.653
Cholesterol (mg dl ⁻¹)	118.38	105.56	108.53	117.02	121.01	118.50	2.487	0.459	0.502	0.806

Table 7. Blood parameters of juvenile Nile tilapia fed the experimental diets¹.

¹ Values are means and standard error of the mean of four replicate cages of 21 fish each. ² Endo-1,4-β-mannanase (Natupulse $TM^{\$}$, 8000 TMU kg⁻¹, BASF Corporation, Ludwigshafen, Germany).

³ Pooled standard error of the means.

⁴ Orthogonal polynomials were used to evaluate linear and quadratic responses to the levels of β-mannanase. ⁵ Means within a row with different superscripts differ significantly from Control diet (β-mannanase = 0 TMU kg⁻¹) by Dunnet's test (P < 0.05).

Based on Dunnet's test, alanine aminotransferase activity was significantly lower (P < 0.001) in fish fed diets with 3200 to 8000 TMU kg⁻¹ dietary β -mannanase than fish fed control diet. In addition, blood triglycerides were significantly (P < 0.010) higher in fish fed diets with 3200 to 6400 TMU kg⁻¹ dietary β -mannanase than fish fed control diet. Nevertheless, there were no significant differences (P > 0.05) in aspartate aminotransferase, total protein, and cholesterol content in plasma.

3.5. Short chain fatty acids, viscosity, and pH of feces

The effects of dietary β -mannanase addition on gut SCFAs production, pH, and viscosity values are shown in Table 8. Gut acetic acid (P < 0.001; $R^2 = 0.593$; $Y_{max.} = 4160$ TMU kg⁻¹ β -mannanase diet), propionic acid (P < 0.001; $R^2 = 0.637$; $Y_{max.} = 2880$ TMU kg⁻¹ β -mannanase) and butyric acid (P < 0.001; $R^2 = 0.632$; $Y_{max.} = 3920$ TMU kg⁻¹ β -mannanase), increased in a quadratic manner with the inclusion of increasing levels of dietary β -mannanase. However, the gut viscosity and pH decreased linearly (P < 0.001) as the β -mannanase supplementation increased in the diet.

		β-m	annanase ² (P-value				
Parameter	0	1600	3200	4800	6400	8000	SEM ³	L^4	Q^4	Dunnet ⁵
Acetic acid	11.62	12.61	13.61*	14.43*	13.20	11.53	0.229	0.705	< 0.001	< 0.001
Propionic acid	0.97	0.92	1.03	1.03	0.88	0.57*	0.030	0.005	< 0.001	< 0.001
Butyric acid	0.49	0.69*	0.78*	0.80*	0.58	0.51	0.025	0.727	< 0.001	< 0.001
Viscosity (cP)	3.41	2.89*	2.89*	2.53*	2.17*	1.76*	0.095	< 0.001	0.178	< 0.001
рН	7.93	7.38*	7.29*	7.28*	7.28*	7.25*	0.040	< 0.001	0.001	< 0.001

Table 8. Short-chain fatty acids, digesta viscosity and pH of juvenile Nile tilapia fed the experimental diets¹.

¹ Values are means and standard error of the mean of four replicate cages of 21 fish each. ² Endo-1,4-β-mannanase (Natupulse $TM^{\text{®}}$, 8000 TMU kg⁻¹, BASF Corporation, Ludwigshafen, Germany).

³ Pooled standard error of the means.

⁴ Orthogonal polynomials were used to evaluate linear and quadratic responses to the levels of β -mannanase.

⁵Means within a row with different superscripts differ significantly from Control diet (β -mannanase = 0 TMU kg⁻¹) by Dunnet's test (P < 0.05).

Based on Dunnet's test, acetic acid content (P < 0.001) was higher in fish fed diets with 4800 and 6400 TMU kg⁻¹ diet of β -mannanase compared to fish fed control diet, whereas the propionic acid production (P < 0.001) was higher in the fish fed diet with 8000 TMU kg⁻¹ diet of β -mannanase than fish fed control diet. The butyric acid production (P < 0.001) was higher in fish fed diets with 1600, 3200, and 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ diet of β -mannanase than fish fed control diet. The viscosity (P < 0.001) and digesta pH (P < 0.001) was lower in fish fed β mannanase supplemented diet relative to that fed control diet.

3.6. Gut morphometry

The effects of dietary β -mannanase on gut morphometry are shown in Table 9. The total villus height (P = 0.003; $R^2 = 0.495$; $Y_{min.} = 5040$ TMU kg⁻¹ β -mannanase) and the villus width (P = 0.031; $R^2 = 0.239$; $Y_{min.} = 4560$ TMU kg⁻¹ β -mannanase) increased in a quadratic manner in fish fed graded levels of dietary β -mannanase.

		β-m	annanase ² ($(TMU kg^{-1})$			P-value			
Parameter	0	1600	3200	4800	6400	8000	SEM ³	L^4	Q^4	Dunnet ⁵
Total villus height (µm)	341.4	368.7	474.7*	479.4*	615.5*	383.9	20.789	0.021	0.003	< 0.001
Villus width (µm)	138.3	143.2	158.0	167.5	168.1	140.7	4.612	0.320	0.031	0.194
Villus height: villus width	2.5	2.6	3.0	2.9	3.7*	2.8	0.106	0.038	0.101	0.011

Table 9. Intestinal morphology of juvenile Nile tilapia fed the experimental diets¹.

¹ Values are means and standard error of the mean of four replicate cages of 21 fish each. ² Endo-1,4-β-mannanase (Natupulse $TM^{(B)}$, 8000 TMU kg⁻¹, BASF Corporation, Ludwigshafen, Germany).

³ Pooled standard error of the means.

⁴ Orthogonal polynomials were used to evaluate linear and quadratic responses to the levels of β -mannanase.

⁵Means within a row with different superscripts differ significantly from Control diet (β -mannanase = 0 TMU kg⁻¹) by Dunnet's test (P < 0.05).

However, the villus height:width ratio increased linearly (P = 0.038), with increased dietary levels of β -mannanase. According to Dunnet's test, the total villus height was higher (P < 0.001) in fish fed diets with 3200 and 6400 TMU kg⁻¹ diet of β -mannanase than fish fed control diet (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Villus height (VH), villus width (VW), and villus:width relation (VWR) of the medium intestine wall of juvenile Nile tilapia fed either diet control, not supplemented (control) or supplemented with β -mannanase 4800 TMU kg⁻¹. Objective: 40×. Staining: Hematoxylineosin.

Additionally, the villus height:width ratio was higher (P = 0.011) in fish fed diet with 6400 TMU kg⁻¹ of dietary β -mannanase than fish fed control diet. Notably, fish fed diet with 6400 TMU kg⁻¹ diet β -mannanase showed higher villus height with similar villus width, in which resulted in higher villus height:width ratio relative to fish fed control diet.

3.7. Gut microbiota population characteristics

The alpha diversity index showed higher (P < 0.05) bacterial diversity in fish fed the β -mannanase supplemented diets. The taxonomic composition of bacterial communities at the phylum level is presented in Figure 3.



Figure 3. General view of the taxonomic composition of the bacterial community of juvenile Nile tilapia fed diets with graded levels of β -mannanase at the phylum level using a stacked plot. Data represent the means of four replicate cages of 21 fish each.

A clear grouping of samples by principal component analysis (PCA) was observed, suggesting differentiation of the bacterial communities due to the dietary treatments. Principal component analysis shows that the PC1 axis represents 81.9% of the observed microbiota modulation responses, primarily represented by dietary β -mannanase levels of 3200, 4800 and, 6400 TMU kg⁻¹, composed of the phyla *Firmicutes*, *Bacteroidetes* and, *Actinobacteria* (Figure 4A). Figure 4B shows that fish fed diets without and with 1600 and 8000 TMU kg⁻¹ dietary β -mannanase are negatively correlated with the microbiota of fish that received 3200 to 6400 TMU kg⁻¹ dietary β -mannanase, being mainly represented by phylum *Fusobacteria* and *Proteobacteria*.



Figure 4. Principal component analysis (PCA) of the phylum of the gut bacterial communities of Nile tilapia diets with graded levels of β -mannanase. The figure was constructed using the Bray-Curtis distance method and represents the phylogenetic distance between samples, a summary of the bacterial composition. Each point represents the mean of entire microbiota of four replicate aquaria. Distant points indicate more different microbiota.

Figure 5 shows a box plot of the individual components of the significant phyla *Actinobacteria*, *Proteobacteria*, *Firmicutes*, *Bacteroidete* and *Fusobacteria* identified in the gut microbiome of juvenile Nile tilapia fed graded dietary β -mannanase levels.



Figure 5. Box plot comparing the differences between the main phylum observed in the gut of juvenile Nile tilapia fed diets with graded levels of β -mannanase. (A) *Proteobacteria*; (B) *Fusobacteria*; (C) *Bacteroidetes*; (D) *Firmicutes*; (E) *Actinobacteria*; (F) Others phylum. The black lozenge dot on the boxplot's right side indicate each treatment's mean values, while the boxplots show the lower, median, and upper quartiles. Means not sharing a common letter differs significantly by Kruskall-Wallis test complemented by Shapiro-Wilk test (P < 0.05).

Analyzing each phylum individually, *Proteobacteria* was higher in fish fed control diet, and 1600, 3200, and 8000 TMU kg⁻¹ dietary β -mannanase, which significantly (P < 0.05) differed from fish fed diets with 4800 and 6400 TMU kg⁻¹ dietary β -mannanase. The *Bacteroidete* phylum was significantly (P < 0.05) higher in fish fed diet with 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ dietary β -mannanase than those fed other diets. For the *Firmicutes* phylum, fish fed 6400 TMU kg⁻¹ β -mannanase showed a significant (P < 0.05) increase relative to that fed diet control. The *Actinobacteria* phylum was significantly (P < 0.05) higher in fish fed diet with 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ treatment compared to those fed diet control and diets with 1600, 3200, and 8000 TMU kg⁻¹ of β -mannanase. Fish fed the diet containing 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ of β -mannanase showed a higher diversity (P < 0.05) of phyla than fish fed diet control. The top twenty bacterial genera abundance of juvenile Nile tilapia fed diets with graded levels of β -mannanase are presented in Table 10.

~			β -mannanase ¹ (TMU kg ⁻¹ diet)			
Genus	0	1600	3200	4800	6400	8000	P-value
Cetobacterium	13.35±1.63	26.14±1.43	16.42 ± 2.00	28.22±3.10	32.24±2.65	23.54±1.24	0.879
Novosphingobium	$50.87{\pm}2.08^{a}$	29.21±1.60 ^{ab}	6.13±0.67 ^b	3.72±0.23 ^b	5.02±0.41 ^b	32.38±2.17 ^{ab}	0.003
Pelomonas	2.67±0.38	5.39±0.71	0.55 ± 0.08	1.23±0.20	1.37±0.20	0.00 ± 0.00	0.471
Phocaeicola	1.19±0.18	0.17 ± 0.01	0.12±0.01	0.10 ± 0.01	1.78±0.10	1.56±0.27	0.469
Alistipes	0.05 ± 0.01	2.56±0.25	0.85 ± 0.08	0.23±0.03	0.53±0.02	0.13±0.01	0.075
Escherichia	$0.88{\pm}0.05^{a}$	0.17 ± 0.01^{bc}	0.04 ± 0.01^{c}	0.05±0.01°	0.11 ± 0.01^{bc}	$0.82{\pm}0.05^{\mathrm{ac}}$	0.002
Lactobacillus	0.06 ± 0.00	0.16±0.01	0.34±0.02	0.53±0.06	0.52±0.03	0.29±0.03	0.440
Streptococcus	0.25 ± 0.02^{b}	0.21 ± 0.02^{b}	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{b}$	0.00 ± 0.00^{b}	0.11 ± 0.01^{b}	$1.29{\pm}0.08^{a}$	0.001
Rhodopseudomonas	0.42 ± 0.06	0.53 ± 0.05	0.06 ± 0.01	0.08 ± 0.01	0.08 ± 0.01	0.35±0.02	0.390
Leucobacter	0.24 ± 0.02	0.33±0.04	0.08 ± 0.00	0.37 ± 0.06	0.05 ± 0.01	0.30±0.05	0.815
Mediterraneibacter	0.24 ± 0.04	0.00 ± 0.00	0.01 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	0.72±0.10	0.40 ± 0.07	0.576
Clostridium	0.22±0.01	0.17 ± 0.01	0.04 ± 0.00	0.01 ± 0.00	0.06 ± 0.00	0.82±0.10	0.160
Bifidobacterium	0.01 ± 0.00^{b}	0.02 ± 0.00^{b}	$0.10{\pm}0.01^{b}$	1.43±0.22 ^{ab}	1.66 ± 0.09^{a}	0.99 ± 0.01^{ab}	0.007
Flavobacterium	0.00 ± 0.00	0.01 ± 0.00	1.25±0.17	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	0.163
Staphylococcus	0.50 ± 0.05	0.23±0.03	0.05±0.01	0.02 ± 0.00	0.26±0.03	0.03±0.00	0.273
Prevotella	0.19 ± 0.02	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	0.01 ± 0.00	0.86±0.14	0.424
Comamonas	0.27 ± 0.02	0.38 ± 0.02	0.32±0.05	0.01 ± 0.00	0.02 ± 0.00	0.05 ± 0.01	0.302
Coprenecus	0.29 ± 0.04	0.11 ± 0.01	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	0.53±0.09	0.556
Bosea	0.26±0.02	0.25 ± 0.02	0.01 ± 0.00	0.15±0.02	0.07 ± 0.01	0.09 ± 0.01	0.472
Lactococcus	0.02 ± 0.00	0.03 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	0.01 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	0.77±0.14	0.462

Table 10. Top 20 bacterial genera abundance of juvenile Nile tilapia fed the experimental diets¹.

¹Endo-1,4-β-mannanase (Natupulse TM[®], 8000 TMU kg⁻¹, BASF Corporation, Ludwigshafen, Germany). ^{a-b} Mean values with different superscripts lowercase letters in the same row indicate significant differences by Welch-test.

diets 3200, 4800 and 6400 TMU kg⁻¹ of β -mannanase, differing from fish fed control diet. Conversely, the abundance of *Escherichia* bacteria was higher (P = 0.002) in fish fed the control diet compared to those fed diets containing 1600, 3200, 4800, and 6400 TMU kg⁻¹ β -mannanase. Additionally, the abundance of *Streptococcus* bacteria in fish fed 8000 TMU kg⁻¹ β -mannanase was higher (P = 0.001) than in those fed other diets containing β -mannanase. The abundance of *Bifidobacterium* was lower (P = 0.007) in fish fed diets control; 1600 and 3200 TMU kg⁻¹ of β -mannanase, differing only from fish fed 6400 TMU kg⁻¹ of dietary β -

9 mannanase.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

10 **4. Discussion**

11 The study confirms that β -mannanase supplementation improved growth performance 12 of Nile tilapia fed diets with 3200 to 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ β -mannanase. Notably, body weight gain, 13 feed efficiency ratio, protein retention, and energy retention efficiency. These results are 14 consistent with emerging studies on β -mannanase effects on growth performance in various fish 15 species (Chen et al., 2016; Dawood and Shi, 2022; Sallam et al., 2020). Together, these findings 16 support the theory that dietary β -mannanase improves growth performance by reducing digesta 17 viscosity and thereby increasing the activity of digestive enzymes.

The present study found that β-mannanase regulated plasma levels of alanine aminotransferase (ALT), glucose, and triglycerides in Nile tilapia, which is in line with previous studies reporting reduced liver damage with β-mannanase in the diet (Chen et al., 2016; Dawood and Shi, 2022; Sallam et al., 2020). High ALT activity reflects abnormal liver function and stress in fish (Wu et al., 2017). This may be due to the greater release of energy and improved access to enzymes and substrates provided by β-mannanase, leading to more nutrients being absorbed (Chen et al., 2016; Sallam et al., 2020).

Concerning plasmatic glucose levels, the study found that increasing levels of β -25 26 mannanase in diets led to a linear reduction in plasma glucose levels. However, this is not consistent with previous research, which showed increased plasma glucose levels with the 27 28 inclusion of β -mannanase in the diet. Glucose levels are related to reduced due intestinal 29 viscosity; however, contrary to this, with increasing β -mannanase levels in diets, we observed 30 a linear decrease in viscosity and plasma glucose levels (El-dakar et al., 2022). In light of such findings, our research casts a new light on the availability of nutrients such as glucose once we 31 32 can consider an overview of a series of factors capable of influencing the absorption and serum levels of glucose in fish fed with increasing levels of β -mannanase. The first approach is 33 34 evaluating the effects of β -mannanase on the production of SCFAs and their effects on glucose metabolism (He et al., 2020; Koh et al., 2016). The SCFA can activate FFAR3, stimulating the 35 36 secretion of intestinal hormones related to glucose regulation, such as PYY in endocrine cells, 37 increasing glucose absorption in muscle and adipose tissue, also causing satiety and consumption reduction, corroborating the performance data in this experiment (Ribola et al., 38 2017). Furthermore, SCFA activates FFAR2, which stimulates glucagon-like peptide-1 39 40 secretion, indirectly regulating blood glucose levels, increasing insulin secretion, and reducing pancreatic glucagon secretion (Barrera et al., 2011; Fujikawa et al., 2013). Activation of FFAR2 41 42 by SCFA also increases leptin secretion, which regulates insulin and glucagon levels, regulating 43 consumption, weight gain, and energy metabolism (He et al., 2020; Mazibuko et al., 2013; 44 Ribola et al., 2017). Therefore, it can be considered that the decreasing linear levels observed in this experiment are because β -mannanase anticipates glucose absorption peaks. Since blood 45 plasma collections were performed staggered in the present study, so that all samples were 46 collected 4 hours after feeding, it would not be possible to evaluate the time course of glucose 47 absorption with distinct levels of β -mannanase in juvenile Nile tilapia. It suggests that further 48 research is needed to clarify this mechanism. 49

Our results suggest that dietary β -mannanase increases energy retention in fish. This 50 is supported by improvements in whole-body crude lipids and plasmatic triglycerides contents 51 in fish fed β -mannanase-contained diets. These findings are in accordance with previous studies 52 with several species, including spinefoot rabbitfish (Siganus rivulatus), rainbow trout 53 54 (Oncorhynchus mykiss), hybrid tilapia (Oreochromis sp.), Nile tilapia, and common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*), which have also shown a positive association between dietary β -mannanase 55 and triglycerides and whole-body crude lipid modulation (Dawood and Shi, 2022; El-Dakar et 56 al., 2022; Sallam et al., 2020; Taj et al., 2020; Yilmaz et al., 2007). β-mannanase reduced 57 digesta viscosity, which allows better access of digestive enzymes to nutrients, thereby 58 59 improves digestibility of nutrients and growth performance of fish (Amirkolaie et al., 2005; Kiarie et al., 2021; Leenhouwers et al., 2007b, 2006; Tran-Tu et al., 2018). Together, these 60 61 findings could explain the higher whole-body crude protein, lipid, and ash in Nile tilapia 62 juveniles. Such data are strongly related to β -mannanase action by breaking the NSPs bonds in the ingredients. As a result, such nutrients, including carbohydrates, are more available in the 63 intestine to be fermented by the microbiota, producing SCFAs in the gut. 64

65 In the present study, dietary β -mannanase affected the production of SCFAs, increasing acetic, propionic, and butyric acid levels. The most important means of SCFAs 66 67 synthesis is endogenous fermentation of carbohydrates in the gut by microbiota present in the intestine (Tran et al., 2020). The profile of SCFAs is mainly dictated by the composition of the 68 69 carbohydrates that will be fermented by bacterial gut and that will also retro-influence the activity of the microbiota (Flint et al., 2014; Ríos-Covián et al., 2016). The main effects 70 71 observed with SCFAs include, but are not limited to: improvements in growth performance, feed efficiency, immune response, survival rate, microbiota modulation, and improvements in 72 intestinal morphology (Ebrahimi et al., 2017; Estensoro et al., 2016; Rimoldi et al., 2018; 73 Robles et al., 2013; Tian et al., 2017). Our research shows that β -mannanase directly influences 74

SCFAs production once acetic, propionic, and butyric acid increase in response to increasing 75 76 dietary β -mannanase. As each SCFA has a different function in the organism, such differences must be observed following the results found in this study. SCFAs are mainly used in the 77 78 vicinity of the intestine itself, once, butyric acid is mainly (99 %) used for increasing epithelial 79 barrier and permeability of intestinal cells through the modulation of proteins of the junctions 80 between intestinal cells, protecting intestinal mucosa and increasing villus density, being solely responsible for improvements in gut health (Canfora et al., 2015; Piazzon et al., 2017). SCFA 81 82 production influences intestinal morphology and pH; thus, intestinal pH fall is the main change expected with NSPs digestion (Tran et al., 2020). Lower pH is responsible for modulating the 83 84 microbiota and reducing pathogenic organisms, as it can dissociate into gram-negative bacteria, which are primarily related to diseases (MacFarlane and Macfarlane, 2012). 85

The results showed that β -mannanase significantly impacted the intestinal microbiota 86 87 composition, with a predominance of Actinobacteria, Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes, Proteobacteria, and Fusobacteria phyla in the gut of juvenile Nile tilapia. Proteobacteria and 88 Fusobacteria are abundantly found in fish guts, and their association with carbohydrases was 89 90 previously reported (Egerton et al., 2018; Maas et al., 2020a). The phylum Proteobacteria is of high abundance in aquatic environments, which helps to explain the high prevalence of this 91 92 phylum in the gastrointestinal tract of many fish species, besides, is capable of degrading fiber. (Rawls et al., 2006). Fusobacteria are also anaerobic, gram-negative bacilli, and include 93 94 pathogenic strains (Pelczar et al., 1996). The Firmicutes phylum has been reported to positively impact the energy availability of fibrous feeds, leading to growth of Actinobacteria which can 95 enhance secretion of NSP-degrading enzymes (Watanabe et al., 2021). Furthermore, Firmicutes 96 are associated with increased body weight and feed efficiency in pigs (Huang et al., 2018). 97 98 Actinobacteria is a major taxonomic phylum among the 18 main lineages, known for its production of extracellular enzymes and secondary metabolites (Ventura et al., 2007). 99

100 Bacteroidetes in humans have a direct relationship with mannan utilization (Cuskin et al., 2015) and possess PULs, which encode the necessary apparatus for utilizing complex carbohydrates, 101 102 specifically mannosidosis bonds(Martens et al., 2009). The addition of β-mannanase significantly increased the presence of the Bifidobacterium genus, which tends to increase in 103 104 response to dietary fiber and has several beneficial effects in fish, including production of bacteriocins that reduce pathogenic (Abudabos et al., 2017; de Figueiredo et al., 2020). Our 105 106 results further show that β -mannanase reduces the presence of pathogenic genera, such as 107 Streptococcus and Escherichia, known to cause diseases in swine, poultry, and fish (Petry et al., 2021; Wang et al., 2021). However, whether β -mannanase can stimulate the beneficial 108 109 bacteria and reduce the presence of potentially pathogenic bacteria in the gut of Nile tilapia is 110 mainly due the pH reduction retroinfluenced by the effects of SCFAs in pH (Wang et al., 2021).

Overall, our study demonstrates the positive effects of β -mannanase supplementation 111 112 on nutrient digestion and growth performance of juvenile Nile tilapia. β-mannanase also modulated the composition of the fish's gut microbiota by reducing pathogenic genera and 113 increasing beneficial bacteria, as well as improved gut morphology by increasing villus height 114 and width. The results further indicate that β-mannanase enhances the nutritive value of plant-115 based diets in tilapia by reducing NSPs antinutritional effects and modulating the gut 116 117 microbiome. The study provides novel evidence for the potential of β -mannanase 118 supplementation to improve the sustainability of tilapia farming.

119 **5.** Conclusions

120 Our findings show that the inclusion of β -mannanase at 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ diet reduced 121 digesta viscosity, growth performance, increased digestive enzymes activity SCFA production, 122 and improved gut morphometry. Additionally, β -mannanase positively modulated gut 123 microbiome, by reducing deleterious bacteria, as *Escheria* sp., and increasing the levels of

124	beneficial bacterias. The current study provides novel evidence that using liquid carbohydrases
125	in tilapia diets offer a promising solution to improve the nutritional value of alternative feed
126	ingredients in tilapia aquaculture.
127	
128	
129	
130	
131	
132	
133	
134	
101	
135	
136	
137	
138	
139	
140	
140	
141	
142	
143	

144 **REFERENCES**

- Abudabos, A.M., Al-Atiyat, R.M., Albatshan, H.A., Aljassim, R., Aljumaah, M.R.,
 Alkhulaifi, M.M., Stanley, D.M., 2017. Effects of concentration of corn distillers dried
 grains with solubles and enzyme supplementation on cecal microbiota and performance
 in broiler chickens. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 101, 7017–7026.
- 149 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-017-8448-5
- Amirkolaie, A.K., Leenhouwers, J.I., Verreth, J.A.J., Schrama, J.W., 2005. Type of dietary
 fibre (soluble versus insoluble) influences digestion, faeces characteristics and faecal
 waste production in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus* L.). Aquac. Res. 36, 1157–1166.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2109.2005.01330.x
- Association of Official Analytical Chemist, A., 2002. AOAC Official Methods, 17th ed.
 Incorporated, Arlington.
- Barrera, J. G., Sandoval, D. A., D'Alessio, D. A., Seeley, R. J., 2011. GLP-1 and energy
 balance: an integrated model of short-term and long-term control. Endocrinology, 7, 507516.
- Canfora, E.E., Jocken, J.W., Blaak, E.E., 2015. Short-chain fatty acids in control of body
 weight and insulin sensitivity. Nat. Rev. Endocrinol. 11, 577–591.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2015.128
- 162 Caporaso, J.G., Lauber, C.L., Walters, W.A., Berg-Lyons, D., Lozupone, C.A., Turnbaugh,
 163 P.J., Fierer, N., Knight, R., 2011. Global patterns of 16S rRNA diversity at a depth of
 164 millions of sequences per sample. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108, 4516–4522.
 165 https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1000080107
- Castillo, S., Gatlin, D.M., 2015. Dietary supplementation of exogenous carbohydrase
 enzymes in fish nutrition: A review. Aquaculture 435, 286–292.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2014.10.011
- 169 Chen, W., Lin, S., Li, F., Mao, S., 2016. Effects of dietary mannanase on growth, metabolism
 170 and non-specific immunity of Tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Aquac. Res. 47, 2835–
 171 2843. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.12733
- Cuskin, F., Lowe, E.C., Temple, M.J., Zhu, Y., Cameron, E.A., Pudlo, N.A., Porter, N.T.,
 Urs, K., Thompson, A.J., Cartmell, A., Rogowski, A., Hamilton, B.S., Chen, R., Tolbert,
 T.J., Piens, K., Bracke, D., Vervecken, W., Hakki, Z., Speciale, G., Munoz-Munoz, J.L.,
 Day, A., Peña, M.J., McLean, R., Suits, M.D., Boraston, A.B., Atherly, T., Ziemer, C.J.,
 Williams, S.J., Davies, G.J., Abbott, W.D., Martens, E.C., Gilbert, H.J., 2015. Human
 gut Bacteroidetes can utilize yeast mannan through a selfish mechanism. Nature 517,
 165–169. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13995
- Dawood, A., Shi, W., 2022. Effect of dietary β-mannanase supplementation on growth
 performance, digestibility, and gene expression levels of *Cyprinus carpio* (Linnaeus)
 fingerlings fed a plant protein-rich diet. Front. Vet. Sci. 9.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2022.956054
- Dawood, A., Zuberi, A., Shi, W., 2022. Plant-based β-mannanase supplemented diet
 modulates the gut microbiota and up-regulates the expression of immunity and digestionrelated genes in *Cyprinus carpio*. J. Appl. Anim. Res. 50, 21–30.
- 185 related genes in *Cyprinus carpio*. J. Appl. Amm. Res. 50, 21-
- 186 https://doi.org/10.1080/09712119.2021.2018327

Dawood, M.A.O., Amer, A.A., Elbialy, Z.I., Gouda, A.H., 2020. Effects of including triticale 187 on growth performance, digestive enzyme activity, and growth-related genes of Nile 188 tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus). Aquaculture 735568. 189 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735568 190 de Figueiredo, F.C., de Barros Ranke, F.F., de Oliva-Neto, P., 2020. Evaluation of 191 192 xylooligosaccharides and fructooligosaccharides on digestive enzymes hydrolysis and as a nutrient for different probiotics and Salmonella typhimurium. Lwt 118, 108761. 193 194 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2019.108761 Degnan, P.H., Ochman, H., 2012. Illumina-based analysis of microbial community diversity. 195 196 ISME J. 6, 183–194. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2011.74 197 Dimitroglou, A., Davies, S.J., Sweetman, J., Divanach, P., Chatzifotis, S., 2010. Dietary supplementation of mannan oligosaccharide on white sea bream (Diplodus sargus L.) 198 199 larvae: Effects on development, gut morphology and salinity tolerance. Aquac. Res. 41, 245-251. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2109.2010.02513.x 200 Dong, B., Liu, S., Wang, C., Cao, Y., 2018. Effects of xylanase supplementation to wheat-201 based diets on growth performance, nutrient digestibility and gut microbes in weanling 202 pigs. Asian-Australasian J. Anim. Sci. 31, 1491–1499. 203 https://doi.org/10.5713/ajas.17.0867 204 205 Ebrahimi, M., Daeman, N.H., Chong, C.M., Karami, A., Kumar, V., Hoseinifar, S.H., Romano, N., 2017. Comparing the effects of different dietary organic acids on the 206 207 growth, intestinal short-chain fatty acids, and liver histopathology of red hybrid tilapia (Oreochromis sp.) and potential use of these as preservatives. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 43, 208 209 1195-1207. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-017-0365-0 210 Egerton, S., Culloty, S., Whooley, J., Stanton, C., Ross, R.P., 2018. The gut microbiota of marine fish. Front. Microbiol. 9, 1-17. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.00873 211 El-dakar, A.Y., Shalaby, S.M., Abdel-salam, S.A., Gomaa, S.S., Abdel-aziz, M.F., 2022. 212 Exogenous β-mannanase and Dl-methionine as feed additives to improve growth, feed 213 efficiency and hematological indices of Nile tilapia Oreochromis niloticus fed dietary 214 plant protein. Mediterr. Aquac. J. 9, 1-15. 215 Estensoro, I., Ballester-Lozano, G., Benedito-Palos, L., Grammes, F., Martos-Sitcha, J.A., 216 Mydland, L.T., Calduch-Giner, J.A., Fuentes, J., Karalazos, V., Ortiz, Á., Øverland, M., 217 Sitjà-Bobadilla, A., Pérez-Sánchez, J., 2016. Dietary butyrate helps to restore the 218 intestinal status of a marine teleost (Sparus aurata) fed extreme diets low in fish meal 219 and fish oil. PLoS One 11, 1-21. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0166564 220 221 FAO, 2022. FAO Yearbook. Fishery and Aquaculture Statistics 2021/FAO annuaire. https://doi.org/10.4060/cb7874t 222 223 Flint, H.J., Duncan, S.H., Scott, K.P., Louis, P., 2014. Links between diet, gut microbiota 224 composition and gut metabolism. Proc. Nutr. Soc. 760, 13-22. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0029665114001463 225 Folch, J., Lees, M., Sloane Stanley, G.H., 1957. A simple method for the isolation and 226 purification of total lipides from animal tissues. J. Biol. Chem. 226, 497–509. 227 https://doi.org/10.1016/s0021-9258(18)64849-5 228 Fujikawa, T., Berglund, E. D., Patel, V. R., Ramadori, G., Vianna, C. R., Vong, L., Thorel, F., 229

Chera, S., Herrera, P. L., Lovell, B. B., Elmquist, J. K., Baldi, P., Coppari, R., 2013. 230 Leptin Engages a Hypothalamic Neurocircuitry to Permit Survival in the Absence of 231 Insulin. Cell Metabolism, 18, 431-444. 232 233 Guan, D., Wang, Z., Han, H., Sun, H., Li, Y., Wan, W., Wang, J., 2021. Effects of nonstarch polysaccharide hydrolase of plant protein-based diets on growth, nutrient digestibility, 234 235 and protease/amylase activities of Yellow River carp, Cyprinus carpio. J. World Aquac. Soc. 52, 805-819. https://doi.org/10.1111/jwas.12751 236 He, J., Zhang, P., Shen, L., Niu, L., Tan, Y., Chen, L., Zhao, Y., Bai, L., Hao, X., Li, X., 237 Zhang, S., Zhu, L., 2020. Short-chain fatty acids and their association with signalling 238 pathways in inflammation, glucose and lipid metabolism. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 21, 1–16. 239 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21176356 240 Huang, Y., Shi, Xing, Li, Z., Shen, Y., Shi, Xinxin, Wang, L., Li, G., Yuan, Y., Wang, J., 241 Zhang, Y., Zhao, L., Zhang, M., Kang, Y., Liang, Y., 2018. Possible association of 242 firmicutes in the gut microbiota of patients with major depressive disorder. 243 Neuropsychiatr. Dis. Treat. 14, 3329-3337. https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S188340 244 Kasubuchi, M., Hasegawa, S., Hiramatsu, T., Ichimura, A., Kimura, I., 2015. Dietary gut 245 246 microbial metabolites, short-chain fatty acids, and host metabolic regulation. Nutrients 7, 247 2839-2849. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu7042839 248 Kiarie, E.G., Steelman, S., Martinez, M., Livingston, K., 2021. Significance of single β mannanase supplementation on performance and energy utilization in broiler chickens, 249 250 laying hens, turkeys, sows, and nursery-finish pigs: A meta-analysis and systematic 251 review. Transl. Anim. Sci. 5, 1-21. https://doi.org/10.1093/tas/txab160 252 Koh, A., Vadder, F. D., Kovatcheva-Datchary, R., Backhed, F., 2016. From Dietary Fiber to 253 Host Physiology: Short-Chain Fatty Acids as Key Bacterial Metabolites. Cell. 165, 1332-254 1345. Kunitz, M., 1946. Crystalline soybean trypsin inhibitor. J. Gen. Physiol. 291–310. 255 Leenhouwers, J.I., Adjei-Boateng, D., Verreth, J.A.J., Schrama, J.W., 2006. Digesta viscosity, 256 nutrient digestibility and organ weights in African catfish (Clarias gariepinus) fed diets 257 supplemented with different levels of a soluble non-starch polysaccharide. Aquac. Nutr. 258 12, 111–116. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2095.2006.00389.x 259 Leenhouwers, J.I., ter Veld, M., Verreth, J.A.J., Schrama, J.W., 2007. Digesta characteristiscs 260 261 and performance of African catfish (Clarias gariepinus) fed cereal grains that differ in viscosity. Aquaculture 264, 330-341. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2007.01.003 262 263 Liu, Y., Huang, H., Fan, J., Zhou, H., Zhang, Y., Cao, Y., Jiang, W., Zhang, W., Deng, J., 264 Tan, B., 2022. Effects of dietary non-starch polysaccharides level on the growth, 265 intestinal flora and intestinal health of juvenile largemouth bass Micropterus salmoides. Aquaculture 557, 738343. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2022.738343 266 Louis, P., Hold, G.L., Flint, H.J., 2014. The gut microbiota, bacterial metabolites and 267 268 colorectal cancer. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 12, 661-672. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro3344 269 Maas, R.M., Verdegem, M.C.J., Stevens, T.L., Schrama, J.W., 2020. Effect of exogenous 270 271 enzymes (phytase and xylanase) supplementation on nutrient digestibility and growth performance of Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus) fed different quality diets. 272

Aquaculture 529. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735723 273 MacFarlane, G.T., Macfarlane, S., 2012. Bacteria, Colonic Fermentation, and Gastrointestinal 274 275 Health. J. AOAC Int. 95, 50-60. https://doi.org/10.5740/jaoacint.SGE Martens, E.C., Koropatkin, N.M., Smith, T.J., Gordon, J.I., 2009. Complex glycan catabolism 276 by the human gut microbiota: The bacteroidetes sus-like paradigm. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 277 278 24673-24677. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.R109.022848 Mazibuko, S. E., Muller, C. J. F., Joubert, E., Beer, D., Johnson, R., Opoku, A. R., Lowu, J., 279 280 2013. Amelioration of palmitate-induced insulin resistance in C2C12 muscle cellsby rooibos (Aspalathus linearis). Phytomedicine, 20, 813-819. 281 NRC - National Research Council, 2011. Nutrient requirements of fish and shrimp. ., 282 283 Washington. 284 Parks, D.H., Tyson, G.W., Hugenholtz, P., Beiko, R.G., 2014. STAMP: Statistical analysis of taxonomic and functional profiles. Bioinformatics 30, 3123-3124. 285 286 https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btu494 287 Pelczar, M.J., Chan, E.C.S., Krieg, N.R., 1996. Microbiologia: Volume 1: Conceitos e Aplicações. 288 Petry, A.L., Patience, J.F., Koester, L.R., Huntley, N.F., Bedford, M.R., Schmitz-Esser, S., 289 290 2021. Xylanase modulates the microbiota of ileal mucosa and digesta of pigs fed cornbased arabinoxylans likely through both a stimbiotic and prebiotic mechanism. PLoS 291 One 16. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0246144 292 Piazzon, M.C., Calduch-Giner, J.A., Fouz, B., Estensoro, I., Simó-Mirabet, P., Puyalto, M., 293 294 Karalazos, V., Palenzuela, O., Sitjà-Bobadilla, A., Pérez-Sánchez, J., 2017. Under control: how a dietary additive can restore the gut microbiome and proteomic profile, 295 and improve disease resilience in a marine teleostean fish fed vegetable diets. 296 Microbiome 5, 164. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-017-0390-3 297 298 Prophet, E.D., Mills, B., Arrington, B.J., Sobin, L.H., 1992. Armed Force Institute of Pathology – Laboratory Methods in Histotechnology. Washington, DC. 299 300 Rayner, C., 1985. Protein hydrolysis of animal feeds for amino acid content. Journal of 301 Agricultural and Food Chemistry. v. 33, p. 722-725. Rawls, J.F., Mahowald, M.A., Ley, R.E., Gordon, J.I., 2006. Reciprocal Gut Microbiota 302 Transplants from Zebrafish and Mice to Germ-free Recipients Reveal Host Habitat 303 Selection. Cell 127, 423-433. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2006.08.043 304 305 Ribola, F. A., Cançado, F. B., Schoveri, J. H. M., De Torri, V. F., Medeiro, V. H. R., Feder, D., 2017. Effects of SGLT2 inhibitors on weight loss in patients with type 2 diabetes 306 307 mellitus. European Review for Medical and Pharmacological Sciences, 199-211. Rimoldi, S., Gliozheni, E., Ascione, C., Gini, E., Terova, G., 2018. Effect of a specific 308 309 composition of short- and medium-chain fatty acid 1-Monoglycerides on growth performances and gut microbiota of gilthead sea bream (Sparus aurata). PeerJ 2018, 1-310 27. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.5355 311 312 Ríos-Covián, D., Ruas-Madiedo, P., Margolles, A., Gueimonde, M., De los Reyes-Gavilán, C.G., Salazar, N., 2016. Intestinal short chain fatty acids and their link with diet and 313 human health. Front. Microbiol. 7, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00185 314

Robles, R., Lozano, A.B., Sevilla, A., Márquez, L., Nuez-Ortín, W., Moyano, F.J., 2013. 315 Effect of partially protected butyrate used as feed additive on growth and intestinal 316 metabolism in sea bream (Sparus aurata). Fish Physiol. Biochem. 39, 1567–1580. 317 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-013-9809-3 318 319 Sallam, A.E., Almisherfi, H.M., El-Feky, M.M.M., Abdel-Ghany, H.M., Salem, M.E.S., 320 2020. Feeding marbled spinefoot rabbitfish (Siganus rivulatus) juveniles with βmannanase enzyme: An effective tool to enhance growth and immunity and induce low 321 salinity tolerance. Aquac. Nutr. 26, 1884–1894. https://doi.org/10.1111/anu.13145 322 Schader, C., Muller, A., El-Hage Scialabba, N., Hecht, J., Isensee, A., Erb, K.H., Smith, P., 323 324 Makkar, H.P.S., Klocke, P., Leiber, F., Schwegler, P., Stolze, M., Niggli, U., 2015. Impacts of feeding less food-competing feedstuffs to livestock on global food system 325 sustainability. J. R. Soc. Interface 12. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2015.0891 326 Sinha, A.K., Kumar, V., Makkar, H.P.S., De Boeck, G., Becker, K., 2011. Non-starch 327 polysaccharides and their role in fish nutrition - A review. Food Chem. 127, 1409–1426. 328 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2011.02.042 329 Siti-norita, M., Arbakariya, A., Noor-azlina, I., Omar, C., 2015. Effect of B -Mannanase 330 331 Supplementation on the Growth and Apparent Digestibility of Red Tilapia Fed Formulated Diets Containing Palm Kernel Cake. Glob. Adv. Res. J. Agric. Sci. 4, 75-88. 332 Taj, S., Irm, M., Jin, M., Yuan, Y., Andriamialinirina, H.J.T., Zhou, Q., 2020. Effects of 333 Dietary Carbohydrate to Lipid Ratios on Growth Performance, Muscle Fatty Acid 334 335 Composition, and Intermediary Metabolism in Juvenile Black Seabream (Acanthopagrus schlegelii). Front. Physiol. 11, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2020.00507 336 337 Tester, R.F., Al-Ghazzewi, F.H., 2013. Mannans and health, with a special focus on 338 glucomannans. Food Res. Int. 50, 384-391. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2012.10.037 339 340 Tian, L., Zhou, X.Q., Jiang, W.D., Liu, Y., Wu, P., Jiang, J., Kuang, S.Y., Tang, L., Tang, W.N., Zhang, Y.A., Xie, F., Feng, L., 2017. Sodium butyrate improved intestinal 341 immune function associated with NF-kB and p38MAPK signalling pathways in young 342 grass carp (Ctenopharyngodon idella). Fish Shellfish Immunol. 66, 548–563. 343 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2017.05.049 344 Tiwari, U.P., Fleming, S.A., Rasheed, M.S.A., Jha, R., Dilger, R.N., 2020. The role of 345 346 oligosaccharides and polysaccharides of xylan and mannan in gut health of monogastric animals. J. Nutr. Sci. 9, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1017/jns.2020.14 347 Tran-Tu, L.C., Hien, T.T.T., Bosma, R.H., Heinsbroek, L.T.N., Verreth, J.A.J., Schrama, 348 J.W., 2018. Effect of ingredient particle sizes and dietary viscosity on digestion and 349 faecal waste of striped catfish (Pangasianodon hypophthalmus). Aquac. Nutr. 24, 961-350 351 969. https://doi.org/10.1111/anu.12632 352 Tran, N.T., Li, Z., Wang, S., Zheng, H., Aweya, J.J., Wen, X., Li, S., 2020. Progress and perspectives of short-chain fatty acids in aquaculture. Rev. Aquac. 12, 283–298. 353 354 https://doi.org/10.1111/raq.12317 Ventura, M., Canchaya, C., Tauch, A., Chandra, G., Fitzgerald, G.F., Chater, K.F., van 355 Sinderen, D., 2007. Genomics of Actinobacteria : Tracing the Evolutionary History of an 356 Ancient Phylum .Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 71, 495-548. 357 358 https://doi.org/10.1128/mmbr.00005-07

- Walter, H., 1984. Proteinases: methods with hemoglobin, casein and azocoll as substrates., in:
 Bergmeyer, H.J. (Ed.), Methods of Enzymatic Analysis. Verlag Chemie, Weinham., pp.
 270–277.
- Wang, A., Zhang, Z., Ding, Q., Yang, Y., Bindelle, J., Ran, C., Zhou, Z., 2021. Intestinal
 Cetobacterium and acetate modify glucose homeostasis via parasympathetic activation in
 zebrafish. Gut Microbes 13, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/19490976.2021.1900996
- Watanabe, Y., Saito, Y., Hara, T., Tsukuda, N., Aiyama-Suzuki, Y., Tanigawa-Yahagi, K.,
 Kurakawa, T., Moriyama-Ohara, K., Matsumoto, S., Matsuki, T., 2021. Xylan utilisation
 promotes adaptation of *Bifidobacterium pseudocatenulatum* to the human
 gastrointestinal tract. ISME Commun. 1, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43705-02100066-4
- Wu, M., Lu, S., Wu, X., Jiang, S., Luo, Y., Yao, W., Jin, Z., 2017. Effects of dietary amino
 acid patterns on growth, feed utilization and hepatic IGF-I, TOR gene expression levels
 of hybrid grouper (*Epinephelus fuscoguttatus* ♀ × *Epinephelus lanceolatus* ♂) juveniles.
 Aquaculture 468, 508–514. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2016.11.019
- Yilmaz, E., Genc, M.A., Genc, E., 2007. Effects of dietary mannan oligosaccharides on
 growth, body composition, and intestine and liver histology of rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss.* Isr. J. Aquac. Bamidgeh 59, 182–188.
- 377
- 378

379

380	
381	
382	
383	
384	
385	
386	
387	
388	
389	CHAPTER III
390	
391	
392	
393	
394	
395	
396	
397	
398	
399	
400	
401	
402	
403	
404	
405 Article II - Effects of β-mannanase on fecal viscosity, digestibility of nutrients, and
 406 digestible energy and protein contents in soybean meal-rich diets fed to juvenile Nile
 407 tilapia

ABSTRACT: This study aimed to evaluate graded levels of dietary β -mannanase 408 409 supplementation on fecal viscosity and pH, and the apparent digestibility coefficient (ADC) of dry matter (DM), gross energy (GE), and nutrients, including amino acids (AAs), as well 410 digestible energy (DE) and digestible protein (DP) contents of plant-based diets fed to juvenile 411 412 Nile tilapia. Fish (n = 504; body weight 7.0 ± 0.43 g) were randomly distributed in 24 aquaria of 70 L each in a recirculation aquaculture system in a completely randomized design with six 413 414 treatments and four replicates of 21 fish in each aquarium. Fish were fed diets with graded levels of β -mannanase at 0 (control), 1600, 3200, 4800, 6400, and 8000 TMU kg⁻¹ diet and 415 hand-fed 12 times a day until apparent satiety for eight weeks. Chromium oxide was used as an 416 417 indigestible marker. Feces were collected manually by straining the feces through a sieve. Fish fed diet with β -mannanase at 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ showed reduced fecal viscosity (-77.1%) and 418 fecal pH (-11.1%), additionally, optimized the ADC of gross energy (+7.2%), crude protein 419 (+3.5%), crude lipid (+1.2%), ash (+19.7%), essential amino acid (+4.0%) and non-essential 420 amino acid (+3.4%). Compared to the control group, fish fed diet with 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ diet β -421 422 mannanase displayed lower total nitrogen loss (TN_L), organic matter loss (OM_L), inorganic matter loss (IM_L) and nitrogen loss (N_L) of -34.2, -24.6, -9.6 and -2.3 g kg⁻¹ of body weight 423 gain (BWG) fish, respectively. Overall, it concluded that β -mannanase at level 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ 424 425 diet improves the digestibility of energy, nutrients, including amino acids, by reducing digesta 426 viscosity. This allows the fish to extract more nutrients from the feed, resulting in increased 427 overall nutrient utilization and improved growth performance. Overall, the use of β -mannanase 428 in tilapia feeds can lead to more efficient and cost-effective aquaculture operations.

429 Keywords: β-mannans, carbohydrase, *Oreochromis niloticus*, non-starch polysaccharides,
430 sustentability

431

432 **1. Introduction**

Soybean meal (SBM) is widely used as a source of protein in aquafeeds, reducing the 433 competition for food between aquaculture and human consumption (Tacon et al., 2022). 434 However, SBM contains 17 to 27% of non-starch polysaccharides (NSPs) as high molecular 435 436 weight carbohydrates that serve as the basis for the hardness of cell walls (Choct et al., 2010; Sinha et al., 2011). Therefore, viscous soluble non-starch polysaccharides in cereals and 437 legumes limit their inclusion in fish feed (Kabir et al., 2020). Previous studies have shown that 438 439 the viscosity of NSPs has adverse effects on nutrient utilization in Nile tilapia, Oreochromis *niloticus* (Haidar et al., 2016; Maas et al., 2018). Noteworthy, in typical non-dehulled SBM, β -440 mannans account for 1.3 to 2.7% of insoluble NSPs fraction (Hsiao et al., 2006). Recent studies 441 have demonstrated that β-mannans increase digesta viscosity and impair nutrient digestibility 442 in African catfish, Clarias gariepinus (Leenhouwers et al., 2007b, 2006) and common carp, 443 444 *Cyprinus carpio* (Dawood and Shi, 2022). However, the extent to which β -mannans negatively 445 affect viscosity and nutrient digestibility, particularly for amino acids, remains unclear in Nile 446 tilapia.

Exogenous β -mannanase is an enzyme that targets β -mannans bonds, a dietary component in high-fiber feedstuffs such as SBM (Latham et al., 2018). Although β -mannanase can reduce the deleterious effects of β -mannans on growth performance of Nile tilapia (Chen et al., 2016). Despite that, the effects on nutrient digestibility are still conflicting in fish. While previous studies have reported that β -mannanase supplementation in diet of common carp, improved digestible energy content and nutrient digestibility coefficients (Dawood and Shi, 2022). Conflicting literature reported no significant effects of β -mannanase inclusion on 454 nutrient digestibility in rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* fed SBM-rich diet (Yiğit et al., 455 2014). Along with fish species specificity, the inconsistent effects of β-mannanase on nutrient 456 digestibility might be influenced by dietary β-mannans content in individual feedstuff 457 composition, which governs digesta viscosity and, subsequently nutrient digestibility (Maas et 458 al., 2020b). Collectively, these investigations indicate that β-mannanase could improve nutrient 459 utilization of fish.

460 Emerging research indicates that Nile tilapia are highly efficient in converting vegetable feed to food products (Ridha et al., 2020). However, a recent study revealed that Nile 461 tilapia fed NSP-rich diets still produced substantial amounts of undigested nutrients and had 462 negative impacts on the aquatic food (Kabir et al., 2020). Similar findings were reported in 463 464 striped catfish, Pangasionodon hypophthalmus fed soybean meal-based diets, where dietary viscosity promoted by NSPs decreased digestibility and increased fecal waste production (Tu-465 466 Tran et al., 2020). Besides, exogenous carbohydrase may be helpful to create environmentally sustainable diets for fish farming in compliance with sustainability principles (FAO, 2020). 467 Furthermore, it may be useful as sustainability indicator of the aquaculture system (Valenti et 468 469 al., 2018). However, the underlying mechanisms of β -mannanase's impact on digesta viscosity and nutrient digestibility in Nile tilapia are not yet to be fully understood. Thus, the present 470 471 study aims to investigate the effects of graded levels of dietary β -mannanase supplementation on feces viscosity, digestible energy and protein content, and digestibility of nutrients, including 472 473 amino acids, in juvenile Nile tilapia fed SBM-rich diets.

- 474
- 475
- 476
- 477
- 478

2. Material and methods

480 2.1. Ethics statement

All fish procedures were performed following the Guidelines for Care and Use of
Laboratory Animals and approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of the State University of
Ponta Grossa (Protocol: 22.000024303-4).

484 2.2. Diets

A basal diet contained 311.2 g kg⁻¹ of crude protein and 18.98 MJ kg⁻¹ of gross energy, without β -mannanase supplementation (control) was formulated based on soybean meal, broken rice, wheat bran, corn, and poultry by-product meal as primary food ingredients, and formulated to meet the dietary requirements of Nile tilapia (NRC, 2011). From the basal diet, five other diets were elaborated by supplementing 1600, 3200, 4800, 6400 and 8000 TMU kg⁻¹ diet of β -mannanase. Exogenous β-mannanase enzyme inclusion replaced an equal silica amount, as shown in Tables 1 and 2.

Ingredient	g kg ⁻¹ (as-fed basis)
Broken rice ^a	80
Soybean meal ^b	440
Poultry by-product meal ^c	150
Wheat bran ^b	100
Corn ^b	165
Soybean oil ^d	20
Corn starch ^e	20
DL-methionine 99 ^f	2
L-lysine ^f	3
Dicalcium phosphate ^g	10
Mineral and vitamin mix ^h	8
Inert (Silica) ⁱ	1
$Cr_2O_3^{j}$	1

Table 1. Ingredients composition of the reference diet ($g kg^{-1}$ diet).

- ^a Armazém São Vito, São Paulo, SP, Brazil.
- ^b Bunge, Ponta Grossa, PR, Brazil.
- ^c BRF, Toledo, PR, Brazil.
- ^d Coamo, PR, Brazil.

501

- ^e Yoki, São Bernardo do Campo, São Paulo, Brazil.
- ^f Ajinomoto Animal Nutrition Division, SP, Brazil.
- 508 ^g Sarfos, Goiás, Brazil.
- ^hCustomized premix (Composition per kilogram of feed (IU or mg kg⁻¹ of diet): Vitamin A
- 510 (retinyl acetate), 6,000 IU; vitamin D_3 , (cholecalciferol), 1,000 IU; vitamin E (DL- α -tocopheryl
- acetate), 60 mg; vitamin K_3 (menadione Na-bisulphate), 12 mg; vitamin B_1 (thiamine HCl),
- 512 24 mg; vitamin B_2 (riboflavin), 24 mg; vitamin B_6 (pyridoxine HCl), 20 mg; vitamin B_{12}
- 513 (cyanocobalamin), 0.05 mg; folic acid, 6 mg; p-calcium pantothenate, 60 mg; ascorbic acid
- (ascorbyl polyphosphate), 350 mg; p-biotin, 0.24 mg; choline chloride, 800 mg; niacin, 120
- 515 mg; ferrous sulfate (FeSO₄.H₂O.7H₂O), 50 mg; copper sulphate (CuSO₄.7H₂O), 3 mg; 516 manganese sulphate (MnSO₄.H₂O), 20 mg; zinc sulphate (ZnSO₄.7H₂O), 30 mg; potassium
- iodide (KI), 0.4 mg, cobalt sulphate ($CoSO_4.4H_2O$), 0.25 mg; sodium selenite (Na_2SeO_3), =
- 518 0.1 mg, BHT, 200 mg; calcium propionate, 1000mg.
- ⁱ Merck Company, Germany.
- ^j Sygma-Aldrich Brazil Ltda, 99.5%, São Paulo, SP, Brazil.

521	All diets were ground through a 0.8-mm screen in a centrifugal mill (Viera MC 680B,
522	Tatuí, SP, Brazil). The extrusion process was performed through a 1.5-mm die diameter in a
523	single screen extruder with die temperature set at 92°C (Exteec EX30, Ribeirão Preto, SP,
524	Brazil), obtaining pellets with 2.5-mm of diameter and floatability rate higher than 99%. After
525	that, the pellets were dried in a drying drum with rotary drier at 55°C (pellet temperature) for
526	10 min (Model E-62, Ferraz Máquinas e Engenharia LTDA, Ribeirão Preto, SP, Brazil).
527	
528	
529	
530	
531	
532	
533	
534	
535	
536	
537	
538	
539	
540	
541	
542	
543	
544	
545	
546	

Composition	${ m g~kg^{-1}}$
Dry matter	932.1
Gross energy (MJ kg ⁻¹)	18.98
Crude protein	311.2
Crude fiber	38.24
Crude lipid	31.40
Ash	64.3
Amino acid	
Essential amino acid	
Arginine	1.910
Histidine	0.811
Isoleucine	1.149
Leucine	2.536
Lysine	1.796
Methionine	0.582
Phenylalanine	1.620
Threonine	1.409
Tryptophan	0.366
Valine	1.687
Non-essential amino acid	
Alanine	1.722
Aspartic acid	2.829
Cysteine	0.511
Glutamic acid	4.756
Glycine	1.892
Proline	0.000
Serine	1.807
Tyrosine	0.944

Table 2. Analyzed composition of the basal diet (g kg⁻¹ dry matter basis).

548

549 Liquid β-mannanase (Natupulse[®] TS, BASF, Ludwigshafen am Rhein, Germany;
550 8000 TMU g⁻¹)was top-sprayed onto each kilogram of diet to supply 1600; 3200; 4800; 6400,

and 8000 TMU kg⁻¹ diet of endo-1,4- β -mannanase, being applied 0.2; 0.4; 0.6; 0.8 and 1.0 g kg⁻¹ of Natupulse . The same procedure was applied to unsupplemented diet to receive the same treatment, but without the commercial β -mannanase inclusion in soybean oil.

554

2.3. Fish and Experimental Design

555 The experiment was conducted at the Aquaculture Laboratory of the State University of Ponta Grossa, Ponta Grossa, PR, Brazil. All-male masculinized Nile tilapia juveniles (n =556 1500; 3.0 ± 0.5 g; Premium strain) were obtained from Aquabel Fish Farm (Rolândia, PR, 557 Brazil). Fish were acclimated for a 4-week period in a circular tank (500 L), with temperature 558 and dissolved oxygen set at 28° C and 6 mg L^{-1} , respectively. Fish were hand-fed a commercial 559 extruded diet (Supra, 1.0 mm Ø; Alisul Alimentos, Maringá, PR, Brazil), with 460 g kg⁻¹ of 560 crude protein, six times daily for 21 days. Afterward, fish (n = 504; 7.0 ± 0.43 g; mean ± SD) 561 562 were grouped-weighed and randomly distributed into 24 plastic aquaria (70 L each) equipped with a recirculating system composed of a decanter to remove solids, a mechanical filter with 563 bio-balls, heater (3000W) and a central UV-light disinfection system (55W). The aeration 564 system was comprised of a centrifugal 0.5-HP blower (Sulpesca, Toledo, PR, Brazil) fitted with 565 silicone airline tubing, with a porous stone in each experimental aquarium. Each aquarium was 566 567 siphoned daily to maintain 10% of the water volume and remove fish metabolites. Temperature was set at $28 \pm 0.5^{\circ}$ C, dissolved oxygen was kept at 6.2 ± 0.2 mg L⁻¹, and water flow was kept 568 at 1.2 L min⁻¹ per aquarium throughout the trial. Data of individual aquarium temperature and 569 570 dissolved oxygen were monitored daily using YSI Multi-Parameter Water Quality Meter (YSI Incorporated, Ohio, USA). Water quality parameters were monitored weekly with a pH-meter 571 (TEC-2, Piracicaba, SP, Brazil) and kept at 7.0 using calcium carbonate and phosphoric acid; 572 573 ammonia, nitrite, and nitrate analysis were performed using commercial kits (Alfakit,

574	Florianópolis, SC, Brazil), and were kept at 0.01; 0.02 and 0.01 mg L^{-1} , respectively. Fish were
575	hand-fed from 8:00 to 18:00 h, 12 times daily, until apparent satiety for 60 days.

576 2.4. Chemical composition

577 The proximate composition of diets and feces samples was performed according to 578 standard methods of the Association of Official Analytical Chemists (AOAC, 2002). Moisture analysis was determined by oven-drying at 105°C until constant weight and crude lipid by the 579 ether-extraction method (Folch, 1957). Crude protein (N \times 6.25) analysis was performed using 580 581 the macro Kjeldahl method (Tecnal, MA-036, Piracicaba, SP, Brazil) after acid hydrolysis. The 582 analysis of ash was achieved by overnight combustion in a muffle furnace at 550°C (Tecnal, 2000B, Belo Horizonte, MG, Brazil). The crude fiber analysis was performed according to loss 583 on ignition of dried lipid-free residues following digestion with 1.25% H₂SO₄ and 1.25% 584 585 NaOH. Chromium analysis was performed by inductively coupled plasma optical emissions 586 spectrometry using an internally validated method of analysis (AOAC, 1990). Gross energy of diets and feces was carried out by adiabatic bomb calorimeter (Parr 6400; Parr Instruments Co., 587 Moline, IL, USA), using benzoic acid as a calibration standard The profile of dietary amino 588 acids and amino acids in feces were determined by High Performance Liquid Chromatography 589 590 (HPCL) (Hitachi, Tokyo, Japan), at the Laboratory of Ajinomoto do Brasil Indústria e Comércio de Alimentos Ltda, Division of Animal Nutrition (São Paulo, SP, Brazil) (Rayner, 1985). 591 Tryptophan was determined after alkaline hydroxylation of the sample with lithium hydroxide. 592

593

2.5. Digestibility measurements

The apparent digestibility coefficients (ADC) of gross energy and nutrients were measured using chromic oxide (Cr_2O_3) as an external inert marker (Guimarães et al., 2008). After one-month of the feeding trial, feces were collected from each aquarium twice daily in 597 the morning (08:30 h) and in the afternoon (18:30 h) until the last day before the end of the experimental trial. All aquaria were cleaned daily before the feces collection. The collection 598 was done manually by siphoning the fecal matter and straining through a 1-mm meshed net. 599 For this, the laboratory lighting system was turned off to prevent excessive fish movement, and 600 601 the fecal collection followed a single handheld flashlight light. After the centrifugation cycle, the supernatant was discarded, and the solid sediment was dried in a ventilated oven at 55°C for 602 603 24 h. Thus, the feces sample was fine-grinded (0.5-mm diameter) in a laboratory willy emill 604 (Tecnal R-TE 648, Piracicaba, SP, Brazil) and stored at -20°C until analysis. The ADC was calculated following previously established expression (Forster, 1999; NRC, 2011) as ADC = 605 $1 - [(Cd/Cf) \times (Nf/Nd)]$, where ADC is the apparent digestibility coefficients; Cd is the 606 607 concentration of chromium oxide in the diet; Cf is the concentration of chromium oxide in the feces (g kg⁻¹ DM); Nf is the concentration of nutrient or energy in the feces (g kg⁻¹ or MJ kg⁻¹ 608 DM); Nd is the concentration of nutrient or energy in the diet ($g kg^{-1}$ or MJ kg^{-1} DM). The 609 digestible energy (DE) and digestible protein (DP) contents were calculated as the product of 610 gross energy and crude protein ADC of the diets. 611

612

613 2.6. Fecal pH and viscosity

Fecal pH was measured using a pH-meter (Kasvi – ATC-K39-0014PA, São José dos
Pinhais, PR, Brazil), placed directly in the feces. The samples of feces were centrifuged at
3000 rpm x g for 10 min (Kasvi – SKU K14-1215, São José dos Pinhais, PR, Brazil) to obtain
the liquid phase. The supernatant obtained was placed in the viscometer (Brookfield Digital
Viscometer, Model DV-II Version 2.0, Brookfield Engineering Laboratories Inc., Stoughton,
MA), set at 28°C. The viscosity measurement was the average 50.0/s shear rate, and the
viscosity values were recorded as apparent viscosity in centipoise (cP).

621 2.7. Fecal loss

At the start and end of the feeding trial, all fish were fasted for 24 h, anesthetized with tricaine methanesulphonate (MS-222; Sigma-Aldrich; 200 mg L⁻¹), counted, and bulked weighed. The feed intake were daily recorded from each aquarium. The total nutrient loss (TN_L), organic matter loss (OM_L), inorganic matter loss (IM_L) and nitrogen loss (N_L) were determined as

626 follows:

627 TN_L (g kg⁻¹ of BWG fish) = FCR x DM_D – [(FCR x DM_D) x ADC_{DM}]

628 OM_L (g kg⁻¹ of BWG fish) = TN_L - IM_L

629 IM_L (g kg⁻¹ of BWG fish) = FCR x MM_D – [(FCR x MM_D) x ADC_{MM}]

630 N_L (g kg⁻¹ of BWG fish) = FCR x N_D – [(FCR x N_D) x ADC_N]

TN_L, OM_L, IM_L, N_L is total nutrient loss, organic matter loss, inorganic matter loss and nitrogen loss, respectively (g kg⁻¹ of BWG of fish), FCR is feed conversion ratio, DM_D, MM_D, N_D is dry matter, mineral matter and nitrogen content of diets (%), and ADC_{DM}, ADC_{MM}, ADC_N are apparent digestibility coefficient of dry matter, mineral matter and nitrogen, respectively (%).

635 2.8. *Statistical analysis*

All results were described as least square means and pooled standard error of means 636 (SEM). All data were tested for normality using Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, and homogeneity 637 638 was tested using Levene's test. Data were analyzed as a two-way ANOVA using the General Linear Model (GLM) procedure. The dose-response effect of supplemental β -mannanase was 639 determined using an orthogonal polynomial contrast for linear and quadratic effects (SAS, 640 641 version 9.2). In addition, Dunnett's test procedure was used to compare data from each β -642 mannanase supplementation level with the non-supplemented diet (control). The Welch test (P < 0.05) was applied for microbiome analysis, followed by the Bonferroni correction test. The 643 644 analyses were performed using the statistical metagenomics program STAMP for statistical 645 analysis of metagenomic profiles (Parks et al., 2014). The averages for biodiversity between treatments were compared using the number of observed OTUs and the Chao1 index by the 646 647 Kruskal Wallis test (P < 0.05) once a non-parametric distribution was detected by the Shapiro-Wilk test. Multivariate analysis was employed to conduct principal component (PC) analysis, 648 649 and the score and loading plot were utilized to ascertain the correlation among individual variables of the first two eigenvalues (PC 1 and 2). All data were analyzed according to the 650 Proc GLM of the Statistical Analysis System (Version 9.0), and values were presented as mean 651 652 \pm standard error.

653 **3. Results**

654 3.1. Fecal pH and viscosity

The effects of dietary β-mannanase supplementation on fecal pH and viscosity of juvenile Nile tilapia are displayed in Figure 1. The pH tended to decrease in a quadratic pattern $(P = 0.001; R^2 = 0.856; Y_{min.} = 5840 \text{ TMU kg}^{-1} \text{ diet }\beta\text{-mannanase})$, while the viscosity decreased linearly (P < 0.001).



659

Figure 1. Fitted orthogonal polynomial contrast for quadratic and linear plots of digesta pH (A; quadratic) and viscosity (B; linear) content as a function of the level of supplemented β mannanase on top of diets fed to juvenile Nile tilapia. Each dot point represents mean of each replicate of 21 fish.

664

Based on Dunnet's test, fish fed diet with 1600 to 8000 TMU kg⁻¹ β-mannanase showed lower fecal pH (P < 0.001) than fish fed diet control. Besides, β-mannanase promoted lower fecal viscosity (P < 0.001) in fish fed diets with 3200 to 8000 TMU kg⁻¹ β-mannanase than those fish fed diets control and diet with 1600 TMU kg⁻¹ β-mannanase.

669 *3.2. Digestibility of energy and nutrients*

The effects of graded levels of β-mannanase supplementation on ADC of dry matter, gross energy, and nutrients are shown in Table 3. The ADC of dry matter (P = 0.002; $R^2 = 0.377$; $Y_{max.} = 3760$ TMU kg⁻¹ β-mannanase), gross energy (P < 0.001; $R^2 = 0.676$; $Y_{max.} = 4160$ TMU kg⁻¹ β-mannanase), crude protein (P < 0.001; $R^2 = 0.848$; $Y_{max.} = 4080$ TMU kg⁻¹ β-mannanase), crude lipid (P < 0.001; $R^2 = 0.767$; $Y_{max.} = 4000$ TMU kg⁻¹ β-mannanase), and ash (P < 0.001; $R^2 = 0.752$; $Y_{max.} = 5360$ TMU kg⁻¹ β-mannanase diet) increased in a quadratic manner in fish fed graded β-mannanase levels.

677

	β -mannanase ² (TMU kg ⁻¹ diet)								P-value		
Parameter	0	1600	3200	4800	6400	8000	SEM ³	L^4	Q^4	Dunnet ⁵	
Dry matter	69.5	69.9	69.9	70.2*	70.1	69.6	0.082	0.626	0.002	0.041	
Gross energy	66.4	68.0	72.5*	71.2*	70.6*	66.7	0.554	0.484	< 0.001	< 0.001	
Crude protein	82.7	83.7*	86.2*	85.7*	85.0*	82.7	0.297	0.620	< 0.001	< 0.001	
Crude lipid	94.2	95.0*	95.4*	95.3*	95.0*	94.2	0.113	0.841	< 0.001	< 0.001	
Ash	57.2	62.9*	69.4*	68.5*	67.3*	63.6*	0.930	0.016	< 0.001	< 0.001	

Table 3. Apparent digestibility coefficients (%) of juvenile Nile tilapia fed the experimental diets¹.

¹ Values are means and standard error of the mean of four replicate cages of 21 fish each. ² Endo-1,4-β-mannanase (Natupulse $TM^{\text{(B)}}$, 8000 TMU kg⁻¹, BASF Corporation, Ludwigshafen, Germany).

³ Pooled standard error of the means.

⁴ Orthogonal polynomials were used to evaluate linear and quadratic responses to the levels of β -mannanase.

⁵ Means within a row with different superscripts differ significantly from Control diet (β -mannanase = 0 TMU kg⁻¹ diet) by Dunnet's test ($P < \beta$ 0.05).

Based on Dunnet's test, only fish fed diet with 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ of β -mannanase showed higher ADC of dry matter (P < 0.041), while fish fed diets with 4800 and 6400 TMU kg⁻¹ dietary β -mannanase revealed higher (P < 0.05) ADC of dry matter and gross energy, respectively, than fish fed diet control. Consistently, fish fed diets with 1600 to 6400 TMU kg⁻¹ ¹ β -mannanase demonstrated higher ADC of crude protein, crude lipids, and ash than fish fed diet control (P < 0.05). The effects of graded levels of β -mannanase supplementation on total nutrient loss, organic matter loss, inorganic matter loss and nitrogen loss are shown in Table 4. The total nutrient loss (P < 0.001; $R^2 = 0.377$; 75.2; $Y_{min} = 4896$ TMU kg⁻¹ diet β -mannanase), organic matter loss (P = 0.001; $R^2 = 61.1$; $Y_{min} = 4755$ TMU kg⁻¹ diet β -mannanase), inorganic matter loss (P < 0.001; $R^2 = 92.3$; $Y_{min} = 4842$ TMU kg⁻¹ diet β -mannanase), nitrogen loss (P < 0.001; $R^2 = 0.767$; $R^2 = 90.91$; $Y_{min} = 4528$ TMU kg⁻¹ diet β -mannanase) decreseed in a quadratic manner in fish fed graded β -mannanase levels.

 β -mannanase² (TMU kg⁻¹ diet) *P*-value L^4 O^4 Parameter 1600 3200 4800 6400 8000 SEM³ Dunnet⁵ 0 Total nutrient loss 258.0* 253.5* 257.2* < 0.001 283.4 249.2* 244.7* 2.891 0.001 < 0.001 235.6* 235.8* Organic matter loss 255.5 235.9* 230.9* 226.1* 2.304 0.003 0.001 < 0.001 Inorganic matter loss 21.4* 0.744 0.003 < 0.001 < 0.001 27.9 22.1* 17.9* 18.3* 18.6* Nitrogen loss 8.7 7.5* 6.2* 6.4* 6.6* 7.8* 0.191 0.082 < 0.001 < 0.001

Table 4. Effect of graded levels of β -mannanase on the apparent digestibility coefficients of essential amino acids in juvenile Nile tilapia¹.

¹ Values are means and standard error of the mean of four replicate cages of 21 fish each.

² Endo-1,4-β-mannanase (Natupulse TM[®], 8000 TMU kg⁻¹, BASF Corporation, Ludwigshafen, Germany).

³ Pooled standard error of the means.

⁴ Orthogonal polynomials were used to evaluate linear and quadratic responses to the levels of β -mannanase.

⁵ Means within a row with different superscripts differ significantly from Control diet (β -mannanase = 0 TMU kg⁻¹ diet) by Dunnet's test (P < 0.05).

Based on Dunnet's test, fish fed diet with 1600 to 8000 TMU kg⁻¹ of β -mannanase showed lower total nutrient loss (P < 0.01), organic matter loss (P < 0.01), inorganic matter loss (P < 0.01) and nitrogen loss dry matter (P < 0.01), respectively, than fish fed control diet.

3.4. Digestibility of amino acids

The effects of dietary β-mannanase on ADC of essential and non-essential amino acids are presented in Table 5, respectively. The ADC of essential amino acids (P < 0.001; $R^2 = 0.682$; $Y_{max.} = 5120$ TMU kg⁻¹ β-mannanase), arginine (P < 0.001; $R^2 = 0.689$; $Y_{max.} = 4720$ TMU kg⁻¹ β-mannanase), histidine (P < 0.001; $R^2 = 0.657$; $Y_{max.} = 5520$ TMU kg⁻¹ β-mannanase), isoleucine (P = 0.001; $R^2 = 0.634$; $Y_{max.} = 5280$ TMU kg⁻¹ β-mannanase), leucine (P < 0.001; $R^2 = 0.625$; $Y_{max.} = 5360$ TMU kg⁻¹ β-mannanase), lysine (P = 0.001; $R^2 = 0.638$; $Y_{max.} = 5360$ TMU kg⁻¹ β-mannanase), methionine (P < 0.001; $R^2 = 0.753$; $Y_{max.} = 5200$ TMU kg⁻¹ β-mannanase), threonine (P = 0.003; $R^2 = 0.465$; $Y_{max.} = 4880$ TMU kg⁻¹ β-mannanase), tryptophan (P < 0.001; $R^2 = 0.525$; $Y_{max.} = 4080$ TMU kg⁻¹ β-mannanase) and valine (P = 0.004; $R^2 = 0.458$; $Y_{max.} = 4960$ TMU kg⁻¹ diet β-mannanase) showed a quadratic behavior. Conversely, the ADC of e phenylalanine increased linearly (P = 0.016) in fish fed graded levels of dietary β-mannanase.

	β -mannanase ² (TMU kg ⁻¹ diet)							P-value		
Amino acid	0	1600	3200	4800	6400	8000	SEM ³	L ⁴	Q^4	Dunnet ⁵
Essential amino acid	85.2	88.6*	88.9*	88.6*	89.1*	88.5*	0.308	0.003	< 0.001	< 0.001
Arginine	90.6	92.5*	92.8*	92.6*	92.9*	92.1*	0.185	0.022	< 0.001	< 0.001
Histidine	87.5	90.9*	91.3*	90.8*	91.8*	91.3*	0.332	0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
Isoleucine	83.7	86.9*	87.8*	87.5*	87.9*	87.3*	0.364	0.003	0.001	< 0.001
Leucine	86.6	88.8*	89.2*	89.0*	89.6*	89.0*	0.244	0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
Lysine	89.1	91.4*	91.7*	91.7*	92.2*	91.6*	0.743	0.002	0.001	< 0.001
Methionine	81.8	90.7*	91.2*	90.7*	91.5*	90.6*	0.448	0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
Phenylalanine	84.2	87.5	88.2*	87.9*	88.7*	87.8*	0.311	0.016	0.017	0.028
Threonine	81.4	85.2*	84.9*	84.4*	84.7*	84.4*	0.240	0.043	0.003	< 0.001
Tryptophan	85.9	87.8*	87.6*	87.5*	87.1*	86.5	0.168	0.816	< 0.001	0.001
Valine	81.2	84.4*	84.3*	84.2*	84.7*	83.8*	0.329	0.033	0.004	0.006
Non-essential amino acid	81.9	85.1*	85.3*	84.8*	85.4*	85.4*	0.312	0.003	0.011	< 0.001
Alanine	82.1	85.0	83.8	82.7	82.6	83.9	0.321	0.905	0.676	0.073
Aspartic acid	87.9	89.8*	90.0*	89.8*	90.0*	89.5*	0.194	0.030	0.001	0.001
Cysteine	75.6	81.7*	81.7*	80.9*	82.2*	82.8*	0.628	0.002	0.048	0.001
Glutamic acid	76.7	80.2*	81.0*	80.7*	81.6*	81.1*	0.416	0.001	0.005	0.001
Glycine	93.1	94.1*	94.1*	93.9*	94.2*	94.1*	0.108	0.016	0.031	0.009
Serine	75.6	79.1*	79.3*	78.9*	79.2*	78.9*	0.341	0.013	0.004	0.001

Table 5. Effect of graded levels of β -mannanase on the apparent digestibility coefficients of essential amino acids in juvenile Nile tilapia¹.

¹ Values are means and standard error of the mean of four replicate cages of 21 fish each.

² Endo-1,4-β-mannanase (Natupulse TM[®], 8000 TMU kg⁻¹, BASF Corporation, Ludwigshafen, Germany).

³ Pooled standard error of the means.

⁴ Orthogonal polynomials were used to evaluate linear and quadratic responses to the levels of β -mannanase.

⁵Means within a row with different superscripts differ significantly from Control diet (β -mannanase = 0 TMU kg⁻¹ diet) by Dunnet's test (P < 0.05

Based on Dunnet's test, the ADC of arginine (P < 0.001), histidine (P < 0.001), isoleucine (P < 0.001), leucine (P < 0.001), lysine (P < 0.001), methionine (P < 0.001), threonine (P < 0.001), tryptophan (P = 0.028), valine (P = 0.006) and mean of total essential amino acids (P < 0.001) were higher in fish fed diets with 1600 to 8000 TMU kg⁻¹ β -mannanase than fish fed control diet. Differently, the ADC of phenylalanine was higher (P = 0.028) in fish fed diet with 3200 to 8000 TMU kg⁻¹ diet β -mannanase than fish fed diet control. The ADC, cysteine (P = 0.002), glutamic acid (P = 0.001), glycine (P = 0.016), and tyrosine (P = 0.005) as well the mean of non-essential amino acids (P = 0.003) were higher than fish in diet control. Considering the ADC of non-essential amino acids, aspartic acid (P = 0.001; $R^2 = 0.531$; Y_{max} . = 4880 TMU kg⁻¹ diet β -mannanase), and serine (P = 0.004; R² = 0.499; Y_{max} = 5120 TMU kg^{-1} diet β -mannanase) presented a quadratic distribution. According to Dunnett's test, the ADC aspartic acid (P = 0.001), cysteine (P = 0.001), glutamic acid (P = 0.001), glycine (P = 0.001) 0.009), serine (P = 0.001) and mean of non-essential amino acids (P < 0.001) were higher in fish fed diet with 1600 to 8000 TMU kg $^{-1}$ dietary β -mannanase than fish fed diet control. Besides, the ADC of tyrosine was significantly higher (P = 0.050) in fish fed diet with 6400 TMU kg⁻¹ β -mannanase than fish fed diet control. However, the ADC was unaffected by dietary treatments, neither by orthogonal polynomials (P = 0.905) nor Dunnett's test (P = 0.073) analysis.

3.5. Digestible energy and protein

Figure 2 presents the effects of graded levels of β -mannanase on digestible energy and protein contents of diets. A quadratic response was observed for digestible energy (P < 0.001; $R^2 = 0.676$; $Y_{max} = 4286$ TMU kg⁻¹ β -mannanase) and digestible protein (P < 0.001; $R^2 = 0.848$; $Y_{max} = 4143$ kg⁻¹ diet β -mannanase) contents.



Figure 2. Effect of graded levels of β -mannanase on the digestible energy (DE) and digestible protein (DP) content of diets fed to juvenile Nile tilapia. Each dot point represents mean value of 21 fish as replicate. Orthogonal polynomials were used to evaluate quadratic responses to the levels of β -mannanase. Means within a row with asterisks superscripts differ significantly from control diet (β -mannanase = 0 TMU kg⁻¹ diet) by Dunnet's test (P < 0.05).

Dunnett's test showed that the dietary digestible energy contents in fish fed 3200 to 6400 TMU kg⁻¹ dietary β -mannanase was significantly higher (P < 0.001) than fish fed the control diet. Fish fed a diet with 1600 to 6400 TMU kg⁻¹ dietary β -mannanase also significantly increased (P < 0.001) the dietary digestible protein content relative to that fish fed the control diet.

3.6. Principal component analysis

Figure 3 shows the principal component analysis of fish fed the experimental diets over eight weeks. Principal component analysis shows the main effects observed in the present study and accounts for 61% of the total effects, and the second component 25.7%, respectively. The main effects observed in ADC responses were primarily represented by dietary β -mannanase levels of 0, 1600, 3200 and 4800 TMU kg⁻¹. The control diet was negatively correlated with pH and viscosity of feces, and the diets 3200, 4800 and 6400 TMU kg⁻¹ were more responsible for the effects on ash content, dry matter, gross energy, crude protein and crude lipids of feces (Figure 3A). The gross visualization of the PC analysis score loading plots is presented in Figure 3B.



Figure 3. Principal component analysis (PCA) of score plots of dietary treatments with graded levels of β -mannanase (A) and loading plots (B) of fecal pH and viscosity and apparent digestibility coefficients of dry matter (DM), gross energy (GE), crude protein (CP), crude lipids (CL), ash, essential amino acids (EAA) and non-essential amino acids (NEAA) of Nile tilapia fed diets with graded levels of β -mannanase. The figure was constructed using the Bray-Curtis distance method and represents the distance between samples, a summary of the main effects composition. Each point represents the entire treatment in four replicate aquaria. Distant points indicate more different influences.

A negative correlation between digesta pH and viscosity was observed. It has been

demonstrated herein by the large angles between the variables dry matter, gross energy, crude

lipid, crude protein, ash, and essential and non-essential amino acids.

4. Discussion

The results of this study support the hypothesis that supplementation of β -mannanase can mitigate the antinutritional effects of NSPs in aquafeeds by reducing fecal viscosity, as evidenced by the ADCs of energy and nutrients. These results align with previous findings demonstrating the positive effects of β -mannanase on digestibility in various fish species, primarily due to the reduction of digesta viscosity (Kiarie et al., 2021; Kim et al., 2017; Mok et al., 2015). The mechanism by which β -mannanase improves digestibility is primarily attributed to reduced fecal viscosity (Castillo and Gatlin, 2015). The digesta viscosity, which affects nutrient digestibility, is influenced by the chemical structure and association of NSPs with cell wall components and their physical effects on digestion and absorption (Sternemalm et al., 2008). Furthermore, high viscosity may obstruct the access of digestive enzymes to their substrates and create a barrier to nutrient availability by increasing the rate of passage of digesta through the digestive tract (Leenhouwers et al., 2006). Another possibility is that increased endogenous nutrient losses and the thickness of the layer of unstirred water adjacent to the mucosa may be promoted by high digesta viscosity leading to decreased digestion and absorption of nutrients (Balasubramanian et al., 2018; Lange, 2000; Leenhouwers et al., 2007a).

The present study found a reduction in fecal pH in fish fed a diet containing 4800 TMU kg^{-1} β -mannanase. This reduction is attributed to the improved digestibility of NSPs, as increased nutrient availability, which drives microbiota fermentation and the production of SCFAs, decreasing intestinal pH (Bown et al., 1974; Kihara and Sakata, 1997). Previous research has shown that changes in fecal pH within an optimal range result in significant changes in gut microbiota composition, as a lower pH reduces the abundance of harmful bacteria (Hossain et al., 2019).

Our research demonstrated the beneficial effects of β -mannanase on energy and nutrient digestibility. Our results align with previous studies evaluating the effects of β -

mannanase in different fish species, which observed improvements in the digestibility of energy and nutrients (Caldas et al., 2018; Dawood and Shi, 2022; Leenhouwers et al., 2007a; Magalhães et al., 2016). These results might be attributed to the reduction in digesta viscosity, which enables the action of digestive enzymes with their respective substrates (Magalhães et al., 2016). These results may support a protein-sparing effect, leading to improved growth performance (Kim et al., 2017). Concerning crude lipid digestibility, β -mannans modify intestinal functions, impairing endogenous secretion of water and lipids (Angkanaporn et al., 1994). β -mannans can increase bile acid secretion and result in significant loss of bile acids in the feces (Ikegami et al., 1990) and may justify increased hepatic synthesis of bile acids from cholesterol to restore homeostasis, influencing the absorption of lipids and cholesterol in the intestine and causing a drop in blood cholesterol levels (Hossain et al., 2003). Additionally, β -mannans can trap bile salts, thus reducing their efficiency in fat solubilization and, consequently, impairing lipid absorption (Ebihara and Schneeman, 1989). Furthermore, the presence of β -mannans in fish diets is known to reduce the digestibility of protein and amino acids (Leenhouwers et al., 2006).

In the present study, the β -mannanase increased the ADC of ten essential AAs, such as arginine, histidine, isoleucine, leucine, lysine, methionine, phenylalanine, threonine, tryptophan, and valine. Additionally, it improved the ADC of six non-essential AAs, such as aspartic acid, cysteine, glutamic acid, glycine, serine, and tyrosine. There is no previous research evaluating the individual amino acid digestibility with dietary β -mannanase in Nile tilapia. Despite that, our results corroborate other studies with broiler, swine, and tilapia, showing that mixtures of carbohydrases or enzymatic complexes containing carbohydrases like xylanase and β -glucanases increased the ADC of amino acids (de Brito et al., 2021; Ferreira et al., 2016; Romero et al., 2013). The mechanism whereby β -mannanase improves the ADC of AAs has been attributed to the capacity to reduce fecal viscosity (Castillo and Gatlin, 2015; Maas et al., 2018; Sinha et al., 2011). Additionally, NSPs can increase the endogenous excretion of AA due to the high viscosity of feces, which stimulates the endogenous secretion of AA and increases mucin production (Angkanaporn et al., 1994). To date, mucin is produced in intestinal cells, is composed mainly of threonine, and compromises the digestibility of AA (Pirgozliev et al., 2010). Thus, the higher ADC of threonine in the present study suggests that the improved ADC of amino acids may be explained by a decrease in the fecal viscosity and reduction in mucin production, which allows a more significant contact between enzyme and substrate, facilitating protein and amino acids digestibility (de Brito et al., 2021; Ferreira et al., 2016). Indeed, dietary amino acids are one of aquafeeds' most costly ingredients. The exogenous dietary β-mannanase has been shown to increase the digestibility of crude protein and amino acids, so this research supports future diet formulations based on the ADC values of amino acids with the addition of β -mannanase at the levels recommended in the present study. Finally, increasing the digestibility of all essential amino acids is of great value since more amino acids are available to be absorbed and metabolized, reducing the impairment effects of amino acid deficiencies and reducing industrial amino acid additions. Additionally, reducing nitrogen excretion in the environment corroborates the activity's economic and environmental sustainability (Furuya et al., 2005; Schaafsma, 2005).

The present study supports previous findings of improved energy and protein digestibility with β -mannanase supplementation in various fish species (Romero et al., 2013; Ferreira et al., 2016; Jeon et al., 2019). Accurate estimation of digestible energy is critical to formulating less cost-effective diets, considering the effect of β -mannanase on the energy and protein content of the diet, especially when diets are deficient in energy relative to protein, which reduces growth rate. Further, considering the crucial correlation between digestible energy and protein in diets with β -mannanase is essential for the optimization of feed utilization

The results of the PC analysis in the present study indicated the impact of graded levels of β -mannanase in the diet on fecal viscosity and pH, ADCs of energy and nutrients, and digestible energy and protein in juvenile Nile tilapia. The findings showed a strong negative correlation between pH and viscosity with the ADC of dry matter, gross energy, crude protein, crude lipids, ash, essential and non-essential amino acids, and digestible energy and protein. This correlation supports the previous studies that evaluated the effects of β -mannanase in several species (Dawood et al., 2022). These findings underscore the importance of including β -mannanase, a carbohydrase, in the diet of juvenile Nile tilapia to reduce digesta and feces viscosity and improve the digestive process. However, it is crucial to determine the optimal level of β -mannanase addition since varying levels had differing effects on the fish in the present study.

Overall, this study evaluated the potential of supplementing tilapia aquafeeds with β mannanase in NSPs-rich diets. The results indicate that β -mannanase may mitigate the adverse effects of NSPs on nutrient digestibility in juvenile Nile tilapia. Additionally, this approach has the potential to reduce feeding costs and optimize tilapia farm operations through the use of sustainable alternative feedstuffs in industrial-scale production. The study provides novel evidence that exogenous supplementation of β -mannanase may be a practical strategy to improve the nutritive value of economic and environmental sustainability with plant sources in juvenile Nile tilapia feeds.

5. Conclusions

The inclusion of liquid β -mannanase at a concentration of 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ in the diet of juvenile Nile tilapia resulted in a reduction of fecal pH and viscosity. This reduction led to an optimization of energy and nutrient digestibility, including amino acids. Furthermore, the addition of 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ of β -mannanase to the diet improved the dietary contents of DE and DP. This study demonstrates that the inclusion of liquid β -mannanase at a concentration of

4800 TMU kg⁻¹ is a useful nutritional tool, effectively improving the nutritive values of plant-

based diets for precision feeding of Nile tilapia.

REFERENCES

- Angkanaporn, K., Choct, M., Bryden, W.L., Annison, E.F., Annison, G., 1994. Effects of wheat pentosans on endogenous amino acid losses in chickens. J. Sci. Food Agric. 66, 399–404. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.2740660319
- AOAC, 1990. Official Methods of Analysis, 15th ed. Association of Official Analytical Chemists, Washington, DC, USA.
- Balasubramanian, B., Ingale, S.L., Park, J.H., Rathi, P.C., Shanmugam, S., Kim, I.H., 2018. Inclusion of dietary β-mannanase improves performance and ileal digestibility and reduces ileal digesta viscosity of broilers fed corn-soybean meal based diet. Poult. Sci. 97, 3097–3101. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps/pey157
- Bown, R.L., Gibson, J.A., Sladen, G.E., Hicks, B., Dawson, A.M., 1974. Effects of lactulose and other laxatives on ileal and colonic pH as measured by a radiotelemetry device. Gut 15, 999–1004. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.15.12.999
- Caldas, J. V., Vignale, K., Boonsinchai, N., Wang, J., Putsakum, M., England, J.A., Coon, C.N., 2018. The effect of β-mannanase on nutrient utilization and blood parameters in chicks fed diets containing soybean meal and guar gum. Poult. Sci. 97, 2807–2817. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps/pey099
- Castillo, S., Gatlin, D.M., 2015. Dietary supplementation of exogenous carbohydrase enzymes in fish nutrition: A review. Aquaculture 435, 286–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2014.10.011
- Chen, W., Lin, S., Li, F., Mao, S., 2016. Effects of dietary mannanase on growth, metabolism and non-specific immunity of Tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Aquac. Res. 47, 2835–2843. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.12733
- Choct, M., Dersjant-Li, Y., McLeish, J., Peisker, M., 2010. Soy oligosaccharides and soluble non-starch polysaccharides: A review of digestion, nutritive and anti-nutritive effects in pigs and poultry. Asian-Australasian J. Anim. Sci. 23, 1386–1398. https://doi.org/10.5713/ajas.2010.90222
- Dawood, A., Shi, W., 2022. Effect of dietary β-mannanase supplementation on growth performance, digestibility, and gene expression levels of *Cyprinus carpio* (Linnaeus) fingerlings fed a plant protein-rich diet. Front. Vet. Sci. 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2022.956054
- Dawood, A., Zuberi, A., Shi, W., 2022. Plant-based β-mannanase supplemented diet modulates the gut microbiota and up-regulates the expression of immunity and digestionrelated genes in *Cyprinus carpio*. J. Appl. Anim. Res. 50, 21–30. https://doi.org/10.1080/09712119.2021.2018327
- de Brito, J.M., Wernick, B., da Cruz, T.P., Furuya, L.B., Miranda, J.A.G., Rudnik, A.R., Furuya, V.R.B., Furuya, W.M., 2021. Top-spraying xylanase and β-glucanase improves

digestible energy content and optimizes protein and amino acids digestibility in high-fiber diet fed to growing Nile tilapia. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 278, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2021.114991

- Ebihara, K., Schneeman, B.O., 1989. Interaction of bile acids, phospholipids, cholesterol and triglyceride with dietary fibers in the small intestine of rats. J. Nutr. 119, 1100–1106. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/119.8.1100
- Ferreira, H.C., Hannas, M.I., Albino, L.F.T., Rostagno, H.S., Neme, R., Faria, B.D., Xavier, M.L., Rennó, L.N., 2016. Effect of the addition of β-mannanase on the performance, metabolizable energy, amino acid digestibility coefficients, and immune functions of broilers fed different nutritional levels. Poult. Sci. 95, 1848–1857. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps/pew076
- Folch, J., Lees, M., Sloane Stanley, G.H., 1957. A simple method for the isolation and purification of total lipides from animal tissues. J. Biol. Chem. 226, 497–509. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0021-9258(18)64849-5
- Forster, I., 1999. A note on the method of calculating digestibility coefficients of nutrients provided by single ingredients to feeds of aquatic animals. Aquac. Nutr. 5, 143–145. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2095.1999.00082.x
- Furuya, W.M., Botaro, D., De Macedo, R.M.G., Dos Santos, V.G., Silva, L.C.R., De Castro Silva, T., Furuya, V.R.B., Sales, P.J.P., 2005. Aplicação do conceito de proteína ideal para redução dos níveis de proteína em dietas para tilápia-do-Nilo (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Rev. Bras. Zootec. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1516-35982005000500002
- Guimarães, I.G., Pezzato, L.E., Barros, M.M., 2008. Amino acid availability and protein digestibility. Aquac. Nutr. 14, 396–404. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2095.2007.00540.x
- Haidar, M., Petie, M., Heinsbroek, L.T.N., Verreth, J.A.J., Schrama, J.W., 2016. The effect of type of carbohydrate (starch vs. non starch polysaccharides) on nutrients digestibility, energy retention and maintenance requirements in Nile tilapia. Aquaculture 463. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2016.05.036
- Hossain, M.A., Focken, U., Becker, K., 2003. Antinutritive effects of galactomannan-rich endosperm of Sesbania (*Sesbania aculeata*) seeds on growth and feed utilization in tilapia, *Oreochromis niloticus*. Aquac. Res. 34, 1171–1179. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2109.2003.00924.x
- Hsiao, H.Y., Anderson, D.M., Dale, N.M., 2006. Levels of β-mannan in soybean meal. Poult. Sci. 85, 1430–1432. https://doi.org/10.1093/ps/85.8.1430
- Ikegami, S., Tsuchihashi, F., Harada, H., Tsuchihashi, N., Nishide, E., Innami, S., 1990. Effect of viscous indigestible polysaccharides on pancreatic-biliary secretion and digestive organs in rats. J. Nutr. 120, 353–360. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/120.4.353
- Jeon, S.M., Hosseindoust, A., Choi, Y.H., Kim, M.J., Kim, K.Y., Lee, J.H., Kil, D.Y., Kim, B.G., Chae, B.J., 2019. Comparative standardized ileal amino acid digestibility and metabolizable energy contents of main feed ingredients for growing pigs when adding dietary β-mannanase. Anim. Nutr. 5, 359–365. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aninu.2019.07.001

Kabir, K.A., Verdegem, M.C.J., Verreth, J.A.J., Phillips, M.J., Schrama, J.W., 2020. Dietary

non-starch polysaccharides influenced natural food web and fish production in semiintensive pond culture of Nile tilapia. Aquaculture 528, 735506. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735506

- Kiarie, E.G., Steelman, S., Martinez, M., Livingston, K., 2021. Significance of single βmannanase supplementation on performance and energy utilization in broiler chickens, laying hens, turkeys, sows, and nursery-finish pigs: A meta-analysis and systematic review. Transl. Anim. Sci. 5, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1093/tas/txab160
- Kihara, M., Sakata, T., 1997. Fermentation of dietary carbohydrates to short-chain fatty acids by gut microbes and its influence on intestinal morphology of a detritivorous teleost tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. - A Physiol. 118, 1201–1207. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0300-9629(97)00052-2
- Kim, H.J., Nam, S.O., Jeong, J.H., Fang, L.H., Yoo, H.B., Yoo, S.H., Hong, J.S., Son, S.W., Ha, S.H., Kim, Y.Y., 2017. Various levels of copra meal supplementation with β-Mannanase on growth performance, blood profile, nutrient digestibility, pork quality and economical analysis in growing-finishing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. Technol. 59, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40781-017-0144-6
- Lange, C.F.M. de, 2000. Characterisation of the non-starch polysaccharides., in: Moughan, P. J.; Verstegen, M. W. A.; Visser-Reyneveld, M.I. (Ed.), Feed Evaluation Principles and Practice. pp. 77–92.
- Latham, R.E., Williams, M.P., Walters, H.G., Carter, B., Lee, J.T., 2018. Efficacy of βmannanase on broiler growth performance and energy utilization in the presence of increasing dietary galactomannan. Poult. Sci. 97, 549–556. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps/pex309
- Leenhouwers, J.I., Adjei-Boateng, D., Verreth, J.A.J., Schrama, J.W., 2006. Digesta viscosity, nutrient digestibility and organ weights in African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) fed diets supplemented with different levels of a soluble non-starch polysaccharide. Aquac. Nutr. 12, 111–116. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2095.2006.00389.x
- Leenhouwers, J.I., Ortega, R.C., Verreth, J.A.J., Schrama, J.W., 2007a. Digesta characteristics in relation to nutrient digestibility and mineral absorption in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus* L.) fed cereal grains of increasing viscosity. Aquaculture 273, 556–565. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2007.10.044
- Leenhouwers, J.I., ter Veld, M., Verreth, J.A.J., Schrama, J.W., 2007b. Digesta characteristiscs and performance of African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) fed cereal grains that differ in viscosity. Aquaculture 264, 330–341. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2007.01.003
- Maas, R.M., Verdegem, M.C.J., Dersjant-Li, Y., Schrama, J.W., 2018. The effect of phytase, xylanase and their combination on growth performance and nutrient utilization in Nile tilapia. Aquaculture 487, 7–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2017.12.040
- Maas, R.M., Verdegem, M.C.J., Wiegertjes, G.F., Schrama, J.W., 2020. Carbohydrate utilisation by tilapia: a meta-analytical approach. Rev. Aquac. 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1111/raq.12413
- Magalhães, R., Lopes, T., Martins, N., Díaz-Rosales, P., Couto, A., Pousão-Ferreira, P., Oliva-Teles, A., Peres, H., 2016. Carbohydrases supplementation increased nutrient utilization in white seabream (*Diplodus sargus*) juveniles fed high soybean meal diets.

Aquaculture 463, 43–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2016.05.019

- Mok, C.H., Kong, C., Kim, B.G., 2015. Combination of phytase and β-mannanase supplementation on energy and nutrient digestibility in pig diets containing palm kernel expellers. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 205, 116–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2015.04.012
- NRC National Research Council, 2011. Nutrient requirements of fish and shrimp. ., Washington.
- Parks, D.H., Tyson, G.W., Hugenholtz, P., Beiko, R.G., 2014. STAMP: Statistical analysis of taxonomic and functional profiles. Bioinformatics 30, 3123–3124. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btu494
- Pirgozliev, V., Bedford, M.R., Acamovic, T., 2010. Effect of dietary xylanase on energy, amino acid and mineral metabolism, and egg production and quality in laying hens. Br. Poult. Sci. 51, 639–647. https://doi.org/10.1080/00071668.2010.514325
- Rayner, C., 1985. Protein hydrolysis of animal feeds for amino acid content. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry. v. 33, p. 722-725.
- Ridha, M.T., Hossain, M.A., Azad, I.S., Saburova, M., 2020. Effects of three carbohydrate sources on water quality, water consumption, bacterial count, growth and muscle quality of Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) in a biofloc system. Aquac. Res. 51, 4225–4237. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.14764
- Romero, L.F., Parsons, C.M., Utterback, P.L., Plumstead, P.W., Ravindran, V., 2013. Comparative effects of dietary carbohydrases without or with protease on the ileal digestibility of energy and amino acids and AMEn in young broilers. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 181, 35–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2013.02.001
- Schaafsma, G., 2005. The Protein Digestibility-Corrected Amino Acid Score (PDCAAS) A concept for describing protein quality in foods and food ingredients: A critical review. J. AOAC Int. 88, 988–994. https://doi.org/10.1093/jaoac/88.3.988
- Sinha, A.K., Kumar, V., Makkar, H.P.S., De Boeck, G., Becker, K., 2011. Non-starch polysaccharides and their role in fish nutrition A review. Food Chem. 127, 1409–1426. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2011.02.042
- Sternemalm, E., Höije, A., Gatenholm, P., 2008. Effect of arabinose substitution on the material properties of arabinoxylan films. Carbohydr. Res. 343, 753–757. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carres.2007.11.027
- Tacon, A.G.J., Metian, M., McNevin, A.A., 2022. Future Feeds: Suggested Guidelines for Sustainable Development. Rev. Fish. Sci. Aquac. 30, 271–279. https://doi.org/10.1080/23308249.2021.1898539
- Tu-Tran, L.C., Nguyen, T.C., Verreth, J.A.J., Schrama, J.W., 2020. Doses response of dietary viscosity on digestibility and faecal characteristics of striped catfish (*Pangasionodon hypophthalmus*). Aquac. Res. 51, 595–604. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.14406
- Valenti, W.C., Barros, H.P., Moraes-Valenti, P., Bueno, G.W., Cavalli, R.O., 2021. Aquaculture in Brazil: past, present and future. Aquac. Reports 19, 100611. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aqrep.2021.100611
- Yiğit, N.O., Koca, S.B., Didinen, B.I., Diler, I., 2014. Effect of β-mannanase and α-

galactosidase supplementation to soybean meal based diets on growth, feed efficiency and nutrient digestibility of rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (walbaum). Asian-Australasian J. Anim. Sci. 27, 700–705. https://doi.org/10.5713/ajas.2013.13616

CHAPTER IV

CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS

Recent research in aquaculture nutrition has focused on replacing fishmeal, a limited and expensive protein source, with plant-based alternatives to sustain the growing aquaculture sector and align with sustainability goals. To achieve this, using vegetable-based feed ingredients such as soybean meal is crucial in creating practical diets for Nile tilapia. However, mannans, a non-starch polysaccharide in soybean meal, can negatively impact fish growth and feed efficiency. It is therefore important to investigate methods to minimize the effects of mannans, such as adding exogenous enzymes, to create precise and sustainable diets that meet fish nutritional requirements. β-mannanase is an important exogenous enzyme in aquaculture and fish nutrition, breaking down β -mannan bonds to reduce digesta viscosity, increasing the accessibility of digestive enzymes to substrates, and elevating nutrient availability for absorption and metabolism. The present study demonstrates that β-mannanase at 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ diet enhanced performance parameters such as body weight gain, feed efficiency, protein, and energy retention efficiency in juvenile Nile tilapia, supported by increased apparent digestibility coefficients of energy and nutrients, including amino acids. The increase in nutrient availability also leads to improved intestinal morphology, resulting from changes in short-chain fatty acid production by beneficial bacteria in the gut microbiome. Microbiome analysis presents a novel approach to examining nutritional interventions' effects on Nile tilapia bacteria populations. It has the potential to enhance gut health, nutrient utilization, and growth performance in aquaculture. These results highlight the significance of considering the gut microbiome in creating sustainable and precise nutrition for tilapia farming.
APPENDICES



Appendix A. Illustration n of the experimental recirculation aquaculture system – RAS (A), fish utilized (B) and extruded diet (C) employed in the growth and digestibility assay.



Appendix B. Illustration of the feeding allowance (A) and feces collection management (B; C) management employed in the growth and digestibility assay.



Appendix C. Illustration of the digesta viscosity in fish fed the control diet without (A1) or with 4800 TMU kg⁻¹ β -mannanase (A2), centrifugation of feces to obtain the supernatant for determining the digesta viscosity (B, C), and the viscosity analysis performed using a Brookfield Digital Viscometer (D), in the growth and digestibility assay.



Appendix D. Illustrations showing the fish dissection (A), the collection of visceral fat and liver contents (B), and an overview of the sample collection process (C) of visceral fat and liver.



Appendix E. Illustrations showing the collection of digesta for short-chain fatty acids and microbiome analysis (A), the collection of a middle intestine portion for morphological analysis (B), and the preservation of samples for short-chain fatty acids and microbiome analysis by freezing in liquid nitrogen (C).